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Annual Memorabilia 2024
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Wanka Huanju, a subsidiary of the Group, was
awarded the High-growth Enterprise under the 3rd
"Phoenix Program" (/B 1§ &f £l) in Chaoyang
District by the Beijing Chaoyang District
Development and Reform Commission.

AEBZ FRAEGMBRRERIERTHABRERN
NEZETRBNE=—EFBE " BISFTE . S
RIEX -

The Group hosted the “Game Industry Salon under
2024 vivo Marketing Spotlight Program” (2024 &£
vivo EIERICET 8| Z BB TTETIS IV EE).

REEEYE 12024 F vivo EHPOCE B 2 BERETT
EEEE. -

The Group organized the “10th Anniversary
Celebration of the Mobile Hardcore Alliance and
the Blackstone Awards Ceremony” (2024 1&1#Z+&
FEEORRRHE).
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August 2024 ZE_NFE/\B
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The Group organized the “2024 Quick APP
Developer Conference” (2024 FRERMAEEK

).
BRE A FALFREESEHK REBAN 2024 EREENBEAE, -
—tt
2024 REAARERS
.................................................................................................. O trrrrranas
~ Sy "= ' The Group hosted the “2024 Intelligent Terminal
™ Batse Y- | Golden Seal Alliance Developer Salon” (2024 &
*‘7’\\ \ SIEMBRREDE).
e .'\\"l‘b“ S ..z.

REEEF 2024 FEIRHBERBEIE, -

The Group hosted the “Game Industry Salon
under Wanka x Apple Ads” (Wanka x Apple Ads
LBRITERSISIDEE).

Wanka X Apple Ads
BT W TR

2024.09.05 | I #

REEEE TWanka x Apple Ads 8T =51
BEL -

6 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2024



September 2024 _E_lﬂinﬁ

,' ')”\\v'\r' '
v}ﬁ’ﬁ Qii--.\:\

»;?;{f

Annual Memorabilia 2024
"B UFFEKRER

The Group hosted the “Game Industry Salon under
2024 OPPO Elite Meeting for Marketing Vertical
and Horizontal Plan” (2024 & OPPO & #H#itiZ5T
BB RE ZBERITESISIVEE).
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ZIERTRESZE, -

The Group organized the “2024 Openatom Open
Source Eco-Conference” (2024 FEI/R T BRER
xa).
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Huanju Times, a subsidiary of the Group, was
selected as one of the "Top 100 Private Cultural
Enterprises in Beijing" tREEHHEEEZER
38) and ranked 48th.
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October 2024 —E_MF+8

le

‘,jr """ 7 SN Huanju Times, a subsidiary of the Group, was
g ) certified as an "innovative" SME in Beijing (1632
QL > FRIZAEL | chihfE)
,t- III’ %,ll JIN AL N - N
ATy AL Rl : AEEZ FREERBERNESIERT TAIRE, &
~ : INEEERDEE -
REMRXER (ER) BRAF
. {70 241 2024 11) 2027.10 *
a 2
2
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December 2024 —E_F+—H
\?'9" “‘3{ Huanju Times, a subsidiary of the Group, was
. / ) certified as a "specialized, high-end and
R innovation-driven" SME in Beijing (A6 " E#54%
AN
ALTOAT A MAF R ANl Ay PAIER).
SR G A REEZFRASRBHNESILRT T ERBER .
KB A1 iR (tm) BRAF qjlj\ﬁ%_ﬁhﬂ?é N
ATV =412 2024.12 - 2027.12

The Group hosted the “HONOR Game Marketing
Salon” (5518 M B & HHDEE).

REEFEN TR BN H VB, -
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December 2024 —S_¥F+—8H

The Group was certified as "2025 Elite Service
Provider under the Petal Ads Initiative" (8738 E5E
2025 F iR ™) by Huawei.
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The Group was selected as one of the "Top 10
Innovative Listed Enterprises in 2024" (2024 F£E
MRS KEIFE2) by the 8th Boao Enterprise
Forum.
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The Group received the 2024 Effie Performance
Marketing Awards.

REEES 2024 FENFFUREHE -

The Group received the “Best TMT Company” (5
£ TMT /23)) in the 9th Zhitong Finance Listed
Company Selection.

AREEESENEEBEME LMASFTEY "&E
TMT A8, -



December 2024 —S_¥F+—8H

N

20
KR

Xkﬁﬁﬁlﬂhﬁﬁdtﬁ)ﬁﬂﬁ’&ﬁ
:’Biﬁﬁ!k&’f)ﬁ}&ﬁ

Annual Memorabilia 2024
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The Group hosted the “Game Industry Salon under
2024 MIMO JOIN x Wanka Huanju” (2024 MIMO
JOIN x ItIMEE 2 ¥ BT 8E) for Xiaomi
Business Marketing.

REBEFIYNKEFEZHE 2024 MIMO JOIN x I
MERER 2 BT B, -

Huanju Times, a subsidiary of the Group, received
the “2024 APP of Ml Award” (2024 £ E I KEE)
from Xiaomi.

TEBZFREIBRERNES/IORBEZR 2024
FEICKE, -

“EONEER BNSHERAE

11



Chairman’s Statement

FREHES

Dear Shareholders,

In retrospect of 2024, against the backdrop of an evolving global
economic landscape and unprecedented shifts in the technology
sector, Wanka Online Inc. demonstrated steadfast dedication amidst
challenges and opportunities. Through the exceptional efforts of our
team and the unwavering support of our partners, we achieved
remarkable milestones, delivering steady business growth and a
significant enhancement of our market influence. | am pleased to
present to the Shareholders our annual report for 2024.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In 2024, the Group's financial performance remained solid, with good
growth in all financial indicators. Revenue amounted to RMB2,627.3
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 25.2%; gross profit
amounted to RMB234.0 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 4.8%; adjusted EBITDA amounted to RMB68.0 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 3.7%; and adjusted net profit
amounted to RMB33.6 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 3.4%. In terms of assets, total assets amounted to RMB2,328.0
million, representing an increase of 18.0% year-on-year, while total
equity amounted to RMB1,411.8 million, representing an increase of
0.5% year-on-year.

In the coming year, we will continue to optimize financial structure,
strengthen financial management and enhance the efficiency of
capital utilization. We will secure adequate capital support for
operations and development through various financing channels. At
the same time, we will pay close attention to market dynamics and
industry trends, and rationalize our capital expenditures to ensure the
sustainable development of the Company.

12 wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the Group has maintained strong business momentum and
achieved significant milestones. We have further deepened
cooperation with globally leading smartphone manufacturers,
including Android smartphone manufacturers such as Xiaomi, OPPO,
vivo, and HONOR, consolidating our leadership in market segments.
Concurrently, we have made substantial breakthroughs in
collaborations with Huawei HarmonyOS and Apple iOS ecosystems,
injecting new growth drivers for the Company’s business.

The proliferation of smart devices and deeper integration of Quick
Apps with Al technologies have continuously expanded application
scenarios of Quick Apps. While maintaining advantages in traditional
Mobile Hardcore Alliance businesses, our Quick App-based mini-
game distribution business has demonstrated robust growth. Through
the collaboration with Huawei's "Petal Ads" initiative, we have
extended our service scope from performance advertising to brand
advertising, successfully expanding cooperation channels with
Huawei from browsers and app stores to the "1+8" multi-screen
ecosystem, thereby comprehensively deepening our strategic
partnership with Huawei. In addition, the global strategic cooperation
with Apple has not only enabled mobile distribution services under
the iOS ecosystem but also extended our geographical reach from
domestic China to overseas markets, achieving initial coverage in
Southeast Asia.

HONOR continued to appoint us as its exclusive partner for game
distribution service in 2024, reaffirming our core competitive
strengths. As the only company in China maintaining deep
collaborations with top-tier smartphone manufacturers including
Huawei, Xiaomi, OPPO, vivo, HONOR and Apple, we continued to
enhance our mobile game distribution capabilities. The emergence of
large language models such as Volcano Engine, Qwen, and
DeepSeek has enabled us to focus technical resources on Al
application R&D for vertical sectors. Leveraging on extensive
experience and a large amount of data accumulated in various
operating ecosystems and marketing channels, coupled with
continuous technological iterations, we have significantly improved
advertising effectiveness and created enhanced value for our clients
and partners. In 2024, our mobile advertising revenue amounted to
RMB2,563.7 million, representing an increase of 28.3% year-on-year,
which fully demonstrates our continuous breakthroughs in both
business and technological domains.
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Chairman’s Statement

FREHES

Throughout 2024, we have organized nearly 100 industry seminars
and exchanges in collaboration with members of MHA, the ecosystem
branch of Quick App and Intelligent Terminal Golden Seal Alliance.
These initiatives have further strengthened the industrial ecosystem,
reinforced our competitive advantages, and laid a solid foundation for
the Company's sustainable development.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to the new year, we will fully utilize the unique
strengths of our various distribution channels. While continuing to
deeply cultivate the Android ecosystem and provide quality services
to the top mobile phone manufacturers such as Xiaomi, OPPO, vivo
and HONOR, we will further enhance our global expansion efforts for
Apple's iOS ecosystem, fully seize the opportunities brought about by
the groundbreaking development of Huawei's HarmonyOS and
deepen our comprehensive cooperation with Huawei.

In terms of business types, we will fully seize the substantial potential
of Quick Apps in the fields of games, short dramas and novel reading,
and strive to realize growth on a large scale. Facing the rapid
development of artificial intelligence technology, we will continue to
pay attention to the latest development of the Al grand model,
enhance the application of Al technology in the areas of
advertisement distribution and precision marketing, and strengthen
technological innovation and service model upgrading, so as to
enhance our market competitiveness and further consolidate our
leading position in the industry.

In addition, we will continue to maintain close cooperation with
alliance members and partners, continuously hosting numerous
technical development conferences and industry discussion summits
to further enhance the role and influential power of the alliance in the
industry. We will work together to improve and strengthen the
community ecosystem to better meet the needs of ecosystem
participants, and to create more value for the healthy development of
the industry.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my sincere appreciation to
the management team and all employees. Because of your
dedication, proactive work attitude and spirit, the Company has been
able to maintain sustainable growth. We also greatly appreciate our
partners, Shareholders and other stakeholders for their trust and
support over the years. We will continue to focus on those areas
where we have keen insight and enhance our professional
capabilities in order to provide better services to the participants in
the mobile internet ecosystem and make greater contributions to the
construction and stable development of the industry ecosystem.

Mr. GAO Dinan
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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Financial Highlights
BAISRE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS

maiEmMER

Year ended 31 December

BET"A=+—HIEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“ECEF B CEC-HF CE-=F ZB-|mE
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
AR®TT AR%Tr ARETr AR%TR ARETR
Revenue 1= 1,726,746 2,098,198 2,300,875 2,098,220 2,627,271
Cost of sales HERAE (1,483,999)  (1,834,882)  (2,066,400)  (1,874,952) (2,393,233)
Gross profit EX 242,747 263,316 234,475 223,268 234,038
Other income and net gains or losses B ARFEE 18,123 17,138 42,718 17,153 8,496
Selling and distribution expenses HERNHHAZ (16,477) (15,001) (19,372) (25,751) (32,113)
Research and development costs I (73,543) (67,036) (86,192) (80,660) (92,939)
Reversal of impairment loss/(Impairment FEULER ZURIE BB B E /
loss) on accounts receivable (EERE) (13,942) (37,401) (35,950) (18,973) 1,528
Impairment loss on goodwill HERERHE - (448) (154,786) (2,361) (26,017)
Administrative expenses TR (40,401) (46,301) (52,793) (50,385) (51,163)
Other expenses and losses HiHEZ REE (1,166) (659) (5,328) (5,976) (9,857)
Share-based payment expenses MBS HERNTRES (20,224) (18,160) (22,192) (8,149) -
Finance costs BATE R AR (10,172) (7,549) (7,696) (10,009) (14,561)
Share of loss in an associate DME—EEEATEER (1,490) (3,826) (4,337) (3,545) (1,000)
Profit/(loss) before tax FRERRUER / (K518 ) 83,455 84,073 (111,453) 34,612 16,412
Income tax expense FiSimx (16,642) (21,776) (17,105) (12,616) (8,820)
Profit/(loss) for the year FERERN/ (BE) 66,813 62,297 (128,558) 21,996 7,592
Non-HKFRS Measures FEBHBFREGELGE
(unaudited) ( FACEE )
Adjusted EBITDA” 3% £BITDA" 128,723 121,838 87,132 65,626 68,043
Adjusted net profit” Vb E e 87,037 80,905 48420 32,506 33,609
(1) Adjusted EBITDA eliminates the effect of depreciation, amortisation, (1) #838% EBITDA IKEHITE - 8 - B

finance costs, income tax, share-based payment expenses and
impairment loss on goodwill.

(2) Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of share-based payment
expenses and impairment loss on goodwill.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (SELECTED ITEMS)

As at 31 December

Financial Highlights

M E

FEMEINRR (HEIEE)

BR+=B=1+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“ECFE “ECF TE”FE TE=ZF IINE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEEFT AB#T T ABETrT ARETRT ARETFT
Assets BE

Non-current assets FREEE 241,869 272,485 125,474 178,181 102,189
Current assets REEE 1,329,751 1,572,878 1,785,626 1,795,549 2,225,849
Total assets mEE 1,571,620 1,845,363 1,911,100 1,973,730 2,328,038

Equity and liabilities BEREE
Total equity BB 1,156,798 1,390,913 1,372,824 1,404,976 1,411,795
Non-current liabilities FEREEE 3,440 19,822 7,255 4,861 3,358
Current liabilities MENBE 411,382 434,628 531,021 563,893 912,885
Total liabilities mafE 414,822 454,450 538,276 568,754 916,243
Total equity and liabilities #B#EZFKAE 1,571,620 1,845,363 1,911,100 1,973,730 2,328,038

“ETNER BNSHERAR



Management Discussion And Analysis

EEER Rk I

REVENUES

Our revenues from mobile advertising services increased by 28.3%
from RMB1,997.8 million in 2023 to RMB2,563.7 million in 2024,
mainly due to our continuously engaging in partnerships with top-tier
smartphone manufacturers such as Huawei, Xiaomi, OPPO, vivo,
Honor and Apple.

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the periods
indicated.

e

EMRERESRENKEE_S_=
HWARE 1,997.8 BETIEN28.3% 2 _F
MEMAREE2563.7887T - TEREEAR
CE T NERMEEIKIERNEEFHEED
(WEE - /NK ~ OPPO - vivo ~ 1R KN ¥a
R) REEEBHEBE -

NRESIRFREERI LR -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"B=1+—HLFE

2024 2023
- o 11 3 - =

% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
el feralvesy
AR¥Fr MEstE AR®ETT MBSt

Revenues =
Mobile advertising BEES 2,563,730 97.6% 1,997,751 95.2%
Online-video distribution iﬂ,‘m’«% Emn 20,108 0.8% 56,583 2.7%
Game co-publishing Hi i 6,529 0.2% 4,314 0.2%
Others+ Eﬂt* 36,904 1.4% 39,572 1.9%
Total #agt 2,627,271 100% 2,098,220 100%

* Includes revenue from software maintenance services
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Mobile Advertising Services

We generated revenues by distributing advertisements of marketers’
mobile apps and mobile games in the distribution channels of our
Mobile Hardcore Alliance (the “MHA”) members which consist of
eight Android smartphone manufacturers in China, non-MHA
smartphone manufacturers and non-smartphone manufacturer
distribution channel suppliers. We also offered a variety of advertising
formats across our distribution channels, including app store search
ads, in- feed ads, banner ads, interstitial ads and splash screen ads,
to suit our customers’ specific needs. The following table sets forth a

ERE Rk I

BEIE SR
HPZEREEaME ( TEREEA, ) X8
(B4 8 RPEL=EREFHEER ) - F
EET?H*ﬁEE*“‘éE?%E UER RIFBREFHEIE
BN REBERBANSBREBP D RITES
)5E’JﬁaiﬁF‘Fﬁk‘t&%%ﬂ@%ﬁiui—iuﬁ
cHATRDBREEPRHSBRSHEA
( BHREERAEABERSES BMRAE
*aﬂlea)ﬁi mEAESRARES ) MU
MEPHBERK - NRESIRAAR

breakdown of our advertising revenues by source for the periods HﬂFﬁﬁ-{Fﬁ}g;}:ﬁiu YHWBES IR -
indicated:
Year ended 31 December
g#E+"B=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—ECIE S
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
Ll e ErElEa
ARETr :5[=pagd AR#FT N Epaynd
Mobile game distribution BENERL D 5 2,478,110 96.7% 1,976,573 98.9%
Mobile app distribution BEEREFRD R 85,620 3.3% 21,178 1.1%
Total HEt 2,563,730 100% 1,997,751 100%

Our mobile advertising revenue generated from distribution of mobile
games increased from RMB1,976.6 million in 2023 to RMB2,478.1
million in 2024. The increase was primarily due to the expansion in
the number of mobile games we marketed and mobile game
distribution channels from smartphone manufacturers. Our mobile
advertising revenue from mobile app distribution increased from
RMB21.2 million in 2023 to RMB85.6 million in 2024, which was
primarily due to the increase in the number of mobile apps we
marketed.

EMREBBESESEMNBHESHERT
ETFMAR1,976.6 BBETTIEME_E
" MEMARB2,478.1B87T c BINEE
mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmgﬁiﬁﬁéﬁg%iﬁﬁ
EENBEER S SEEEAME - &ﬁx
BEREEAEA S RNBHESWEAR_
__EMAEMZngﬁﬁEMI_g_@
FWARY 85.6 BETL - TEEHREKME
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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Online-video Distribution Services

Leveraging on our success and experiences in providing advertising
services, we have expanded into additional business verticals and
begun establishing our online-video distribution network to unleash
new monetisation opportunities since 2018.

We generated revenue of RMB20.1 million for this business line in
2024, representing a decrease of RMB36.5 million, or 64.5% from
2023, which is primarily due to the decrease in the number of videos
distributed in the year of 2024.

Game Co-publishing Services

We offer one-stop game co-publishing services to game developers,
which include game optimisation, marketing, promotion, distribution,
monetisation and other user-related services. Leveraging on our
extensive experiences in game co-publishing, amassed data volume
and technical know-how, we actively identified and sourced new game
content as well as optimised existing game content based on our in-
depth understanding of user profiles, preferences, tastes, and playing
habits. Moreover, based on our close relationship with various
smartphone-based distribution channels, we allocated game
marketing and promotion resources more efficiently and effectively,
with insights into the effect of timing of offer and type of virtual items
based on user behavior and in-game spending.

Our revenues from game co-publishing services increased by 51.3%
from RMB4.3 million in 2023 to RMB6.5 million in 2024, which was
primarily due to the increase in the number of games we co-published
during the year of 2024.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of distribution fees incurred for
advertisement placements onto the distribution channels, labor costs
and amortisation expenses.

Our cost of sales increased by 27.6% from RMB1,875.0 million in
2023 to RMB2,393.2 million in 2024. This increase was primarily
driven by the increase in distribution fees to our distribution channels,
which was in line with the increase in our revenues during 2024.

GROSS PROFIT AND MARGINS

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit increased by 4.8% from
RMB223.3 million in 2023 to RMB234.0 million in 2024. The increase
in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in the transaction
volume on our platform across all segments during 2024.

The decrease in gross profit margin from 10.6% in 2023 to 8.9% in
2024, which was primarily due to the increase in traffic acquisition
costs.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains decreased from RMB17.2 million in 2023 to
RMB8.5 million in 2024, primarily due to the decrease in additional
deduction of input value-added tax arising from preferential tax
treatment we recognised in 2024.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of sales
employee salaries and related benefit expenses, traveling costs,
conference costs and marketing expenses. Our selling and
distribution expenses increased by 24.7% from RMB25.8 million in
2023 to RMB32.1 million in 2024, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in marketing and advertising expenses.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs primarily consisted of fees paid to
third party consulting service providers and employee salaries and
related benefit expenses. Our research and development expenses
increased by 15.2% from RMB80.7 million in 2023 to RMB92.9 million
in 2024, primarily due to the increase in research expenses of our
systems.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE

Approximately RMB1.5 million of impairment loss is reversed in 2024,
primarily as a result of the general and specific provision for credit loss
are considered according to the historical information from our
accounts receivable.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL

The goodwill was related to our acquisition of the equity interest in
Shanghai ChiLe in 2018. Considering the unforeseen business
environment of our online-video distribution services segment in the
near future, we made an additional impairment provision of goodwill
directly related to Shanghai ChiLe of approximately RMB26.0 million
in 2024, as compared to RMB2.4 million in 2023.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses remained stable at RMB51.2 million in
2024, as compared to RMB50.4 million in 2023.

OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Other expenses and losses increased from RMB6.0 million in 2023 to
RMB9.9 million in 2024, primarily due to the foreign exchange losses
occurred in 2024.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSES

Our share-based payment expense decreased from RMB8.1 million
in 2023 to nil in 2024, because the RSU(s) granted to certain grantees
were completely vested since the year of 2023.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

FINANCE COSTS

Our finance costs increased from RMB10.0 million in 2023 to
RMB14.6 million in 2024, primarily due to the increase of our bank
borrowings during the year.

SHARE OF LOSS IN AN ASSOCIATE

We recorded share of loss in an associate of approximately RMB1.0
million in 2024, which mainly represented our share of loss from an
equity investment in Wanxin Chelian Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd., (“Wanxin Chelian”), an associated company of our Group.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense decreased from RMB12.6 million in 2023 to
RMB8.8 million in 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to
the decrease in taxable profit of our subsidiaries in PRC.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the reasons discussed above, profit for the year was
RMB7.6 million in 2024, as compared to profit for the year of
RMB22.0 million in 2023.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with the HKFRSs, we also use adjusted
EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial measures,
which are unaudited and not required by, or presented in accordance
with, HKFRSs. We present these financial measures because they
are used by our management to evaluate our financial performance
by eliminating the impact of items that we do not consider indicative
of our business performance. We also believe that these non-HKFRS
measures provide additional information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of operations
in the same manner as they help our management compare our
financial results across accounting periods and with those of our peer
companies.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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We define adjusted EBITDA as profit/loss for the year without
considering depreciation, amortisation, finance cost, income tax,
impairment loss on goodwill and share-based payment expenses
(“Adjusted EBITDA”). We define adjusted net profit as profit/loss for
the year without considering share-based payment expenses and
impairment loss on goodwill (“Adjusted Net Profit”). The terms
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not defined under the
HKFRSs. The use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit has
material limitations as an analytical tool, as they do not include all
items that impact our profit or loss for the relevant years. The effect of
items eliminated from Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit is a
significant component in understanding and assessing our operating
and financial performance.

In light of the foregoing limitations for Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit, when assessing our operating and financial performance,
you should not view Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit in
isolation or as a substitute for our profit/loss for the year or any other
operating performance measure that is calculated in accordance with
HKFRSs. In addition, because these non-HKFRS measures may not
be calculated in the same manner by all companies, they may not be
comparable to other similarly titted measures used by other
companies.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

The following tables reconcile our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net
Profit for the periods presented to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not required
by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs.
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PMREBZIHNETE EBITDA REHEF
BNRESREBEEEMHRELAFTENE
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Year ended 31 December

#E+"A=1+—HLEFE

2024 2023

- o 112 3 —FT=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETr AR#FT

Profit for the year FREF 7,592 21,996
Add: e

Depreciation e 9,686 7,942

Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEY 1,367 2,553

Finance costs MR 14,561 10,009

Income tax expense FriSfEsz 8,820 12,616

Share-based payment expenses PR AERNN SRS - 8,149

Impairment loss on goodwill A2 EREE 26,017 2,361

Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) #REAE EBITDA ( REEZ ) 68,043 65,626

2024 2023

- S 111 - 5 B =HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETr AR#FT

Profit for the year FWEF 7,592 21,996
Add: e

Share-based payment expenses MR AERNN SRS - 8,149

Impairment loss on goodwill B2 EEE 26,017 2,361

Adjusted Net Profit (unaudited) IREFIET ( REER) 33,609 32,506
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM
OUR CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

BHGSHZERRROEGRE

As at 31 December

B+=B=1+—H

2024 2023

- o 11112 3 “EC=HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®Fr ABH#EFTT

Cash and bank balances RE RIRITEEER 602,813 534,899

Bank borrowings RITER 567,670 303,500

Current assets MENEE 2,225,849 1,795,549

Current liabilities mEIaE 912,885 563,893

Net current assets MENEEFR 1,312,964 1,231,656

Total equity REMREE 1,411,795 1,404,976
Cash and Bank Balances IRERINTER

As at 31 December 2024, we had cash and bank balances of
RMB602.8 million, as compared with RMB534.9 million as at 31
December 2023. The increase in cash and bank balances was mainly
due to the Group’s financing activities through bank borrowings. Our
cash and bank balances were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollars and US dollars.

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 increased to
RMB567.7 million as compared with RMB303.5 million as at 31
December 2023. The increase in bank borrowings was primarily due
to the increase in external loans used for our business expansion. For
more details, please refer to Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Net Current Assets

Our net current assets were RMB1,313.0 million as at 31 December
2024, as compared to RMB1,231.7 million as at 31 December 2023.
Our current assets were RMB2,225.8 million as at 31 December
2024, as compared to RMB1,795.5 million as at 31 December 2023,
primarily due to the increase in accounts receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables. Our prepayments,
deposits and other receivables were RMB785.1 million as at 31
December 2024, as compared to RMB579.9 million as at 31
December 2023, which was mainly attributable to the increase in
purchase of prepaid data traffic for the Group’s business
development needs. Our current liabilities were RMB912.9 million as
at 31 December 2024, as compared to RMB563.9 million as at 31
December 2023, primarily due to the increase in interest-bearing
bank borrowings and other payables and accruals.

Total Equity

As at 31 December 2024, our total equity was RMB1,411.8 million,
as compared to RMB1,405.0 million as at 31 December 2023, mainly
due to the net profit achieved during 2024.
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

EEMILLE

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2024 2023
Current ratio (times)” TELLR (128) " 2.4 32
Gearing ratio (%) BEBBLER%)” 39.4 28.8
Year ended 31 December
#EZE+"BA=1+—BLFE
2024 2023
Adjusted net profit margin” FCEREEeE s b o 1.3% 1.5%
Notes: Mt .

(1)  Current ratio was calculated based on our total current assets divided
by our total current liabilities at the end of each financial period.

(2)  Gearing ratio was calculated based on our total liabilities divided by our
total assets at the end of each financial period.

(3) Adjusted net profit margin was calculated based on our adjusted net
profit for the relevant period divided by our total revenues for the same

period.

Current Ratio

Our current ratio decreased from 3.2 as at 31 December 2023 to 2.4
as at 31 December 2024, primarily due to the increase in current
liabilities resulting from the increase in
borrowings and other payables and accruals.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio increased from 28.8% as at 31 December 2023 to
39.4% as at 31 December 2024, mainly due to the increase in total

liabilities.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Adjusted Net Profit Margin

Our adjusted net profit margin decreased from 1.5% in 2023 to 1.3%
in 2024, primarily due to the decrease in gross profit margin.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS

Our capital expenditures mainly consist of additions to property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets. Our capital expenditures
amounted to RMB2,855,000 and RMB430,000 in 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

We expect to fund our working capital and other capital requirements
from a combination of various sources, including but not limited to
internal resources and external financing at reasonable market rates.
We seek to improve the return of the equity and assets while adhering
to our prudent funding and treasury policies.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars and the Hong
Kong dollars. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognised assets and liabilities in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
when receiving or to receive foreign currencies from, or paying or to
pay foreign currencies to, overseas business partners. We did not
implement any hedging measures against any fluctuation in foreign
currency during the year ended 31 December 2024.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group had no significant investments for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

Certain deposits placed with banks were used as pledged assets for
the Group’s bank borrowings. For more details, please refer to Note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2023: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).
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Directors and Senior Management

OUR DIRECTORS

The biography of each Director is set out below.

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (B35 58), aged 46, is our founder, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and served as our chief
executive officer from March 2014 to December 2022, being
responsible for overall management of the business, strategy and
corporate development of our Group. Mr. Gao has 20 years of
experience in the technology industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Gao served as a business director
of mobile business department of Baidu Online Network Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B EEHMALE M (ILR)BR/AE]) from June 2008
to March 2014, a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (HE/Aa]), which is a
company listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: BIDU), specialising in
Internet-related services and products and artificial intelligence.

Mr. Gao obtained a master degree in business administration from
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1b:REEAE)
in July 2008.

Mr. NIE Xin (#%), aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director
on 27 August 2020. He joined the Group in March 2019 as the senior
vice president and was responsible for the operating management.
He has over 15 years of experience in operations and management.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Nie served as an operation manager
at Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from
September 2009 to September 2012. From November 2013 to March
2019, he served as the general manager of strategic investment
department of Suzhou Meishengyuan Information Technology Co.,

Ltd. (BRMNELETERRHRABRAT).

Mr. Nie graduated from the Central Radio and Television University
(PREFEEHRAE) in May 2006 with a college degree.

ERNENRERE

54 : DEE S
ZESWEEDT -

WTES

BRBKE 46 7 - REPA - ATESK
EFEIF TE_FT-NF-RE2"_F
_THF+_REGERVITE  AELEHE
7 BBEREERRNWERERE - 8%E
REHRITHERER 20 FE8 -

§U¥b¥zﬁfﬁ\l2m BRERZEENEARA
" E-NF=RESAERTIMBLATAR
E{-E AR (R ) BRASBE XS
NEBRE MAEQTIZMIERLHA
g (ROASE : BIDU) - BEFIREEEKA
BRENBRHEMERUARATER

BRERZEZE)\FLRIGIERIBEARES
ITEHERELTEM -

mERE S HE RIZIRF)N\BTHE

HEZEAWTES - H_F-NF=RMN
AFREEREISRIEH BELXEES
HER  RREXEZEEREESTHAERESR
15 FALER -

MAREER - BEER_BFNFNRE

_E-_FNARETEEESPERIM (1
R) BRATEELKE - BHR_TF—=F+

—REZE-NF=REAHENEZLETER
R BRA S BRR IR B AR AR AEIE

BRER_EERNFORANBPRERER
REBERBM -

“EONEER BNSHERAE

31



Directors and Senior Management

ERERENEIEE

Ms. JIANG Yu (#&=), aged 41, joined the Group in January 2019 as
a senior vice president and is primarily responsible for the corporate
and business development of the Group. She was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of our Company on
20 July 2022 and 16 December 2022, respectively. She has over 17
years of experience in the technology industry.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Jiang served as a business
development manager at Beijing Airlnbox Information Technologies
Co., Ltd. (ERZEPFEEEFEERMAEIRAE]) from July 2007 to March
2010, a consolidated affiliated entity of KongZhong Corporation (2=
#9), a company previously listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: KZ) and
privatised in April 2017. From March 2010 to April 2015, she served
as the director of mobile business department of Shenzhen Aisidi Co.,
Ltd. CRYITHEHER D BRZAE), a company listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002416). From April 2015 to December
2018, she served as a vice president of an internet startup company.

Ms. Jiang obtained a bachelor's degree in electronics and
communication from Hunan University (G#1# A &) and an MBA degree
from Peking University (16ZR A E8) in July 2006 and July 2017,
respectively.

Mr. YU Dingyi (F71 —), aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 July 2023. He joined the Group in October 2022 as a
vice president of finance and was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group on 16 December 2022. He has over 24 years of
experience in financial management. Prior to joining the Group, he
served various positions in PetroChina Company Limited (F Bl AKX
RERMABEMRAT), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601857) and the Stock Exchange (stock code:
857), from July 2000 to July 2014, with his last position as the director
of finance department of PetroChina Trading Company Limited (£l
AHXARROBIRASHEHEDAE). He served as the financial
controller and a director of APUS Network Technology Co., Ltd. (5
BEAEIEMRNDBRAT), from September 2014 to October 2022
and from July 2019 to October 2022, respectively.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from China
University of Petroleum (57 B4 AKX E2) in July 2000. He also obtained
a master’s degree in finance from The Central University of Finance
and Economics (FREFEEAES) in September 2006. He is a member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since April
2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (FRZEl), aged 60, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. He has been the deputy secretary
general of China Software Industry Association (FEl# 4177 E)
since February 2017. From July 2007 to February 2017, he was the
deputy director of Institute of International Technology and
Economics (PR % 1if & #fF 9T F) at State Council Development
Research Center (B#5Pt 3 RAFFEHR0).

Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree in material management from
Northern Jiaotong University (15752 # A E3) in July 1986, and a
master degree in metal material and heat treatment from Yanshan
University (GEtLLAE2) in June 1991. He also obtained a degree of
Ph.D. in economics and management from Northern Jiaotong
University in May 2003.

Mr. JIN Yongsheng (&K &), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 September 2021. He has
successively served as a professor and head of the Department of
Business Administration and Public Administration, dean and
doctoral supervisor of the School of Economics and Management,
chairman of the Professor Committee and a member of the Academic
Committee of Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t
REE KE) since July 2004. He principally focused on teaching and
researching in the fields of digital economy, mobile internet industry
organisation and strategic management, including, among others,
digital consumer behavior, big data business model, value creation
and value transfer of mobile internet industry. He has published more
than 100 articles in top-tier journals such as Economic Perspectives
(B&EEAB) E), Chinese Journal of Management Science (PRS2}
E2) and the theory page of People’s Daily (AR H#R). From May 1996
to June 2004, he served as a professor, master supervisor and
deputy dean of the College of Economics and Management of Beijing
University of Technology (JbZR T2 AKE28). From July 1988 to April
1996, he successively served as lecturer, director of the Business
Economics Teaching and Research Office, the Economics Research
Institute and the Scientific Research Office and associate professor
of the Department of Business Economics of Lanzhou University of
Finance and Economics (B3 NE1 & K&,

Mr. Jin graduated from Lanzhou University of Finance and
Economics (B /N R 4&8 K E) with a bachelor's degree in business
economics in 1985. He obtained a master's degree in trade
economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (FF@ /1
#KPEKE) and a doctor's degree in industrial economics from
Renmin University of China (F B AR KXZ) in 1988 and 2002,
respectively.
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Directors and Senior Management

ERERENEIEE

Mr. YU Limin (RFIE), aged 46, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 July 2022. He has over 22 years of
experience in financial management and investment. He served as a
project manager of audit department at Beijing Tin Wah Certified
Public Accountants (JEZRAZEGETEISFFT) from July 2001 to May
2004. From June 2004 to March 2005, he served as an investment
manager of Tianhua International Investment Services Co., Ltd. (K2
B PRI B RRFEAR/AE])). From April 2005 to August 2009, he served
as a senior investment manager of Beijing Zodi Investment Co., Ltd.
(bRPBEIERDBR/AE]), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 000609). From August 2010 to March
2015, he served as the head of investment and development
department of Tianjin New Financial Investments Co., Ltd. (KZE#H <+
RIREAREZEAT). From April 2015 to December 2017, he served
as the assistant president and director of corporate finance
department at Luyu Ecosystem Engineering Co., Ltd. (B&E4RE T 72
HBBR/AE]). Since December 2018, he has served as a senior project
manager of audit department at Zhongxingcai Guanghua Certified
Public Accountants LLP (P EE Y EZ RIS IFI(BH S ESE)).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in trade economics from Tianjin
University of Commerce (XK3EB*KXE) in June 2001. He was
accredited as a certified public accountant by the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (FPEIFEfA&ETEMHE) in October 2020.
He was also awarded with finance professional qualification of
intermediate economist by the Office of Professional Title in Tianjin (X
R TEPAZE) in April 2013.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Dinan (&% 5), aged 46, is our founder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board. For further details, please see the
paragraph headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors
— Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. NIE Xin (5&2%), aged 45, is an executive Director and the senior
vice president. For further details, please see the paragraph headed
“Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive
Directors” in this section.
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Directors and Senior Management

Ms. JIANG Yu (#3), aged 41, is an executive Director, the chief
executive officer and the senior vice president. For further detalils,
please see the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior Management
— Our Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. YU Dingyi (7T —), aged 46, is an executive Director and the
chief financial officer. For further details, please see the paragraph
headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors —
Executive Directors” in this section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LUI Mei Ka (E3%3) has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 15 November 2024.

Ms. Lui, graduating from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with
a degree in bachelor of business administration, is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Lui currently
serves as the managing director of Merit Corporate Services
Company Limited. Ms. Lui has been an independent non-executive
director of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (stock code: 674),
GoFintech Quantum Innovation Limited (stock code: 290) and China
Tontine Wines Group Limited (stock code: 389), which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 21 April 2017, 19
September 2023 and 30 September 2024, respectively.

Ms. Lui has over 17 years of experience in financial management and
corporate finance. From October 2016 to July 2018, she was the chief
financial officer and company secretary of GR Life Style Company
Limited (formerly known as GR Properties Limited) (stock code: 108),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, which is
engaged in property development and investment. From March 2014
to May 2016, she was the company secretary and financial controller
of LT Commercial Real Estate Limited, a company previously listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange under the stock code 112,
which was engaged in property development and investment.
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Report of the Directors
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a technology company in the mobile Internet market,
helping connect businesses from various industries to hundreds of
millions of smartphone users in China. It primarily provides integrated
services such as mobile advertising, content distribution, and game
co-publishing services to smartphone manufacturers, advertisers, and
content developers. The activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 99 of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may recommend the payments of dividend in respect of
the Shares of the Company. In considering the declaration and
payment of dividends, the Company takes various factors into
account, including but not limited to the Company’s financial
performance, the business conditions and strategies, the capital
requirements, the statutory and regulatory restrictions and any other
factors which the Company may consider relevant. The declaration
and payment of future dividends will depend upon, among other
things, financial condition, future earnings, cash flow, liquidity level,
business prospects and other relevant factors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for the
Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 12 to 15 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 18 to 30 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company attaches great importance to environmental protection
and resource conservation, and continuously pays attention to the
impact of its business operations on the environment. The Group is
committed to maintaining the common development of economy,
environment and society, and promoting awareness on
environmental protection and resource conservation in its daily
operations. The Group strictly follows the relevant environment
protection laws and regulations of the PRC and adopts various
energy-savings and water-saving management measures, including
management over air-conditioning settings in office areas and
enhancing management and maintenance of water equipment,
thereby improving efficiency and minimizing resource consumption.
During the Reporting Period, the Company did not find any
environmental-related violations.

For details of the Company’s environmental policies and performance,
and the important relationship between the Company and its
employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024 published on the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’'s own
website (www.wankaonline.com) in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks in its business operations,
primarily including: (i) failure to improve and enhance the functionality,
performance, reliability, design, security, and scalability of its
products and services to suit its clients’ evolving needs, (i) failure to
develop and maintain successful relationships with its local channel
partners, and (i) systems disruptions, distributed denial of service
attacks, or other hacking and phishing attacks on its systems and
security breaches.

Report of the Directors

EFREHRE

RGBSR RIR
KRB EERRERERERMLY - L
BRTHEBSEHRENTE - AEER

NREFEE  REVNCINHERE &
HEEEDRERREFREMEROLNE
# o AEBERBETPEMEERFRERE
R RIS TEEREME KN ERER - 84
HMABRIERRENEE - RAKRE
WEBMNEES  KMESVELHERH
REEEME - RESHA - XATKREERE
MIREHRERERS N -

BEARAEREBERARTRREURAR AT EE
BE EFPRHEBNEZHERNFE  F
SERE LR B B AL
(www.hkexnews.hk) & &K A 8 B & 48 Ih
(www.wankaonline.com) HIEHEHE _F
ME+"_A=1t—HLFEEARTNIEREIER -
HEREARS -

FEERERAEENS
AEEGEEHEBZEEPHGNEIZRRE
& ()VREBEIEEEPAENEENFTERIER
T%%EEWEHE%“E’JID“C'@ e - IJ5

M RE EMROBRY ; ()VEERI
BE MRS "1’5%1#’%’*?&2&?1%%1% R (iii)
R - TR E RS DB EE R

By HMBEERNERENREZRRE -

“EONEER BNSHERAE

37


http://www.hkexnews.hk/
http://www.wankaonline.com/

Report of the Directors

EE i

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 21 December 2018 by way of global offering (the
“IPO”), raising total net proceeds of approximately HK$194.7 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB171.2 million) after deducting
professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related listing

expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the
IPO had been utilised in accordance with the intended use as
disclosed in the Prospectus. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
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utilised the proceeds as set out in the table below: A=1t—H  ZX&EBECEANRFAENME
;A
Expected
timeline for
Utilization up to the use of
Net proceeds 31 December 2024 Utilization during unutilised
from the IPO and 2023 the Reporting Period ~ Unutilised proceeds proceeds
BECSME HAREIR
WR=%Z= FRSFNEZ
BRAREE +=R=t+-A i FRHAfEFR
FRGENERE BERRE CHRNE BN EE (7
HK$ RMB HK$  RMB HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
‘million million ‘milion  million “million million ‘milion  million
NEE NG NGB NGB
GE%n FBEn  BEEn EBEn GEEn  GEn BEEn  FEn
Strengthening research and Ikt E 58.4 514 584 514 - - - - -
development capabilities
Promoting the development RARERERN 584 514 584 514 - - - - -
standard of Quick Apps HRiEE
Expanding service offerings and  EAREHER 292 57 292 257 - - - - -
strengthening ecosystem MEEELR
Expanding monetization channels EEEBEEER 292 57 292 257 - - - - -
and strengthening sales and ERHERSHE
marketing capabilities
Working capital and EEERR-MEERE 95 170 195 170 - - - - -
general corporate uses
Total a5t 1947 1712 1947 1712 - - - -
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To strengthen the financial position of the Group and provide working
capital to the Group, the Company completed the placing of
135,000,000 new Shares at the placing price of HK$1.45 per Share
in March 2021 (the “Placing”), and received the net proceeds from the
Placing of approximately HK$189.0 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB157.8 million) after deducting the expenses
incurred in connection with the Placing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the net proceeds from the
Placing had been utilised in accordance with the intended use as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 21 February
2021. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had utilised the proceeds
as set out in the table below:
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Expected

timeline for

Utilization up to the use of

Net proceeds from 31 December 2024  Utilization during unutilised

the Placing and 2023 the Reporting Period  Unutilised proceeds proceeds

HEZZ-ME HAHE

MR=3_-= FRSFNIEZ

RE +ZR=+-H = TRHRfER

FHEENER EHRENE EHRENE HAERFTEHE [
HK$  RMB HK$  RMB HK$  RMB HK$  RMB
"milion million  “million  million "million million "million million
NG N NG NEH
GEEn BEn BEEn GEn  BEEn GEn  BEET  GEn

Further develop the Group’s E-SERIEE 1134 947 1134 947 - - - - -

existing business lines REEH
Enhance the Group’s digital MEAEENEFER 57 4713 567 473 - - - - -
infrastructure and for research  3ifi - MEMEMER
and development of new Bi#ARE
internet and technological
solutions
General working capital use —REgEeAE 189 158 189 158 - - - - -
Total @t 1890 1578 1890  157.8 - - - -
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s five largest
customers, which primarily include marketers seeking the Group’s
services, contributed to a total of 34.3% of the Group’s total revenue
and the Group’s largest customer contributed to a total of 9.9% of the
Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s five largest
suppliers, which primarily include distribution channel partners,
contributed to a total of 76.9% of the Group’s total cost of sales and
the Group’s largest supplier contributed to a total of 21.9% of the
Group’s total cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out on pages 103 to 104 in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately RMB1,018.8 million (as of 31
December 2023: RMB1,020.0 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as of 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not made
any loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management
of the Company or any of their respective connected persons.
Particulars of guarantee provided to a director of the Company are
set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YU Dingyi

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Mr. YU Limin

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
CHEN Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin shall retire by
rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at
the AGM.
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Details of the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM are set
out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the
AGM.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 31 to 35 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE Xin,
Ms. JIANG Yu and Mr. YU Dingyi, has entered into a service contract
with the Company on 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023, 20 July
2022 and 19 July 2023, respectively, for an initial term of three years
commencing from 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023, 20 July 2022
and 19 July 2023, respectively, and shall continue for an additional
term of one year upon expiry of the initial term unless terminated in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the service contracts.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively. The initial term for
their appointment letters shall be three years from 3 November 2021,
16 September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively, and shall
continue for an additional term of one year upon expiry of the initial
term unless terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

There is no change of particulars of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company as required pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors had any material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting
Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement that would enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or
any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contracts of significance have been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries or for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholders or
any of its subsidiaries at any time during the Reporting Period.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 11 and
12 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the rules and regulations of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the participating employees’ relevant income from the Group. When
an employee leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions
are fully vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of
the Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits”
set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules were as follows:

ERENREITBASRRSG, 1
BARRIN IR HEE PRI R A i3k

B#E_E_NF+_RA=1t—H ARTE
ERESTHRABRA QS NE T QBEEA
(EERESKPERGZE XV &8 ) K
7~ HERDREEETHEERERS K
BIRAIZE XV 858 7 k5B 8 Bl E @A A AT
FRERFTNER MR E ( BRERERS K
BERABBBRXENEFARSEENER
BXE) SR ARBRES KBRS
352 RAFHEENELMWERLXE - 3
RiE EHRAMER C3FREIRETRIESTE
HMANS RIS KRB WT

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding

Capacity/ in the

Name of Nature of Number of  Long/short Company"

Name Corporation Interest Shares position (%)

7 NG

= QEEE Bin/ExitE e =] WR/NE  BOER" (%)

Mr. GAO Dinan” The Company Interest in controlled 419,209,300 Long position 27.48
corporations

S /NS RIEE RS 419,209,300 A 27.48

Mr. NIE Xin The Company Beneficial owner 1,587,000 Long position 0.10

v RRE BERBEAA 1,587,000 Sy~ 0.10

Ms. JIANG Yu”  The Company  Beneficial owner 178,090,000 Long position 11.67

Brut” /NS EXBEAA 178,090,000 E 11.67

46 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2024



Notes:

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,525,743,350 Shares
in issue as of 31 December 2024.

@

(2) Wanka Media Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Gao. Under the SFO, Mr.
Gao is deemed to be interested in Wanka Media Limited’s entire
interests in the Company. Among those 419,209,000 Shares, Wanka
Media Limited holds 243,909,300 Shares as beneficial owner. Wanka
Media Limited has also entered into acting-in-concert agreement with
Mr. Gao, Ms. JIANG Yu and PioneerHorizons Holdings Limited (the
“Acting-in-Concert Agreement”), pursuant to which they acknowledged
and confirmed, among other things, they will act in concert with each
other in relation to their limited partnership interests in United Millennial
Tech Limited Partnership (“United Millennial LP”). For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 July 2024. Under
the SFO, Wanka Media Limited is deemed to be interested in United
Millennial LP’s entire interests in the Company (i.e. 175,300,000
Shares).

(3) Among those 178,090,000 Shares, Ms. JIANG Yu holds 2,790,000

Shares as beneficial owner. Ms. JIANG Yu is also deemed to be
interested in United Millennial LP’s entire interests in the Company (i.e.
175,300,000 Shares), details of which are set out in note 2 above.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of
the SFO), or required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

FE BRI AR B AR FABR (5 ROHE
HRAL iR

HEE_T_NE+_B=1+—H  ®mMEBE=EM
M- FIAL (UFESHARTRSITH
AB ) RIEZLSRREIEHIE 336 KREAR
NEEFEENZ MR RDIAEBEH
THEAEREES RIBERAEXVEE 2 RE
3 NEWIE X BERAR NI E R X
B

Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding in

@

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short the Company
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
(R QT RE
Ha/aE Bin/tEstE BRIRER Ba/ixE HAOESEL" (%)
Wanka Media Limited” Beneficial Interest; 243,909,300 Long position 15.99
Wanka Media Limited” BRER 243,909,300 o] 15.99
Interest in a controlled 175,300,000 Long position 11.49
corporation
REEE R 175,300,000 Lay=) 11.49
Mr. GAO Dinan® Interest in a controlled 419,209,300 Long position 27.48
corporation
BEBELE" R EEER 419,209,300 HE 27.48
Ms. LU Haiyan” Interest of spouse 419,209,300 Long position 27.48
[ i Fof@iess 419,209,300 HE 27.48
United Millennial Tech Beneficial Interest 175,300,000 Long position 11.49
Limited Partnership”
United Millennial Tech ExEn 175,300,000 "B 11.49
Limited Partnership”
PioneerHorizons Interest in a controlled 175,300,000 Long position 11.49
Holdings Limited” corporation
PioneerHorizons S AE S 175,300,000 [Sy=] 11.49
Holdings Limited”
Ms. JIANG Yu® Beneficial Interest; 2,790,000 Long position 0.18
BFEut” BRER 2,790,000 e 0.18
Interest in a controlled 175,300,000 Long position 11.49
corporation
SEEEER 175,300,000 HE 11.49
178,090,000 Long position 11.67
178,090,000 Sy~ 11.67
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Notes:
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The calculation is based on the total number of 1,525,743,350 Shares
in issue as of 31 December 2024.

Wanka Media Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Gao. Under the SFO, Mr.
Gao is deemed to be interested in Wanka Media Limited’s entire
interests in the Company. Among those 419,209,000 Shares, Wanka
Media Limited holds 243,909,300 Shares as beneficial owner. Wanka
Media Limited has also entered into Acting-in-Concert agreement with
Mr. Gao, Ms. JIANG Yu and PioneerHorizons Holdings Limited,
pursuant to which they acknowledged and confirmed, among other
things, they will act in concert with each other in relation to their limited
partnership interests in United Millennial LP. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 31 July 2024. Under the SFO,
Wanka Media Limited is deemed to be interested in United Millennial
LP’s entire interests in the Company.

Ms. LU Haiyan is the spouse of Mr. Gao. Therefore, under the SFO, Ms.
LU Haiyan is deemed to be interested in Mr. Gao’s entire interests.

United Millennial LP holds the 175,300,000 Shares as beneficial owner.
Wanka Media Limited and PioneerHorizons Holdings Limited are the
general partners of United Millennial LP. PioneerHorizons Holdings
Limited is wholly-owned by Ms. JIANG Yu, the chief executive officer of
the Company and an executive Director. Further, Ms. JIANG Yu is also
interested in more than one-third of the limited partnership interests in
United Millennial LP. Other than Ms. JIANG Yu, none of other limited
partners holds more than one-third of the limited partnership interests
in United Millennial LP. Under the SFO, PioneerHorizons Holdings
Limited and Ms. JIANG Yu are deemed to be interested in United
Millennial LP’s entire interests in the Company.

Among those 178,090,000 Shares, Ms. JIANG Yu holds 2,790,000
Shares as beneficial owner. Ms. JIANG Yu is also deemed to be
interested in United Millennial LP’s entire interests in the Company (i.e.
175,300,000 Shares), details of which are set out in note 3 above.
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Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The Company has adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme and the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme.

The Company also previously adopted a post-IPO share option
scheme on 3 November 2018 (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).
Further details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in
the Prospectus. Given that the Company has not granted any options
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme since its adoption nor does
it intend to utilize such scheme in the future, the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme was terminated by resolutions of the Board on 20 April
2023 according to the terms therein, pursuant to which, such scheme
may be terminated by resolutions of either of the Board or the
Shareholders in general meeting. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 20 April 2023.

As no awards were granted under the share incentive schemes of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of
Shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted
under all share schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period
was nil. Accordingly, the value of the number of shares that may be
issued in respect of options and awards granted under all share
schemes of the Company during the Reporting Period divided by the
weighted average number of Shares in issue for the Reporting Period
was nil.

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company adopted its 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as approved
by the Board resolution passed on 6 January 2016 and amended by
the Board resolution passed on 24 May 2018. Certain principal terms
and details of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are summarised as
follows:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivise
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution to
the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of the
Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests
in the Company.
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Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are existing employees, directors (whether executive or non-
executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors) or
officers of the Company or any member of the Group (the “RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons to
receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.

A RSU gives a participant in the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain
Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable, as
determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each RSU
represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so specified
by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and
non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A RSU Participant
does not have any contingent interest in any Shares underlying the
RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually transferred to the
RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may not exercise voting
rights in respect of the Shares underlying the RSUs prior to their
exercise and, unless otherwise specified by our Board in its entire
discretion in the RSU grant letter to the RSU Participant, nor do they
have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or
distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip
distributions from any Shares underlying the RSUs.

The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of the
scheme, being 31 March 2016 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms). The remaining life of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately two years.
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The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration and
vesting of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company may (i)
allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustee to be held by the RSU
Trustee and which will be used to satisfy the Shares underlying the
RSUs upon exercise of the RSUs and/or (ii) direct and procure the
RSU Trustee to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or
purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy
the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise of the RSUs. The
Company shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU
Trustee as our Board may in its absolute discretion determine to
enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in connection with
the administration of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. All the Shares
underlying the RSUs granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
shall be transferred, allotted or issued to the RSU Trustee.

Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, our Board can
determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the time schedule when
the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions and time schedule
shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within a reasonable time after
the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule have been reached,
fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our Board will send a vesting notice (the
“Vesting Notice”) to each of the relevant RSU Participants. The
Vesting Notice will confirm the extent to which the vesting criteria,
conditions and time schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or
waived, and the number of Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-
cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of
non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares)
involved. The RSU Participant shall serve the exercise notice within
three (3) months after receiving the Vesting Notice. The RSU Trustee
will not hold the Shares underlying the RSUs vested for the RSU
Participant after this three (3)-month period.
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The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that have
lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the 2016
Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held or to
be held by the RSU Trustee for the purpose of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme from time to time. No maximum entitlement was
restricted for each RSU Participant. No consideration was paid by the
RSU Participant for acceptance of RSUs. The Company has allotted
and issued to the nominee of the RSU Trustee 62,500,000 ordinary
shares underlying all the grants under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, representing 4.10% of the number of Shares in issue as at
31 December 2024 (without taking into account of any Share which
may be issued pursuant to the exercise of any RSU that may be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme). The 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme only involves the existing Shares, and no further
grant is permitted thereunder in light of its scheme limit, and all the
RSUs granted thereunder have been vested. No Share is available
for issue under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as at the date of
this annual report.

As of 31 December 2024, we had granted RSUs representing
62,500,000 Shares under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, no RSUs were granted or agreed
to be granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (2023: Nil).
Details of the RSUs granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are as set out below:
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Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:

BARTENZRFIRDEMBBEEWT -

Number of RSUs

EIRHIRRIBEE BB

Outstanding balance as of 1 January 2024 8,096,235
HE_ZT_NF—HA—BrMEARITESER 8,096,235
Granted -

[t g -
Forfeited -
BRI -
Exercised (2,291,000)
Bf7E (2,291,000)
Lapsed -
2R _
Cancelled -
[wrd ] -
Outstanding balance as of 31 December 2024 5,805,235
HE_Z_MNFE+_RA=+—HmMEXRITESER 5,805,235

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company adopted its 2019 Share Incentive Scheme by way of
the Board resolution passed on 29 August 2019 and amended by
ordinary resolution of shareholders at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 9 June 2023.

Certain principal terms and details of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme are summarised as follows:

The purpose of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivise
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution to
the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of the
Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests
in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme include existing employees, Directors (whether executive or
non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors) or
officers of the Company or any member of the Group (the “2019 RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the 2019 RSU Eligible Persons
to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“2019 RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to
obtain Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable,
as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each RSU
represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so specified
by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and
non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A 2019 RSU
Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares
underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually
transferred to the 2019 RSU Participant. Further, a 2019 RSU
Participant may not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares
underlying the RSUs prior to their exercise and, nor, unless otherwise
specified by our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU grant letter
to the 2019 RSU Participant, do they have any rights to any cash or
non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds
of non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying
the RSUs.

The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of the
scheme, being 29 August 2019 (unless it is terminated earlier in
accordance with its terms). The remaining life of the 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately five years.

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“2019 RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration and
vesting of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company may (i)
allot and issue new Shares to the 2019 RSU Trustee which will hold
such Shares to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise
of the RSUs and/or (ii) direct and procure the 2019 RSU Trustee to
receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase existing
Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise of the RSUs. The Company shall
procure that sufficient funds are provided to the 2019 RSU Trustee
as our Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable the
2019 RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in connection with the
administration of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. All the Shares
underlying the RSUs granted and to be granted under the 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme will be transferred, allotted or issued to the 2019
RSU Trustee.
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Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, our Board can
determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the time schedule when
the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions and time schedule
shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within a reasonable time after
the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule have been reached,
fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our Board will send a vesting notice (the
“2019 Vesting Notice”) to each of the relevant 2019 RSU Participants.
The 2019 Vesting Notice will confirm the extent to which the vesting
criteria, conditions and time schedule have been reached, fulfilled,
satisfied or waived, and the number of Shares (and, if applicable, the
cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale
proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those
Shares) involved. The 2019 RSU Participant shall serve the exercise
notice within three (3) months after receiving the 2019 Vesting Notice.
The 2019 RSU Trustee will not hold the Shares underlying the RSUs
vested for the 2019 RSU Participant after this three (3)-month period.

Pursuant to the scheme mandate limit adopted by the Shareholders
on 9 June 2023 (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"), being a scheme
mandate limit on grants of share awards and/or options over new
Shares under all share schemes of the Company, the Shares which
may be issued in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and any other share
schemes of the Company (if any) (including options and awards that
have been cancelled but excluding any options or awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the respective share schemes) shall not
exceed 152,574,335 Shares, representing 10% of the number of
Shares in issue as of 9 June 2023, being the date of the Shareholders’
approval of the limit. For details, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 24 April 2023 and 9 June 2023.

The maximum number of Shares underlying all options and awards
available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit was 152,574,335
Shares as of 31 December 2024 and 2023. No maximum entitlement
was restricted for each RSU Participant. No consideration was paid
by the RSU Participant for acceptance of RSUs.
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As of 31 December 2024, we had granted RSUs representing
91,738,000 Shares under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme,
including the following senior management and other current or
former key employees of the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2024, no RSUs were granted or agreed to be granted
under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. Details of the RSUs granted
pursuant to the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme are set out below:
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Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:

EARTTERNZRERDEUHELZHMOT

Number of RSUs

SIRBIBRDEE(IEE

Outstanding balance as of 1 January 2024 28,137,000
HE_E_MFE—HB—BMERTELR 28,137,000
Granted -
EEd B
Forfeited -
(=T -
Exercised (15,000,000)
217 (15,000,000)
Lapsed -
BRY _
Cancelled -
B -
Outstanding balance as of 31 December 2024 13,137,000
HE_E_MFE+_HA=+—HBRKRITELSR 13,137,000

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme and the 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares, or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024 or subsisted as at 31 December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No related party transactions disclosed in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant
to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below in this annual report, during the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company had no connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which is required to be disclosed
in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in relation to connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions.

Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has entered (1) the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders, and (2) the ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, to enable us to, among others, (1) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe in consideration for the services provided by our
Company thereto; (2) exercise effective control over the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and (3) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe when
and to the extent permitted by PRC laws. Accordingly, through the
Contractual Arrangements, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities’
results of operations, assets and liabilities, and cash flows are
consolidated into our Company’s financial statements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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shareholders of Huanju Times. Huanju Times is owned as to 72% by Mr.
Gao and 28% by Mr. Zheng.
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A brief description of each of the specific agreements that comprise
the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

@)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated 15 June 2018 between Huanju Times and the WFOE and
(2) the exclusive business cooperation agreement dated 15
June 2018 between Shanghai ChiLe and the WFOE
(collectively the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements”),
the WFOE agreed to be engaged as the exclusive provider to
Huanju Times Consolidated Affiliated Entities and Shanghai
ChiLe Consolidated Affiliated Entities of comprehensive
technical support, business support and relevant consultation
services for annual service fees, including but not limited to the
following services in respect of the Relevant Businesses:
providing business management consultation; providing
marketing and promotional services; providing system
integration and maintenance services; providing financial
support; and providing equipment and properties transfer,
leasing and disposal services.

Under Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the
service fee shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with the
nature of the services and shall consist of 100% of the total
consolidated profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, after
deduction of any accumulated deficit in respect of the preceding
financial year(s), operating costs, expenses, taxes and other
statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of service fees
according to, among others, scope and nature of services and
relevant market prices. The service fees shall be paid on an
annual basis and in accordance with the payment instructions
of the WFOE. Notwithstanding the payment arrangements in
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the WFOE also
has the right to adjust the payment time and payment method.
Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe agree to accept any of such
adjustment.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements have an
initial term of ten years commencing from their respective
effective date, namely 1 March 2016 and 9 March 2018, and will
be automatically renewed for additional ten years. The WFOE
also has the right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such renewal. The
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements shall not be
terminated unless (a) in writing by the WFOE; or (b) the term of
such agreement expired.

HREHNZHNE IR EHEN B ERTN
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(b)

()

Exclusive Option Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive option agreement dated 15 June
2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the exclusive option
agreement dated 15 June 2018 entered into among the WFOE,
Shanghai ChiLe and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders
(collectively the “Exclusive Option Agreements”), the WFOE has
the right to require the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders
or ChiLe Registered Shareholders to transfer any or all their
equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe to the
WFOE and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part
at any time and from time to time, for considerations equivalent
to the minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws.
The Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to
the relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the
WFOE any consideration that they receive in the event that
WFOE exercises the options under the Exclusive Option
Agreements in such way required by the WFOE to acquire the
equity interests and/or assets in Huanju Times or Shanghai
ChiLe.

Each of the Exclusive Option Agreements has an initial term of
ten years commencing from their respective effective dates,
namely 1 March 2016 and 9 March 2018. The WFOE has the
right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such renewal. None of the
Exclusive Option Agreements shall be terminated unless in
writing by the WFOE. Without prior written consent of the WFOE,
none of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe or their respective
shareholders may terminate such agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the equity pledge agreements dated 15 June
2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and each of
the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the equity
pledge agreements dated 15 June 2018 entered into among the
WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and each of the ChiLe Registered
Shareholders (collectively the “Equity Pledge Agreements”),
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered
Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective existing and
future equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe,
where applicable, including any interest or dividend paid for the
equity interests, to the WFOE as a security to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts.
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(d)

The pledge in respect of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe took effect upon the completion of
respective registration with the relevant administration for
industry and commerce, which were 15 April 2016 and 12
March 2018 respectively for the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements and the ChiLe Contractual Arrangements, and
shall remain valid for an initial term of ten years commencing
from the respective effective dates, which may be renewed by
the WFOE in writing. If there is outstanding debts of Huanju
Times  Registered Shareholders, ChiLe Registered
Shareholders, Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe under the
relevant Contractual Arrangements, the validity period of the
Equity Pledge Agreements may be renewed in writing by the
WFOE to the date when all such outstanding debts have been
fully paid.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorney

Pursuant to (1) the voting rights proxy agreement dated 15 June
2018 entered into between the WFOE and the Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and (2) the voting rights proxy
agreement dated 15 June 2018 entered into between the
WFOE and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively, the
“Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”), each of Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its designated persons
(including but not limited to the Directors and their successors
and liquidators replacing the Directors, but excluding those who
are Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe
Registered Shareholders) as his/her attorneys-in-fact to
exercise on his/her behalf, and agreed and undertook not to
exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written consent,
any rights that he/she has in respect of his/her equity interests
in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe.

(d)
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(e)

The validity period of each of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreements commenced from their respective effective dates,
namely 1 March 2016 and 9 March 2018, and shall not be
terminated unless (i) in writing by the WFOE or (i) all the equity
interests or assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe, where
applicable, is transferred to the WFOE.

Each of Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, through the respective power of
attorney (“Power of Attorney(s)”) dated 15 June 2018 issued by
him, irrevocably appointed the WFOE and/or its designated
person as his proxy, effective from 1 March 2016 or 9 March
2018, where applicable, to the date on which the relevant Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement expires.

Spousal Undertakings and Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking

On 15 June 2018, the spouse of each of Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr.
ZHENG Wei and Mr. HUA Xinjiang, where applicable, signed an
undertaking (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) in favor of
the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (1) her
spouse’s existing and future equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe (together with any other interests therein)
are separate properties of her spouse; her spouse or the
ultimate beneficial owners are entitled to deal with his own
equity interests and any interests therein in Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe in accordance with the respective Contractual
Arrangements. Each spouse also further confirmed that she will
fully assist the performance of the respective Contractual
Arrangements at any time; (2) unconditionally and irrevocably
waives any right or benefits on such equity interests and assets
in accordance with applicable laws and confirms that she will not
have any claim on such equity interests and assets; (3) her
spouse may further amend or terminate the Contractual
Arrangements or enter into other alternative documents without
the need for authorization or consent by the spouse; and (4) they
will be bound by the terms of the Contractual Arrangements as
amended from time to time if she has obtained any equity
interests, directly or indirectly, in Huanju Times and Shanghai
ChiLe for whatever reasons.
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On 15 June 2018, all of the ultimate beneficial owners of Beijing
JinChi, namely Mr. HUA Xinjiang, his spouse and two brothers,
signed an undertaking (the “Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking”) to the effect, among others, that each of such
person unconditionally and irrevocably (1) confirmed and
agreed with the execution of agreements in connection with the
ChiLe Contractual Arrangements by Beijing JinChi and (2)
agreed to execute any document and take any action as
necessary to fulfill their obligations under such agreements,
including transfer of their equity interests in accordance with the
Exclusive Option Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between our Group and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended 31 December 2024. There was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Contractual
Arrangements had been unwound on the basis that none of the
restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements had been removed. As of 31 December 2024,
we had not encountered interference or encumbrance from any
PRC government authorities in operating our businesses
through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the
Contractual Arrangements.

The revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries amounted to RMB2,372.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase by
19.9% from RMB1,979.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries accounted for approximately 90.3% of
the revenue of our Group for the year (2023: 94.3%).
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Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our distribution of mobile applications and games and mobile co-
publishing business as well as online-video distribution services
operated through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and their
respective subsidiaries are subject to foreign investment restrictions
in the PRC. Since foreign investment in such business areas in which
we currently operate are subject to restrictions under the current
applicable PRC laws and regulations, as advised by our PRC legal
advisor, we determined that it was not viable for our Company to hold
our Consolidated Affiliated Entities directly through equity ownership.
For details of the foreign investment restrictions relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the sections headed
“Contractual Arrangements — PRC Regulatory Background” of the
Prospectus and the section headed “Development in the PRC
Legislation on Foreign Investment” in this annual report.

Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that (1) the Contractual Arrangements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are fundamental to our Group’s legal
structure and business, (2) such transactions have been and will be
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of our
Group, are on normal commercial terms and are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as
a whole, and (3) the parties to (a) the Company’s undertaking dated
24 May 2018 issued by the Company and (b) the Shareholders’
undertaking dated 24 May 2018 issued by Mr. Gao, Mr. Zheng, and
all then existing shareholders of our Company relating to the
Contractual Arrangement, have complied with such undertaking.
Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual arrangements and any new transactions,
contracts and agreements or renewal of existing agreements to be
entered into between any of our Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
any member of our Group (“New Intergroup Agreements” and each of
them, a “New Intergroup Agreement”) technically constitute continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our
Directors consider that, given that our Group is placed in a special
situation in relation to the connected transactions rules under the
Contractual arrangements, it would be unduly burdensome and
impracticable, and would add unnecessary administrative costs to
our Company if such transactions are subject to strict compliance with
the requirements set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
including, among others, the reporting, announcement, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements.
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Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign
Investment

On 15 March 2019, the second meeting of the 13th Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress approved the
Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China { (%
#FEANRHENBEINGIREL) ) (the “FIL”) which became effective on 1
January 2020. The FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity Joint
Ventures ( (FHEFELEHEZEIE) ), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures {(PINSIEALEZEZEZE) ) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises { (9M&E1EZEL) ) to become the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC. The FIL stipulates three
forms of foreign investment, but does not explicitly stipulate the
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The FIL stipulates that foreign investment includes “foreign
investors invest through any other methods under laws,
administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the State
Council.” Therefore, there remains uncertainty regarding whether
future laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by
the State Council may regard contractual arrangements as a form of
foreign investment, whether our Contractual Arrangements will be
deemed to be in violation of the foreign investment access
requirements and how the Contractual Arrangements will be handled.
Our Company will disclose, as soon as possible, any major updates
of changes to the FIL that will materially and adversely affect our
Company as and when occur.
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Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

. If the PRC government considers that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the businesses in China do
not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if
there are regulations or their interpretations change in the
future, we may be subject to serious consequences, including
the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements, the
relinquishment of our interest in our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities or other sanctions.

. Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership. Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe or any of their shareholders may fail to perform
their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

. We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our PRC
Holdcos that are material to our business operations if our PRC
Holdcos declare bankruptcy or become subject to a dissolution
or liquidation proceeding.

. The ultimate shareholders of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and
adversely affect our business.

. If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets
of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe, the ownership or asset
transfer may be subject to certain limitations and substantial
costs on us.

. Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
and implementation of the FIL and how it may impact the viability
of our current corporate structure, corporate governance and
business operations.

Further details of these risks are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the
Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation of
our Group’s businesses with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:
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(&) major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

(b) our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once
ayear;

(c) our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual
reports; and

(d) our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
review the legal compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock
Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company
under the Listing Rules upon Listing as certain of the parties to the
Contractual Arrangements, namely Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG Wei
and Beijing JinChi are connected persons. Mr. GAO Dinan and
Mr. ZHENG Wei, being our Controlling Shareholders until 14 July
2023, and Beijing JinChi, which is a substantial shareholder of
Shanghai ChilLe, are connected persons of our Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver
from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the
Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the
transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53
of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting the term
of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less under Rule
14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange subject however to the following conditions:
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(@ no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

(b) no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

(c) the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable our
Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

(d) on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our
Company and its subsidiaries in which our Company has direct
shareholding, on the one hand, and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be renewed
and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing arrangements
or in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch company)
engaging in the same business as that of our Group which our
Group might wish to establish when justified by business
expediency, without obtaining the approval of the Shareholders,
on substantially the same terms and conditions as the existing
Contractual Arrangements; and

(e) we will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December
2024 had been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;

(c) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or

reproduced between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities; and
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(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged
the Auditor to perform certain procedures on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

After performing the procedures related to the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, the Auditor has concluded in a letter to the
Board that:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Company’s Board;

(b) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with a series
of contractual arrangements disclosed in the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus governing such
transactions; and

(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that dividends or other distributions have been made by Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their respective subsidiaries to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company had been in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company and had not been involved in any material legal
proceedings.

Report of the Directors
EEEHRS

d) GHRLHERAEEN—MRAEEER
BREPZEEBRENRIL - BATFE
B HESAEERRRNEZENE -

RIE ETHRAIZE 14A56 1% - ESFEEREX
HEMRBEEBSEEIASRM ZEERE L
fEAERIZE 3000 5% ( &L1BR] ) " EAERE
SEMBERLSNZZETIE, REREBR
BAZE 740 5% "B EE LR AR RS
BRZZEMRYE ) BAEREZF5ERE
REWTETER -

MERBFEREXIZWTHERERFE - &
HEENBRESSHRGANBELE -

1

@ BRITOSHEEREIBZES
ESE S

=

it
ERERBERSMARANTE
y:38

(b) BRITOSEEREIBZECK
BRERERXSREMBERTERE
MEZERZNBRER 'GH%LH .
—ENRBEN— 2RI EHNLZHET ; R

(©) BRICUSEREERRERR
- EEtERESERBATREE
aRAAFLERTREENEE TR
SEEMRBNEM DK -

AR A RIE
RESER - AATDHIHALTHEX
FUNREERRER TRESRETE
KIGERERE -



Report of the Directors

EE i

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which he may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of his duties in his office. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its directors and officers.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

0

(ii)

On 26 January 2025, Huanju Times, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and Hainan Kunchuang Technology Co., Ltd.*
(BERAIREBRETLAT) (the “JV Company”) entered into a
capital injection agreement with Lingshui Digital Culture Industry
Cloud Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (BE/KEIFX(EEZE
EREERARAT) (the “JV Partner”) in respect of the capital
injection (“Capital Injection”) into the JV Company. Pursuant to
the capital injection agreement, the JV Partner agrees to
subscribe for 49% equity interest in the JV Company by way of
capital injection of RMB49,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$52,920,000) in cash. The Capital Injection was completed
on 12 February 2025. For details of the Capital Injection, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26 January
2025.

On 7 February 2025, Zhuhai Taiwei Xingchen Investment
Management Co., Ltd. GRBRXMERIREERARAE]) and
Chongging Jiangbei Industry Leading Private Equity Investment
Fund Management Co., Ltd. (EE TILEXES IS EREREER
SEIEHERAT), as general partners, Huanju Times, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and other limited partners
entered into the limited partnership agreement in respect of the
establishment of an investment fund in the form of Chongqing
Jiangbei Rongka Private Equity Investment Fund Partnership
(Limited Partnership)* (EETIERIMAMSRBIREEESSKE
(B A1) (the “Limited Partnership”) in Jiangbei District,
Chonggqing city, the PRC. Pursuant to the limited partnership
agreement, Huanju Times, as one of the limited partners,
agreed to subscribe for limited partnership interest in the Limited
Partnership for a capital commitment of RMB50,000,000
(equivalent  to  approximately = HK$54,000,000). The
establishment of the Limited Partnership is expected to be
completed in April 2025. For details of the establishment of the
Limited Partnership, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 7 February 2025.
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IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(continued)

(i)  On 24 February 2025, the Company, as the issuer, entered into
the placing agreement with Guoyuan Securities Brokerage
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant to which
the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed to place a maximum
of 300,000,000 placing shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.177
on a best efforts basis and will receive a placing commission of
0.5% of the aggregate placing price of the placing shares being
placed. The placing was completed on 20 March 2025 and

244,600,000 placing shares, representing approximately 13.82%

of the issued share capital (as enlarged by the allotment and
issue of the placing shares) of the Company, have been allotted
and issued by the Company to the placees at the placing price
of HK$0.177 per placing share. For the details of the placing,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 24
February 2025 and 20 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant events that might
affect the Group subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the Auditor, reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 76 to 93 of this annual report.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 343 employees as of 31 December 2024, as
compared to 272 employees as of 31 December 2023. The Group
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover matters
such as position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits and
liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination. Remuneration of
the Group’s employees includes basic salaries, allowances, bonus
and other employee benefits, and is determined with reference to their
experience, qualifications and general market conditions. The
emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, was held by the public at all times since the Listing Date and
as of the date of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their respective holding of the Shares.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If any Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any
rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as the Auditor with effect from 10 November
2023 as the Company and BDO Limited could not reach a consensus
on the audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2023. BDO Limited
confirmed in their letter of resignation to the Company that there are
no matters in connection with its resignation that need to be brought
to the attention of the Shareholders of the Company.
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AUDITOR
(continued)

Pursuant to Article 155 of the Articles of Association of the Company,
the Board, with the recommendation from the Audit Committee,
resolved to appoint Moore CPA Limited as the Auditor with effect from
10 November 2023, to fill the vacancy following the resignation of
BDO Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

Further, with effect from 11 March 2024, Moore CPA Limited resigned
as the Auditor and Elite Partners CPA Limited was appointed on 25
March 2024 as the new Auditor to fill the casual vacancy so arising.

With effect from 24 October 2024, Elite Partners CPA Limited has
resigned as the Auditor and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited was
appointed as the new Auditor with effect from 25 October 2024, to fill
the vacancy following the resignation of Elite Partners CPA Limited.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 10 November 2023, 11 March 2024, 25 March 2024
and 25 October 2024 published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRS have been
audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire at the AGM and, being
eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as Auditor will be
proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

GAO Dinan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Corporate Governance Report

TERELGERS

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions under the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period. The
Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors the Group’s
business and performance. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three
Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated
to the Board committees with those responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference which are published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of any legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will
be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report

Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors
as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YU Dingyi

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Mr. YU Limin

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.
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TERELGERS

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will be
immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity
policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining the
composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms of, among
other things, skills, regional and industry experience, educational
background, culture, race, gender, age and other qualities. All Board
appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered based on objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board. The Board diversity policy is
available on the website of the Company.

The Board maintains a gender balance with one female Director and
six male Directors. The Board places emphasis on diversity (including
gender diversity) across all levels of the Group. The total gender
diversity of the Group is balanced. To support diversity across all
facets, beyond gender, including race and ethnicity, disability, social
mobility and age, the Group is enhancing diversity and inclusion
efforts through employee networks, mentoring programmes, equitable
hiring practices, policies and awareness raising events and training
for all employees to support inclusive behaviours. Further details on
the gender ratio of the Group and initiatives taken to improve gender
diversity across senior management and the workforce, together with
relevant data, are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024 published on the website of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’'s own  website
(www.wankaonline.com) in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company considers all of them to be independent.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
with any other Director and chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve
on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.
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As regards the code provision of the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments as well as the
identity of the public companies or organizations and the time
involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a timely
manner.

Gender Diversity

The Company recognises the importance of gender diversity and
recruits employees at all levels based on merits. As of 31 December
2024, female senior management members represented
approximately 40.0% of the senior management of the Company, and
female employees represented approximately 52.2% of the
employees of the Group. The Company will continue to take steps to
promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group, including but not
limited to the Board and the senior management levels.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company recognises that independence of the Board is a key
element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited to entitling
the Board and Board committees to seek independent professional
advice on matters relating to the Company where appropriate at the
Company’s expense, to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board. The Board has reviewed the implementation
of the mechanisms in relation to the Board independence and
considered it to be effective during the Reporting Period. The Board
will continue to review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanism on an annual basis.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development
Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of
the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

In accordance with C.1.4 of the CG Code with regards to continuous
professional development, directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors will be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics
will be issued to Directors where appropriate. The Company also
arranges trainings to provide Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors
are provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each
Director to discharge their duties.
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Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional KNSR ERESSHETEREZE L
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The BEASOMNBRILEE  BRFLE - AAFT
company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated HATSIMELABEMARBEEEEZESEAE -
and provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions BRE R ENSEEINER -

and duties of a director.

The nature of continuous professional development attended by the RIEHRN  EBLHEPNFEEXELEERRE

Directors during the Reporting Period is as follows: RHEEFIWT :

Nature of continuous

professional
Name of the Director development courses
£33 HES R RS
Executive Directors
BTES
Mr. GAO Dinan A
S b
Mr. NIE Xin A
BEEE
Ms. JIANG Yu A
BFU+
Mr. YU Dingyi A
TT—%%
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFHNTES
Mr. CHEN Baoguo A
={Eibrias
Mr. JIN Yongsheng A
TKERE
Mr. YU Limin A
RMESLE
A attending trainings provided by lawyers or trainings related to the A SINREMIEHOEINSER AT EEERE
Company’s business ROLE AN
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors have complied with the CG
Code in relation to continuous professional development, apart from
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, director’s
duties and responsibilities. All Directors also attended and/or gave
presentation in seminars/forums. The Company updates Directors
regularly on the latest developments on the Group’s business and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and
enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. All
Directors have provided to the Company with their training records on
a regular basis, and such records have been maintained by the
Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officers

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. During the Reporting Period, Mr.
GAO Dinan served as the chairman of the Board and Ms. JIANG Yu
served as the chief executive officer of the Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE Xin,
Ms. JIANG Yu and Mr. YU Dingyi, has entered into a service contract
with the Company on 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023, 20 July
2022 and 19 July 2023, respectively, for an initial term of three years
commencing from 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023, 20 July 2022
and 19 July 2023, respectively.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, has entered into an
appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively, for an initial term of
three years commencing from 3 November 2021, 16 September 2021
and 20 July 2022, respectively.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy and new Directors
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself for
re-election by the Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly,
at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals.
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the relevant papers and are adequately prepared for the
meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are unable
to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the
company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to all
Directors or Board Committee members for information and records.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the
Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee
members. Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the
Directors/Board Committee members for comments and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the date on which the
meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings
During the Reporting Period, details of the Directors’ attendance in
the following meetings are set out below:

EREQRS

EFXEC A RESEETERNERTHE
HECHESERESZEEMERNSEE
BFEBRRE - BRES/ESEEEME
RUENAECTRRE JRESETERESFEER
ZERNCHERANERRETENEHE
THHENGEREANSEESES/ESE
BEME  UDAHRELEERAEE - EF
ZERCHRIHESER -

EFNSEERZEEE
RBER  BEMUTZE2HEXRFRES
Sl

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

EREERYSTEERY

Board Audit Remuneration  Nomination Annual
Meeting  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General Meeting
Directors £ EFEEE BREEE HHESE REFEE RREFAE
Executive Directors HTEE
Mr. GAO Dinan BHRERE 6/6 N/A N/A 22 11
AEH AEH
Mr. NIE Xin BETE 6/6 N/A 11 N/A 11
AEH AEH
Ms. JJANG Yu BFUL 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
AEH AEH AEH
Mr. YU Dingyi FT—%4% 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
AER AEH AEH
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIFFMTEE
Mr. CHEN Baoguo BEELE 6/6 5/5 11 N/A n
AEH
Mr. JIN Yongsheng EXELE 6/6 5/5 11 2/2 n
Mr. YU Limin FHREE 6/6 5/5 N/A 212 11
AEH
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the
required standards as set out in the Model Code for the Reporting
Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are also subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves its decision right for all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. Directors could
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognises that
corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the
Directors which includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
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4.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo (Chairman),
Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, all of them being independent
non-executive Directors. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise, and provide an independent view of the
effectiveness of, the financial reporting process and the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, oversee the
audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee’s duties and powers include, among others:

(i) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, and/or removal of the external auditor, and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and consider any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

(i)  monitor the integrity of financial statements, annual reports and
accounts, interim reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them;

(i) oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures; and
(iv) perform the Company’s corporate governance functions,

including reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.
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Code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code provides that the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee shall have the terms that the
members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet at least twice
a year with the Auditor. The Company has included such terms in
relevant terms of reference, and thus complied with the Code
provision D.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code during the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, five Audit Committee meetings were

convened. The Audit Committee had performed the followings tasks,

among others:

1. reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2023 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024;

2. reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk

management and internal control systems;

3. discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their
audit findings;

4, reviewed the auditors’ remuneration;

5. reviewed the matters in connection with the change of auditor;

6. reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to
determine whether the provision of such services would affect

the independence of the auditors;

7.  performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed the
corporate governance policies and practices; and

8.  considered the resignation and appointment of the Auditor.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix
Cl to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee currently
comprises three members, including one executive Director namely
Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) and two independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin. The primary
functions of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation,
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, reviewing
the Board diversity policy, assessing the independence of
independent non-executive directors and making recommendations
to the Board on matters relating to the appointment of directors.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity on
the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of
services and time to be devoted as a Director. In identifying suitable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall: (i) use open advertising
or the services of external advisors to facilitate the search; (ii)
consider candidates from an extensive range of backgrounds; and (iii)
consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria, taking
care that appointees have enough time available to devote to the
position. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be put to the Board for decision. The written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as
well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement and
re-election of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, including two independent non-
executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng (Chairman) and Mr.
CHEN Baoguo and one executive Director namely Mr. NIE Xin. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include, without
limitation, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy on such remuneration,
(ii) reviewing and approving performance based remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board, and (iii) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, one Remuneration Committee meeting
was held to review and approve the remuneration of executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Please refer to Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for
details of remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Details of the remuneration by band of Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 31 to 35 of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB) #HiMeEsE (AR#)

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 to give a
true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of
the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members
of the Board with timely updates on Company’s performance,
positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on page 94 to 98 of this annual
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to ensure
that the Company has established and maintained adequate and
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board
delegates to the Audit Committee its responsibility to review the
establishment and practices of management with respect to risk
management and internal control systems formally on a biannual
basis. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on an annual basis. The
Board is also responsible for overseeing the key risks of the Company,
including determining the level of risk the Company expects and is
able to take, and proactively considering, analyzing and formulating
strategies to manage the key risks that the Company is exposed to.
The Audit Committee oversees the management of the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal
control systems. The senior management team also provides all
necessary and relevant information to the Board, giving the Directors
sufficient explanation and information they need to discharge their
responsibilities and make an informed assessment of financial and
other information put before them for approval. The internal audit
team of the Company has direct reporting lines to the Audit
Committee. These systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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TERELGERS

We have designated responsible personnel in the Company to
monitor the ongoing compliance by the Company with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations that govern our business operations and
oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. In addition,
we plan to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and/or updates
regarding the relevant PRC laws and regulations on a regular basis
with a view to proactively identify any concerns and issues relating to
any potential non-compliance. In addition, we have adopted a set of
internal rules and policies governing the conduct of our employees.
We have established a monitoring system to implement anti-bribery
and anti-corruption measures so as to ensure that our employees
comply with our internal rules and policies as well as the applicable
laws and regulations. For example, our management is responsible
for conducting a fraud and bribery risk assessment on an annual basis
and our Audit Committee reviews and approves our annual risk
assessment results and policies. We have also identified certain
forbidden conducts in our internal anti-bribery and anti-corruption
policies, including, among others, the prohibition to acceptance of
bribes or rebates, embezzlement or misappropriation of our assets,
and forgery or alteration of our accounting records.

Inside Information

The Company has implemented proper procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information,
including, among others, establishing a policy on the disclosure of
inside information to ensure that all current and prospective investors
of the Company, market participants and the public are provided with
appropriate information relating to the Group in a timely and
simultaneous manner. The policy has been communicated to all
relevant staff and related training has also been provided to them.

Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture,
through the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure long-

term growth and sustainable development of the Company’s business.

The Company has established a risk management system which sets
out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party as well as the
relevant risk management policies and processes. Each business unit
of the Company, on a regular basis, identifies and assesses risk
factors that may negatively impact the achievement of its objectives,
and formulates appropriate response measures.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the overall risk
status of the Company and evaluating the change in the nature and
severity of the Company’s major risks. The Audit Committee
considers that the management of the Company has taken
appropriate measures to address and manage the key risks which
they are responsible for at a level acceptable to the Board.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously reviews
the risk management and internal control systems. The review
process comprises, among other things, meetings with management
of business groups, internal audit team, legal personnel and the
external auditors, reviewing the relevant work reports and information
of key performance indicators, and discussing the major risks with the
senior management of the Company. The Board is of the view that
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, the risk management
and internal control systems of the Company are effective and
adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting functions have been performed by staff with the
appropriate qualifications and experience and that such staff receives
appropriate and sufficient training and development. Based on the
work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also believes that
the Company’s internal audit function is adequate with sufficient
resources and budget. The relevant staff has appropriate
qualifications and experience, and receives sufficient training and
development.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately as follows:
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8
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Type of Services BRFEEERY (ARETR)
Audit and audit related services* EZ R EIZABBERE 1,800
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EREQRS

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LUI Mei Ka has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 15 November 2024. Please see the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management — Company Secretary” in this
annual report for the biography of Ms. LUI Mei Ka. Ms. LUI Mei Ka is
an external service provider whose primary contact person in the
Group is Mr. Gao.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. LUl Mei Ka has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity for
the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees will be
available to answer questions at general meetings. The Auditor will
also attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor's report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at
(www.wankaonline.com), where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access. The shareholders’ communication policy
sets out a number of ways to ensure effective and efficient
communication with shareholders is achieved, including but not
limited to our responses to shareholders’ enquiries, corporate
communications (in both English and Chinese, to facilitate
shareholders’ understanding), posting of relevant information on the
Company’s website, shareholders’ meetings and investment market
communications. The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy and the
results were satisfactory.
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The Board encourages all its shareholders to participate in the
forthcoming AGM where the members of the Board and external
auditors will be present and communicate with its shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as of date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or any one of the joint company secretaries of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters
of the Company at 4/F, Building No. B22, Universal Business Park,
No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road, Chaoyang, Beijing, PRC.

Amendments to Constitutional Document

There has been no change in the Articles of Association of the
Company during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.
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ZHONGHUI

To the shareholders of Wanka Online Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanka
Online Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 215, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment of goodwill

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount before impairment of
the Group’s goodwill was approximately RMB32,439,000, which is
subject to annual impairment test. Impairment provision is required
when the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”)
to which the goodwill is allocated are lower than the respective
carrying values of the respective CGUs. During the year ended 31
December 2024, based on the impairment assessment of goodwiill,
the Group recognised goodwill impairment of RMB26,017,000.

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these CGUs involved
significant management’s estimation, subjective assumptions and
judgements, such as expected future cash flows from the CGUs,
budgeted gross margins, revenue growth rates and discount rates,
and is sensitive due to business and market volatility, and uncertain
economic outlook.

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies, accounting judgements
and estimates and impairment testing of goodwill are included in
Notes 4, 5, and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- we made enquiries of management about the valuation
methodology of the recoverable amounts and assessed the
reasonableness of the key assumptions underlying the cash
flow forecasts, including revenue growth rate and budgeted
gross margins, and discount rates. We also made reference to
the historical performance and business plans of the
management for the relevant CGUs. We also took into account
the accuracy of previous budgeting process;

- we assessed the appropriateness of the methodology used by
management in the impairment testing;

- we evaluated the competence capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuation specialists engaged by
management to perform the valuation; and

- we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in relation to the
Group’s goodwill impairment test in the consolidated financial
statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment of goodwill is supported by
the available evidence.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

Accounts receivable constituted a significant portion of total assets of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and the Group was exposed to
credit risks thereof. The Group recognises an allowance based on the
expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach under Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments. The measurement of
ECL requires the application of significant judgement and estimates,
such as provision rates which are based on days past due for
customers that have similar loss patterns, historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies, accounting judgements
and estimates and impairment of accounts receivable are included in
Notes 4, 5 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- we obtained an understanding of and assessed management’s
processes and controls relating to the credit control and
collection of accounts receivable;

- we obtained and assessed management’s expected credit loss
allowance and judgements on the recoverability of accounts
receivable by examining the information used by management to
establish such judgements and estimates, such as the historical
default information, current economic conditions and forward-
looking information;

- we tested the ageing analysis and past due analysis of accounts
receivable on sample basis; we also considered the collection of
the accounts receivable subsequent to the end of the reporting
period;

- we evaluated the competence capabilities, objectivity and
independence of the external valuation specialists engaged by
management to perform the valuation; and

- we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in relation to the
Group’s ECL in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s provision for expected credit losses on
accounts receivable is supported by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZEETRS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website
at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05988

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

maiEmR

B2 NFE+_BA=+—HILEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—BME TEC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
VIEE AR#TFr ARSFT
REVENUE W 7 2,627,271 2,098,220
Cost of sales THEMA (2,393,233) (1,874,952)
Gross profit EF) 234,038 223,268
Other income and net gains or losses HtARFEEE 8 8,496 17,153
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (32,113) (25,751)
Research and development costs e (92,939) (80,660)
Reversal of impairment loss/(Impairment  FEUWERFUR BB ERD
loss) on accounts receivable /(RIEEIR) 22 1,528 (18,973)
Impairment loss on goodwill B R ERE 18 (26,017) (2,361)
Administrative expenses TR (51,163) (50,385)
Other expenses and losses Hithfiz RE1E (9,857) (5,976)
Share-based payment expenses IR RERNN SRS 30 - (8,149)
Finance costs M AR 10 (14,561) (10,009)
Share of loss in an associate NME—REBELSEE 20 (1,000) (3,545)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX ERAR BT 9 16,412 34,612
Income tax expense PRSTRR 13 (8,820) (12,616)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF] 7,592 21,996
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR PUF A AR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company ZA/NCIEZ =N 2,267 15,488
Non-controlling interest FEER = 32 5,325 6,508
7,592 21,996
EARNINGS PER SHARE KA EEEREBAE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY Bk R
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY  ( IBRAR¥/A3IR )
(expressed in RMB cents per share)
Basic ES %N 15 0.15 1.04
Diluted e 0.15 1.02

“EONEER BNSHERAE
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

..a-néﬁlliﬁﬁ

BE_E_NF+_A=1+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
=~ 111 3 “BET=H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREA 7,592 21,996
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HithZEURA
Other comprehensive loss that may be HRERBUENSERIBEEN
reclassified to profit or loss in Hih 2 EEE
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation REIRINEREFWERERR
of foreign operations (714) (3,582)
Net other comprehensive loss that BEEUER N EEERN
may be reclassified to profit or loss Hi = EEEFER
in subsequent periods (714) (3,582)
Other comprehensive income that will AECRENBEN Y EEER
not be reclassified to profit or loss in EMhZEUA :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation AREREESFNETETR
of the Company 5,037 5,730
Net other comprehensive income that AECERERBENYEEER
will not be reclassified to profit or loss R Eth 2= E A SRR
in subsequent periods 5,037 5,730
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FRAEMEBEWA - BRIRE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 4,323 2,148
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FAZEWALBE
FOR THE YEAR 11,915 24,144
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME UNEEERZEBA
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: e
Owners of the Company ZA/NCIEZ =N 6,590 17,636
Non-controlling interest FEER R 5,325 6,508
11,915 24,144
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMIBINRE

RIEMFE+"A=+—H
As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
- o 11 3 —BC=HF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BgsE AREFT AEEFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEKREE 16 3,508 1,642
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17(a) 7,347 10,947
Goodwill e 18 6,422 32,439
Other intangible assets Hitn\ EE 19 3,086 4,453
Interest in associates REEQSWHER 20 12,000 -
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 21 12,965 13,717
Prepayments and other deposits RN RIEREMZSE 23 56,861 114,983
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 102,189 178,181
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE
Accounts receivable FEUERTR 22 837,923 680,764
Prepayments, deposits and other FANFIE - BER
receivables HthEWRIE 23 785,113 579,886
Time deposits with original maturity over — FREIHHBB=AKN
three months EHER 24 - 2,651
Restricted bank deposits ZIRFIRTER 24 11,326 10,374
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 24 591,487 521,874
Total current assets mEEERE 2,225,849 1,795,549
CURRENT LIABILITIES mERE
Accounts payable FERTERFR 25 42,330 34,381
Other payables and accruals Hi N RIB K EETFIE 26 149,020 82,599
Contract liabilities BRAE 27 36,608 21,990
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTRIBITER 28 567,670 303,500
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) 4,623 8,514
Income tax payable BN FTEH 112,634 112,909
Total current liabilities MEBERE 912,885 563,893
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFR 1,312,964 1,231,656
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERTEEE
LIABILITIES 1,415,153 1,409,837
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMIBINRE

RIB_ME+_FA=+—8
As at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
= S 111 - =
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
N AREFT AREBFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Lease liabilities HERE 17(b) 2,598 3,763
Deferred tax liabilities EERESE 21 760 1,098
Total non-current liabilities FERBBEREE 3,358 4,861
Net assets BEFE 1,411,795 1,404,976
EQUITY gt HEE
Equity attributable to owners of the KATHEA A EILRE
Company
Issued capital SETRAE 29 1 1
Treasury shares EFR O —* -
Other reserves Hithf# & 31 1,325,819 1,319,229
Equity attributable to owners of the KATHEA AEILRE
Company 1,325,820 1,319,230
Non-controlling interest JEE R =S 32 85,975 85,746
Total equity g 1,411,795 1,404,976

* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * BEEAEARE 1,000 7T -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 215 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

FI9E25 BZAAMBRERLESTIN
E_HF=R_t)\HAERZENE T

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: HTIATRESE .
Mr. Gao Dinan Mr. Yu Dingyi
mhBkE FT—%4E
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeEREEE

B2 NFE+_A=+—HILEFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

A1 January 2023 N_F_=£-F-8 1 - 188109 9532 66,353 26,001
Proftfr the year Efyaf) - - - - - -
Other comprehensie ncome ~~ EREHEENA

forthe year:

Exchange diferences on BEISERAATEE
translaton of foreign operatons ~ EENERES
and the Company - - - - - -

(190 (MG  1BA5 T3 13084
- 154 15468 508 1%

2148 - 2148 - 2148

Toial compreensive income ~~ ERZENALS
for the year - - - - - -

Dividend paid o the non- TEERESZES

2148 15,488 17636 6,508 24,144

controling interest - - - - - - - - - (149 (149
Vested resticed share s EETEEZERE

transferred to employees RRARNEN - - 18070 - (18070) - - - - - -
Equity-setle share option IEREEERE

arangemens e 3 - - - - 8,149 - - - 8,149 - 8149
At 31 December 2023 ;3

T2A=1-f 1 - 186179 9532 56,432 26,001 (29755 (589,160) 1319230 85,746 1404976

# The amount is less than RMB1,000. 4 2REER AREE 1,000 7T °
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of * ZERERBEEASHBIRIENGS

RMB1,319,229,000 (2022: RMBL1,293,444,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

HitfFE B AR 1,319,229,000 7t ( —_F

—F: AK¥8 1,293,444,000 7T ) -

—EBTNFR BMSHRERARE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeEREEE

HEE_NFE+_A=+—RHLEE
Year ended 31 December 2024

A1 January 2024 R_5_ME-E-B 1 - 186119 9532 56,432 26,001 (29,755) (589,160) 1319230 85746 1404976
Profitfor the year Eail - - - - - - - 2261 2261 5325 1592
Other comprehensive income EZE TN

forthe year:
Exchange diferences on EERRANTES

trangaton of foreign operaions ~~ EXHERER

and the Company - - - - - - 433 - 4133 - 433
Total comprehensive income ERIENALE

for the year - - - - - - 433 2261 6,590 5325 11915
Dividend paid o the non- FERERR RS

controling interest - - - - - - - - - (5,096) (5,096)
Vested esticted share units B3TEE/CHR

transfered o employegs ERARHEN - - 5559 - (5559) - - - - - -
At31 December 2024 1

+2R=t-B 1 - IBTB 95 08 K00 (54 (66099 13580 %95 L4L0%

# The amount is less than RMB1,000. # ERMERARE 1,000 7T
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of * ZERBEREEFRSMBINIERNGRER

RMB1,325,819,000 (2023: RMB1,319,229,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GRIRERE

B2 NFE+_BA=+—HILEFE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—BImME T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AR#FT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEBNRERE
Profit before tax PRAZ AT 16,412 34,612
Adjustments for: MU T BIEEHAZE
Finance costs MR 14,561 10,009
Bank interest income RITFI WA (1,564) (1,714)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/Impairment loss FEULBRFR (RIERERE )
on accounts receivable /REEE (1,528) 18,973
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Mm% - MR KRBREITE 946 855
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEERE 8,740 7,087
Amortisation of intangible assets i EERE 1,367 2,553
Gain on derecognition of lease MEA IR G (16) -
Share of loss in an associate PME—RBBE A SRR 1,000 3,545
Impairment loss on goodwill B ERE 26,017 2,361
Share-based payment expenses DR RERNN RS - 8,149
Operating cash flows before working capital changes ZEESZEFINLZRER= 65,935 86,430
Increase in accounts receivable & W B R 0 (155,631) (98,478)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BNHIE - e REMEBIFIE
other receivables E (183,746) (8,070)
Decrease/(increase) in long-term prepayments and ~ REBFEMI I REMIZE R /D /(EM0)
other deposits 27,270 (19,837)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable FETBR R0/ O/ D) 7,949 (18,578)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BHRBEEM/CED) 14,618 (5,843)
Increase in other payables and accruals HAth FERT A R FERT SIRLE NN 65,376 8,401
Cash used in operations =EMARE (158,229) (55,975)
Interest received BIRAR 1,564 1,714
Income tax paid ENER (8,681) (11,053)
Net cash flows used in operating activities REEHMARESRE TR (165,346) (65,314)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GRIRERER

BE_E_NF+_A=1+—HLEE
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—BE B =HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR#FT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHHRIRSRE
Refund/(prepayments) for acquisition of W FE R R B AR O]/ (FRAY) B

equity investments 3,500 (36,981)
Proceeds from disposal of equipment HEREHNPTERIA 40 1
Prepayments for acquisition of equipment BEREEEBENRIE (6,129) -
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEYXE  MERRHBEEREE

equipment (2,855) (430)
Decrease in time deposits with original maturity REVER B #BE =B BN EHEFR D

over three months 2,651 9,986
Capital injection into an associate FE—EHERT (1,000) (2,430)
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETEPMARESRE F48 (3,793) (29,854)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEEHIRERE
Drawdown of bank loans RERITER 796,668 443,520
Repayment of bank loans EBRRTER (532,498) (400,020)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRWASE S (10,193) (7,891)
Interest paid on bank borrowings ENRTERAE (12,765) (9,043)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENHEEaENE (751) (1,071)
Dividend paid ENKRE (5,096) (141)
(Increase)/decrease of restricted bank deposits SIREERITER (180 ) /b (952) 51,316
Net cash flows generated from financing activites ~ BE EEFISIRERE/F58 234,413 76,670
NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND RERREEEMIEMFER/

CASH EQUIVALENTS (BD) 65,274 (18,498)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FYRERIRTEEY 521,874 538,224
Net foreign exchange difference FBINEZERE 4,339 2,148
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXREERIRESSEY

AT END OF YEAR 591,487 521,874
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R&RIESEEMHIT
Cash and bank balances RE RERITH S 591,487 521,874
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the AEVBRRREGESIRERE

consolidated statement of financial position KATRRERIREEEY

and consolidated statement of cash flows 591,487 521,874
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanka Online Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 November 2014. Its
registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, and
principal place of business is 4th Floor, Building No. B22,
Universal Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road, Chaoyang
District, Beijing, PRC. The Company, together with its
subsidiaries, is collectively referred to as the Group.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 21 December
2018.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries were mainly
involved in the provision of mobile advertising services, online-
video distribution services, game co-publishing services and
software maintenance services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate controlling party of
the Group is Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly owned
by Mr. Gao Dinan.

1.

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

rAREESEH

BMEMARAST ( "TART, ) H—
ER_E—NE+—HBtREHRSHE
HEMAIINAREET AT - HiEfips
BT A Cricket Square, Hutchins

Drive P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands KEEZ

FMMAPEIERTHGEBEWBE
10 SEEEEHE B22 E 4 & - XAT
ERHEMBAIREREER -
ARTNRORZE-N\F+HF+
—BEEBMERSMBERATER L
& .

REA - FREREMBAT (BER
EEBMER ) TEUSRUBIES
BR#5 - MRS ARIRE M D BARTS - Bk
BARES R A AR TS -

EERA  AEERAKERASRSESE
EEZTEE BT Wanka Media
Limited -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MIEERRME

E_ME+_FB=+—8
31 December 2024

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REREBEEH (&

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries BB RIERTER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KRB EEMBASIWF B
follows: T
Nominal value  Percentage of
Place and date of incorporation/  of issued ordinary/ equity attributable to
registration and place of registered the Company Principal
Name operations share capital FAEEIGRREELLH activities
MRk it R R CW{TE® Direct Indirect FEEE
&g BEIARE 2 ith2s A EE B it
Wanka Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 — Investment holding
6 June 2014
IMmEARAE B8 17T REER
“Z2-MEARAARA
Wanka Huanju Culture Media People's Republic of China US$100,000,000 - 100 Mobile advertising
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* ("PRC" ) /Mainland China services
("Wanka Huanju”) 10 October 2014
MRS (1R ) BRAE thEE AR HAE 100,000,000 =75 B ESRE
( "IuMmRE, ) ( "oPE, ) /RBIARE
“2-ME+A+H
Zhonghe Channels Management PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100 Software maintenance
Co., Ltd* (“Zhonghe”) 28 December 2016 services
PRREBEARAS ( "L ) B /P B K RE AE# 100,000,000 7t B IRTS
_E-RE+”B_1+)N\H
Structured entities
it%r a;lm .
Huanju Times Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMB7,200,000 - Note 1 Mobile advertising
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* 7 March 2014 services
("Huanju Times")
BEBAULER (1R ) BRATEH /PR A RE AR 7,200,000 75 M1 BEESRE
( "EEBEHL, ) _E-FE=AtH
Beijing Jingzhe Century PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - Note 2 Mobile advertising
Information Technology 15 November 2006 services and game
Co., Ltd.* co-publishing
services
IREBHLESRMARAS cp Bl /op B KR AR 1,000,000 75 MiaE2 BEIESRERIER
EERE+—HA+hH ERH
Hui Times Information Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - Note 2 Game co-publishing

Service (Jilin) Co., Ltd.*
BBRE

SRR (54 ) BRATN

31 December 2019
cpE /B K RE
ZE-nEFZA=+-A

AE# 1,000,000 75

MiEE2 BEEi

services
EIRE

Wanka Huanju Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - Note 2 Mobile advertising
(Hainan) Co., Ltd.* 1 June 2017 services
MBS LEE (5r ) BRAEN B /op B KR AR 5,000,000 7 M2 BEESRE
“E—t£/A-H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

1. REREEEH (&

~—

Information about subsidiaries (continued) MIEBARRIBREER (E)
Nominal value  Percentage of

Place and date of incorporation/  of issued ordinary/ equity attributable to

registration and place of registered the Company Principal
Name operations share capital FATIEMGIRIELLH) activities
FH RS/ R B K SRTEZE Direct Indirect FEEIE
&g BEILAR S 2 ithEs HAfiEsmE BiE 5}
Wanka Huanju Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - Note 2 Mobile advertising
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.* 9 June 2017 services
ITMERRSEELR (K2 ) BRATH Bl /P BIARRE AR 5,000,000 7o Wiz 2 BEESRE
“EB—tHFXANA
Sichuan Wanka Huanju Culture PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - Note 2 Mobile advertising
Media Co., Ltd.* 17 November 2017 services
(“Sichuan Wanka”)*
)1 3R B S B R A R AT Bl /P BIARRE AR 5,000,000 7o Wiz 2 BEESRE
("), ) _E—tHFt+—A+tH
Suzhou Longying Software PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - Note 2 Mobile advertising
Development Co., Ltd.* 28 September 2017 services
(“Suzhou Longying”)
FNERRGREARAT S/ PR ARE AR 100,000,000 7T Mzt 2 BEESRE
(TERINEER L) _E—tFAATTNH
Shanghai ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland China RMB40,816,327 - Note 1 Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 18 June 2014 distribution services
(“Shanghai ChiLe”)
et ERRRBRAT S/ PR ARE AR 40,816,327 7T MiaE 1 R FIRER D ERHB
(TLEthEt ) “Z2—-MEAXB+N\H
Xinjiang ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - Note 3 Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 26 September 2016 distribution services
MBS ERNBRARATN S/ PR ARE AR H# 5,000,000 75 Mzt 3 BERIEERD BRHE
“E-RENRZTAH
Shanghai Langdao Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - Note 3 Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 27 July 2016 distribution service
PEREERRBRBRATN /o B RE AR 10,000,000 75 Wizt 3 MWERIEERD BB
“E-REtRT+tHR
Beijing ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - Note 3 Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 14 July 2021 distribution services
R ERRRBRAT S/ PR ARE AR ¥ 10,000,000 7T M3 BEIEERD BRHE
B -#tA+NA
Suzhou Jinglan Cloud Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB160,000,000 - Note 4 Game co-publishing
Co., Ltd.* 9 September 2022 services
BENBRRENRBRAT chEl /o B RE AE# 160,000,000 7T MEE 4 B BERRS
“BT"FhANE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MIEERRME

E_ME+_FB=+—8
31 December 2024

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Note 1: Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe were set up under PRC laws
and were controlled by the Company through Wanka Huanju via
a series of contractual arrangements.

Note 2: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC laws and were
controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huanju Times.

Note 3: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC laws and were
controlled by the Group through Shanghai ChiLe. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shanghai ChiLe.

Note 4: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of this entity which was set up under PRC laws and was
controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. The Company
has 51% indirect interest in this entity.

Notes:

* The names of these subsidiaries referred to in this report
represent management’s best effort in translating the Chinese
names of the subsidiaries, as no English nhames have been
registered.

n This company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned

enterprise under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements

The regulations in Mainland China restrict foreign ownership of
companies that provide certain Internet related businesses,
which include certain activities and services operated by the
Group.

In order to enable certain foreign companies to make
investments into these businesses of the Group, the Company
controls certain subsidiaries through contractual arrangements.
In 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Wanka
Huanju entered into a series of contractual arrangements (the
“2014 Contractual Arrangements”) with Huanju Times and its
registered shareholders which were further updated in 2016
(the “2016 Contractual Arrangements”). Wanka Huanju,
Shanghai ChiLe and Shanghai ChiLe’s registered shareholders
entered into a set of contractual arrangements dated 9 March
2018, namely the ChiLe Contractual Arrangements.

In preparation for the listing of the Company on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in 2018, (i)
Wanka Huanju, Huanju Times and Huanju Times’ registered
shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements, namely the 2018 Contractual Arrangements,
which superseded and replaced the 2014 and 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and entered into force from June 2018; and (ii)
Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and Shanghai ChilLe’s
registered shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements, namely the New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, which superseded and replaced the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

The 2014 Contractual Arrangements, 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and 2018 Contractual Arrangements, ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements and New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements, have enabled the Group to conduct businesses
in the PRC in industries that are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in Mainland China, and enable Wanka Huanju to:

1) govern the financial and operating policies of Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChiLe, and their subsidiaries;

2)  exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe;

3) receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries as consideration for the business support,
technical and consulting services provided by Wanka
Huanju;

4)  obtain anirrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Huanju Times and Shanghai
ChiLe from the respective registered shareholders at a
minimum purchase price when it is permitted under laws
and regulations in Mainland China. Wanka Huanju can
exercise such options at any time until it has acquired all
equity interests of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe;

5) Obtain a pledge over the respective existing and future
equity interests, including any interest or dividend paid for
the shares, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe, to
Wanka Huanju as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment of
outstanding debts from the respective registered
shareholders.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has
rights to exercise power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe
and their subsidiaries, receives variable returns from its
involvement in Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries and is considered to control Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Company regards Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries as controlled structured entities and consolidated
the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of
the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times and its registered shareholders and the Contractual
Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and its
registered shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and are legally binding
and enforceable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 2. HmEIEL

(a) Basis of measurement and presentation (a) FIEREREF &G
currencies
The financial statements have been prepared under the ZEMBRRCRBEELERAE
historical cost convention. These financial statements are BlaRE - ZEMBHREDUAR
presented in Renminbi (“‘RMB”). All values are rounded to B TAR®E, ) B - BREA
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated. Frigsh - MBZEHNEAAZR

BEAWTAIL -

(b) Basis of consolidation (b) ESNIREE
The consolidated financial statements include the financial FREMBRREERNQERERR
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries for the BEAEE#E_S _NFE+_
year ended 31 December 2024. A=t—HIFENMBEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) that are relevant to its operations and
effective for its accounting year beginning on 1 January 2024.
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards;
Hong Kong Accounting Standards; and Interpretations. The
adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in
significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
and amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective. The application of
these new and revised HKFRSs will not have material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which itis in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in associates is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interest and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial information are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 —based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised at fair values in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.

If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.

A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Electronic devices 3years
Transportation equipment 4 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Commercial resources

Commercial resources associated with certain business
cooperation agreements with certain mobile phone
manufacturers is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
is amortised on the straight-line basis over the shorter of the
estimated economic lives and the licensed period or their
duration of the cooperation agreement with mobile phone
manufacturers, which was estimated as 3 years.

Software copyright

Software copyright is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated
useful life of 5 years. Certain software is acquired as part of
business combination of Shanghai ChiLe and Zhonghe.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Customer relationship acquired in a business combination

Customer relationship is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe has a portfolio
of customers or a market share and expects that, because of its
efforts in building customer relationship and loyalty, the
customers will continue to trade with Shanghai ChiLe. The
customer relationship is determined by an external valuer,
stated at fair value at initial recognition and less any impairment
losses subsequently, and is amortised on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of 5 years, during which benefits
will be derived from the customer relationship to the Group.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software or
other assets is capitalised only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

Group as alessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(&) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Office premises 1to 5years

(b) Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the statement of financial position.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be
of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next 12
months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group rebutted the presumption of a financial asset has
increased credit risk significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due based on the customers’ past payment history and current
ability of making payments. The Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 1 year past due. The Group rebutted the presumption of
default under ECL model for a financial asset over 90 days past
due based on the customers’ past payment history and
continuous business with the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

General approach

However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for accounts
receivable which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial
liabilities at amortised cost, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and other
payables, and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

EXERTBER (48)

TRISE (&)
BEETE (1])
REH AT B TR E

RIVETERE - SHRRTERERER
BERMNEAZBEAARGE - BRIFRGIR
FEAEXR  wZBERT - RRRAS]
R - WE KB ERAEL RIS
BERANRBHEFRBEDRES

SIEBERAR - EEWBEENEE
B R B RIERERARAT SR
NWER A - BRI REHERE AR
BRI -

Rt ERaE

TR ERREREEER - BUSE W
e LERERR -

EETFBR (B
KRBATEBEFBALTBNES
RETH (EERD ) REAEEEE
PR - IBEE - HE - 1T
TEEFSHWKRETBRMS - BARE
MARAERIER °

RERREFEN

MmaRERERMS - BERRESHE
BYERFEREEHER - URY
BERs R EA SRS  BEEZF
EBRAXEBER—REENBE=E
BrmEHRNEHERERE - 51
BRARBERKEEESTEEREEE
Z—EDRIRTTE -

MAREMBRRRMS - BERRES
B EEREAZRENFERIRE KIR
TR (HRERER ) URMTEHER
TRLNEE -

“E2TNER BmWSHERAE 127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31 December 2024

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalment or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the
grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary assets
and released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no or
at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method, as

further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial liabilities”

above. The benefit of the government loans granted with no or
at a below-market rate of interest, which is the difference
between the initial carrying value of the loans and the proceeds
received, is treated as a government grant and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The Group principally derives revenue from the rendering of
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services,
game co-publishing services and software maintenance
services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
services performed, stated net of returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

(1) Mobile advertising services

The Group provides mobile advertising services to its
customers and revenue is recognised over the period that
services are provided. Revenue from mobile advertising
services is recognised based on actual performance
measurement. The Group recognises the revenue from
the delivery of the advertising services on the following
performance measurement bases: (i) per-click when the
users click on the advertisement, (ii) per-impression when
the advertising are displayed to users; or (iii) per-
download when the third-party apps are downloaded by
users.

The Group distributes advertisements on third-party
advertising publishers’ websites or mobile publications
and evaluates whether the Group is acting as the principal
or agent in the transaction. The Group is a principal in a
transaction if the Group controls the services provided
before they are provided to customers. If control is unclear,
the Group considers whether it is primarily obligated in a
transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has latitude in
establishing prices and selecting suppliers. The Group
records revenue on a gross basis when the Group
assessed itself acting as the principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

@)

©)

Online-video distribution services

Sales of video content

The Group purchases short videos from content providers
and uploads the purchased short videos to video platforms
after integrating and optimising the videos to meet public
demand in order to attract public attention to the video
works and thereby increase the popularity of the video
platforms, and the video platforms settle the revenue to
the Group based on the number of views of the videos.

The Group acts as the principal in these arrangements and
therefore recognises revenue earned and costs incurred
related to these transactions on a gross basis.

Game co-publishing services

The Group engages in game co-publishing services
through cooperation with third-party game developers and
distribution  platforms under certain co-operation
agreements. The third-party game distribution platforms
collect the payment from players and remit the net
proceeds, after deducting the commission charged, to the
Group. In general, the portion of the proceeds received by
the Group is calculated based on the standard price of in-
game virtual currency sold and the agreed sharing ratio in
the contracts signed with third-party game distribution
platforms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

©)

Game co-publishing services (continued)

The Group recognises the game co-publishing services
on a gross or net basis depending on whether the Group
is acting as a principal or an agent in the transaction.
When the Group takes primary responsibilities of further
game development and updates, game operation,
including determining distribution platforms and payment
channels, providing customer services, hosting game
servers, if needed, and controlling game and service
specifications and pricing, the Group considers itself as a
principal in this arrangement. Accordingly, the Group
records the mobile game revenue on a gross basis and
revenue is recognised only when the in-game virtual items
are purchased and consumed by the players, and the
commission fees paid to distribution platforms and
payment channels and amortisation of license fees paid
to third party game developer (if any) are recorded as cost
of revenues. When the Group’s responsibilities are
publishing, providing payment solution and market
promotion service, the Group views game developers to
be its customers and considers itself as the agent of game
developers in the arrangements with game players.
Accordingly, the Group records the game publishing
service revenue, net of amounts paid to game developers.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(4) Software maintenance services
Software maintenance service income received or
receivable from customers with whom the Group has
entered into maintenance service contracts is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance
service contract.

Service income is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. The service mainly
represented by two types of contracts. For the service
contract relates to routine services, the Group provided
the routine work as agreed in the contract and charge a
monthly fee. The service income will be recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contract terms as the work is
performed. As the services are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer, such kind of service
income is recognised over time under HKFRS 15.

For services that are provided on ad-hoc basis (one-off
contract), service charge is entitled to the Group when the
agreed services completed. Ad-hoc services normally
completed within a few hours or a few days. Service
income is recognised upon completion of the provision of
such ad-hoc services. The Group recognised the service
income at a point in time under HKFRS 15 when the
customers obtain the control of the distinct services.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Conference service income is recognised at point in time when

the services are provided. The customer confirmed the services
by signing the acceptance confirmation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Employee benefits

@

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by either the relevant
authorities or the local municipal governments of the
provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to
contribute to the central pension scheme in respect of its
employees in Mainland China and these costs are
charged to the statements of profit or loss as incurred.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme

The Company operates two employees’ share incentive
schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
executive and non-executive directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). Pursuant to the restricted share plan (“RSU
Plan”), the restricted shares units are used as the
settlement instrument of the employee benefits in the
share-based compensation scheme, under which the
vesting condition has been fulfilment of certain service
period.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have not
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share when applicable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing
costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are
outstanding during the period, other than borrowings made
specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic environment in
which it/they operate(s) (the “functional currency”) are recorded
at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets and liabilities of
foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interest as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial
statements on the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign
operation concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial information requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual Agreements

The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal
ownership in equity interest in certain of the PRC entities
(Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries).
However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over these PRC entities,
receives variable returns from its involvement with these PRC
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over these PRC entities and is therefore considered to
have control over these PRC entities. Consequently, the
Company regards these PRC entities as controlled structured
entities and consolidated the assets, liabilities and results of
operations of these PRC entities in the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of
the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their registered shareholders are in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland
China and are legally binding and enforceable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue recognition: gross versus net

Application of various accounting principles related to the
measurement and recognition of revenue requires the Group to
make judgements and estimates. Specifically, significant
judgements are required in determining whether the Group is
acting as the principal in a transaction. The Group is a principal
in a transaction if the Group controls the services provided
before they are provided to customers. If control is unclear, the
Group has to consider whether it is primarily obligated in a
transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has latitude in
establishing prices. The Group records revenue on a gross
basis when it acts as a principal in the transaction; otherwise, it
records revenue on a net basis. The judgement of revenue
recognition on gross versus net basis is based on continuing
assessment of the above factors on a transaction basis. The
Group records revenue from mobile advertising services and
online-video services on a gross basis and reports the game co-
publishing services on a net basis.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill before impairment at 31 December
2024 was RMB32,439,000 (2023: RMB34,800,000). During the
year ended 31 December 2024, based on the impairment
assessment of goodwill, the Group recognised goodwill
impairment of RMB26,017,000 (2023: RMB2,361,000). Further
details are given in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on days past
due for groupings of various customer segments that have
similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type and customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information (i.e., gross domestic products). At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the
ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable is disclosed in Note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. FEPEH

The Group determines its operating segments based on the KEERBAEENZRSTHAE - £
reports reviewed by the executive officer of the Group, the chief BRE E%%%Eﬁﬁﬁuf’ﬁuﬂ RESHEIRER
operating decision-maker, that are used to make strategic HNRSEELENE -

decision.

The Group has four reportable and operating segments. The FEEBNESHMALENE - ARS
segments are managed separately as each business offers IEEHRHEARNRE AFBEARZE
different services and requires different business strategies. R WO HER - LTI AER
The following summary describes the operations in each of the BHENENEE .

Group’s reportable segments:

Mobile advertising services Mobile advertising service income generated from marketers by
rendering the advertising services through contents sorting and
delivery on mobile distribution channels;
EHEBERNBENBARBE DHEE
ERFBUA ;

Provision of promotion of video content by video content providers
on distribution channels;

RIBABHBRAEDHREEEREARAR |

Provision of game co-publishing services, with income generated
from mobile game users for the game-co-publishing services; and

R{EHRBHENVAETBERMERBNBBERRPE ; X

Software maintenance service income generated from service

BEEERBOE RNNESRBEMEENEEE

Online-video distribution services

S RIREm D RRIE D &

Game co-publishing services

PR BiED S
Software maintenance services

rendered.
G HERTE

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on segment revenue and
segment cost of sales of each operating segment. The selling
and distribution expenses, research and development costs
and administrative expenses are not included in the measure of
the segments’ performance which is used by management as a
basis for purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment. Other income and net gains or losses, other
expenses and losses, finance costs, share-based payment
expenses and income tax expense are also not allocated to
individual operating segments.

The revenue from external customers reported to management
is measured as segment revenue, which is the revenue derived
from the customers in each segment. Our suppliers include
smartphone manufacturers and non-smartphone manufacturer
distribution channel suppliers, primarily including third party
mobile app marketplaces and mobile news and social media
content platforms (the “Distribution Channels”). Cost of sales
primarily represents distribution expenses paid to the
Distribution Channels which amounted to RMB2,332,163,000
(2023: RMB1,797,851,000) during the year ended 31
December 2024.

TR AR TS P E E VR AERE RS UL -

%‘i@}:5%ﬁ%¥$%lxi<<‘“ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ$%§
UL ARBERD K KRBT EIORE -
BRBEDREBEZLED B D BW = E/“‘
HEMARFEME - HERDHEAS - MEAR
BITHASX AT ABEBREE RS AR
BAGEENDHRIEFE - HttA KRS
B - HitFXREIE - MBRA - URD
RERNURAEMESRASNAE SR
EERIEEDES

H%@Ff%ﬁﬁ’ﬁbﬁﬂﬁﬁuﬁl ST 2/ 7D B
- %Xﬁ%ﬁgﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁuﬂl > AR LI
Péﬁ EEEFHRREBAIFEEFHRRED

DIHEREHER (FEQESE=ABEER
EFmEAREFEEATSERAZTYS)
( THHEE, ) - HERATEEEHE

E$+ B=T—HLEEEXZNFHE
mﬁaﬁ THEHBBEY  2EA AR
2,332,163,000 7t ( _E_=%F : AR
1,797,851,000 7 ) °
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other information, together with the segment information,
provided to management, is measured in a manner consistent
with that applied in the consolidated financial statements. There
are no separate segment assets and segment liabilities
information provided to management, as management does not
use this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.

The segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MIEERRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

6. SFEMEH (&)
mEEERHENEMERERDEER
EREGREMBREMERAE BN
‘t:ﬁri Wik SR ERHEBNDE

ERDEREERR  HEEBTARE
ﬁﬁuZ%} SR DB ERN TG EEDER
iR -

MEE_E_NEFR_B_=F1+"1
=tT—HIEFENSBWEMT :

2024 2023
—BmE E°=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Fr ABR#EFT

Type of goods or services: Bl AR FS RV EREY
Mobile advertising services income BEESRBWA 2,563,730 1,997,751
Online-video distribution services income PR RIEE R D BRFEWA 20,108 56,583
Game co-publishing services income IR E RS 6,529 4,314
Software maintenance services income AR TS UL 36,904 39,572
Total revenue from contracts with customers =ZEPERNRENRE 2,627,271 2,098,220

The analysis of revenue of the Group presented below is
disaggregated by the timing of revenue, based on whether
revenue is recognised on a point in time and over time basis.
Revenue is recognised on over time basis as the Group’s
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

NXPEINWAREBRWE 2RI E

FEJ (REBEWE zzéht%@ﬁ#%&l&ﬁﬁ'%ﬁ
nlu\ ) /\JrE LISZ BLH‘IF?EEWU J?.Z%$$.
NEPRAEERBARRRES KBRS
EEAFRHENAE -

2024 2023
1 - — = S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARB#TFT

Timing of revenue recognition: W R TR O
Services transferred at a point in time R BRI EENR 20,108 56,583
Services transferred over time I P ) 22 ) AR 75 2,607,163 2,041,637
Total revenue from contracts with customers EPERNRANRE 2,627,271 2,098,220

The Group usually grants a credit period of 30-90 days to its
customers and recognises the revenue from the delivery of the
advertising services on the following performance
measurement bases: (i) per-click when the users click on the
advertisement, (ii) per-impression when the advertising are
displayed to users; or (iii) per-download when the third-party
apps are downloaded by users. There is no obligation for
refunds or other guarantees.
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6.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment results for the years ended 31 December 2024

and 2023 are as follows:

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

6. SEREH (#)
BE_ B NER_B_=F+_A=
+—BLLEE S EBEENT

Mobile  Online-video Game Software
advertising ~ distribution  co-publishing maintenance
services services services services Total
nEREER
BRESEE  SURE  BRNERE s &t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEETRT AREBTR  ARETR AEETR AEETR
For the year ended BE_BNF
31 December 2024 +ZR=t-HL%E
Segment revenue AEE 2,563,730 20,108 6,529 36,904 2,627,271
Segment cost of sales PRHERE (2,340,681) (20,382) - (32,170) (2,393,233)
Segment results NEEE 223,049 (274) 6,529 4,734 234,038
Other income and net gains or losses EfI A K285 8,496
Selling and distribution expenses  HERHHHER (32,113)
Research and development costs ~ HEH A& (92,939)
Reversal of impairment loss TR 2Bl BB )
on accounts receivable 1,528
Impairment loss on goodwil BEREEE (26,017)
Administrative expenses TR (51,163)
Other expenses and losses HEtRREE (9,857)
Finance costs FBRE (14,561)
Share of loss in an associate AM-BHELTBE (1,000)
Profit before tax BRiAl AR 16,412

“ETNFH BMSHERAR
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e MIEERRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. SIEPEH (&)

Mabile Online-video Game Software
advertising distribution  co-publishing maintenance
services services services Services Total
BRRRER

HEEERE PERE EREERE RIHEERS it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFR ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR

For the year ended BE B -F
31 December 2023 +-RA=t-HI#

Segment revenue NEWE 1,997,751 56,583 4314 39,572 2,098,220

Segment cost of sales PRHERE (1,804,741) (39,024) - (31,187) (1,874,952)

Segment results PHEE 193,010 17,559 4,314 8,385 223,268

Other income and net gains or lossesE I A RiF 85 17,153

Selling and distribution expenses  HERHHHER (25,751)

Research and development costs ~ HEH & (80,660)

Impairment loss on accounts R EEE

receivable (18,973)

Impairment loss on goodwill BEREER (2.361)

Administrative expenses TREX (50,385)

Other expenses and losses HtRZREE (5,976)

Share-based payment expenses  LIRGBERNANTES (8,149)

Finance costs FBRE (10,009)

Share of loss in an associate AMHELTEE (3,545)

Profit before ta BRRATER 34,612
The Group has no major customers which contributed more than NEFBTESERE_E_NEF B —F+
10% of the total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2024 T H=1T—HIIFEEEBIBEANZE 10%H

and 2023.

The Group principally operates in Mainland China. Revenue
derived from Mainland China represents 99.00% (2023: 99.99%)
of total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 based on
the location of services delivered. During the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, breakdown of the total revenue and
non-current assets by geographical location are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEREE (&)
Revenue Non-current assets*
1473 ERENEE"

2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECME 2T =F “BCME —TBC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®TR AREFTR AR®TT
Mainland China o [ A e 2,594,920 2,097,978 38,430 63,338
Other countries/regions E B R A ith & 32,351 242 62 25,426
2,627,271 2,098,220 38,492 88,764

* The non-current assets information above is based on the * LiSERENE EE R EREBRIELERFRS
locations of the assets excluding deferred tax assets and REENEMTBLSMNIBEEMEE D
financial instruments. iy -

7. REVENUE 7.

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the
income from its principal activities. Revenue recognised
during the year are as follows:

Wsa

WA (MEIAEEZRE ) BFREEE
BEBHWA - REAERIW=AT -

2024 2023
o= S 11 2 5 BT =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AE#EFT

Revenue from contracts with customers BEMEMEEASE 15 REE

within the scope of HKFRS 15: AREEFEHINE

Mobile advertising services income BEESRBEWA 2,563,730 1,997,751
Online-video distribution services income PERIEERD BERBEWA 20,108 56,583
Game co-publishing services income U SAEFEY LT N 6,529 4,314
Software maintenance services income B RR TS A 36,904 39,572
2,627,271 2,098,220

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by RINFER BB REZE P& IR

the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in Note 6. FE6IE -

The following table provides information about accounts TEREHEWRIALREEFEANEGNEBENE
receivable and contract liabilities from contracts with e

customers.

2024 2023

=12 3 S

RMB’000 RMB'O(&)

AREFr AEBFT

Accounts receivable (Note 22) FEWRRFR ( PfiEE 22) 837,923 680,764
Contract liabilities (Note 27) BREE (MEE27) 36,608 21,990
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e MIEERRME

—EME+_A=+-A
31 December 2024

8.

OTHER INCOME AND NET GAINS OR 8. HEfthg\MiEiES
LOSSES
An analysis of other income and net gains or losses is as HWARFEBm2TOT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
—ENE “BT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tr AR#FT
Other income from contracts with customers, HEEBMERSER
within the scope of HKFRS 15: F IS RBEELEHIN
HMRA :
Conference service income, net (Note (a)) ZERBUWAZFE (MEE@Q)) 7,162 5,880
Bank interest income RITFI WA 1,564 1,714
Government grants (Note (b)) ERIHERE (BiEE(b) ) 206 722
Additional deduction for value added EEFRZEINDRE (FIEE(D) )
tax (Note (b)) - 8,562
Others Hith (436) 275
1,334 11,273
8,496 17,153
Notes: PEE -
(a)  Allthe conference service income of the Group is recognised at a (@) AEBFEZZERBUABLRESSE
point in time as those services are provided under HKFRS 15. R EERE+T AR EREET
T -
(b)  The Group recognises the government grants when it fulfils all the (b) AFEEREERMEBEZERRARE

conditions specified in the relevant law and regulations. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the government grants
include subsidies from the local government of approximately
RMB206,000 (2023: RMB722,000) and additional deduction of
value added tax from the PRC government of nil (2023:

RMBS8,562,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. FR¥RAIEF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging: AEBMBRRAANCHRUTRIEERS
5ol
2024 2023
= 111 - 3 “EBC=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT

Cost of services, including: RFERA - B35 - 2,393,233 1,874,952
— Advertising publishers’ platform or website - BERHEN

S R=EE ) 2,332,163 1,797,851

— Video content providers - RIBABHIEDS 20,099 37,465

— Maintenance support - HESE 30,593 24,268

Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 11,053 10,492

Auditor's remuneration ZEIENEN & 1,800 1,800

Lease payments not included in the FTEHEa BRI

measurement of lease liabilities RETAMBEENT 505 351

Employee benefit expenses EERINESZ (FABEES

(excluding directors’ and chief REZETHABEREM

executive’s remuneration (Note 11)): (PEE212) )

Wages and salaries” TERHS" 65,839 66,858

Pension scheme contributions™ EBREFTEIHZY 9,114 6,918

Share-based payment expenses MR BERNN RS - 8,149
74,953 81,925

" Wages and salaries (excluding director's and chief executive’s " TERF® (FAERBESREETH
remuneration) amounting to RMB5,717,000, RMB13,321,000, ANEREB ) AK® 5,717,000 JT *
RMB31,481,000 and RMB15,320,000 are included in “Cost of A K # 13,321,000 75 - A K &
sales”, “Selling and distribution expenses”’, “Research and 31,481,000 7t & A K# 15,320,000 75
development costs” and “Administrative expenses” respectively DEETAGERBTZRAN THEMR
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. X, "HER HEHASZ, - THE

AL R TTEMEZ, T -

" At 31 December 2024, the Group had no forfeited contributions " RIE_NFE+_A=+—H &&
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in B &L BRI E R K
future years (2023: Nil). REEFHRARFENHER (2=

FE) -
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e MIEERRME

—EME+_A=+-A
31 December 2024

10. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

10. BAFSRLE
BB AN W T
2024 2023
—EMF —EC=H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Interest on bank borrowings RTBEFFE 13,810 8,938
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 17) EEHEEENAE (FHEE17) 751 1,071
14,561 10,009

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

11. EERERITHASRIFHRE

RIE EHARA - FEATRAISE 383(1)
(@ (b) OROETKRLE (KEES
NZERL ) RO 2 BIRBNAFEE
ERESTHRABFHFMOT :

2024 2023
—E" M . S——
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETRT

Fees: s

Directors 5= 555 540

Other emoluments: HitE< -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUMABYAE 5,453 5,041

Share-based payment expenses DU BERN TR - 153

Pension scheme contributions BIREE BB 558 755
6,011 5,949
6,566 6,489
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AR T RERIEE

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EENREETBA SA9FEN
REMUNERATION (continued) (48)
(&) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIZAEENVTESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRSINFEIFENTESNIE
during the year were as follows: SUWTF :

Mr. Chen Baoguo PREE L S 185 180
Mr. Yu Limin FHNEREE 185 180
Mr. Jin Yongsheng EXRERE 185 180

555 540

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FERNNEENTEUIEFRNTESHNEMS

non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil). _EBE-FE)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) WITESR. IENTESENRES
and the chief executive THRAE
Year ended 31 December 2024 gE—_T-NE+-B=+—H
LLEFE

Executive directors: HTES .
Mr. Gao Dinan BEBLE - 1,773 - 101 1,874
Mr. Nie Xin BELE - 720 - 143 863
Ms. Jiang Yu BFLL - 1,400 - 154 1,554
Mr. Yu Dingyi" FT—%%" - 1,560 - 160 1,720

- 5,453 - 558 6,011
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e MIEERRME

—EME+_A=+-A
31 December 2024

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and
the chief executive (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023

11. EFFEK

(%)

| = —4

BRi=1

T ERIFEN

(b) BITER. IEHITEFRES
THAE ()
8@E"F"=F+"HA=1+—H

ILEFE
Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses  contributions remuneration
e, 2 LURHBER Bife
e  REWANE SIRENERS AR FEes
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AE#EFRT  AR®TR AE#ETRT AR®TR AR®TR
Executive directors: RITES
Mr. Gao Dinan BEERE - 1,754 - 140 1,894
Mr. Nie Xin BELE - 720 - 209 929
Ms. Jiang Yu Byt - 1,080 153 200 1,433
Mr. Yu Dingyit TT—%4%! - 760 - 101 861
Non-executive director: FHTES .
Mr. Zheng Wei2 Bt 2 - 727 - 105 832
- 5,041 153 755 5,949
1. Mr. Yu Dingyi was appointed as an executive director of the 1. TFTT—%ER”"E_=%F+A
Company with effect from 19 July 2023. +HEHEZEAAATHNTE
$ °
2. Mr. Zheng Wei was resigned as a non-executive director of 2. BEEERIBI-FLH+

the Company with effect from 19 July 2023.
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eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b)

11. EBEREETBA SR9FEN
(#8)

WTES. IETEERES

and the chief executive (continued)

In prior years, RSU units were granted to directors and
the chief executive of the Group, under the share
incentive plan of the Company, further details of which are

set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The fair value of these RSU, which has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the
vesting periods, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the consolidated financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration
disclosures.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company
or its subsidiaries. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

No performance related incentive payments were
determined and paid to any of the directors and chief
executive or to any of the five highest paid individuals set
out in Note 12 below for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

There were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to
the directors and chief executive or any of the five highest
paid individuals set out in Note 12 below as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company or the
Group as a compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).

THAS (&)
RBEFE - REXATRKRN
HEEE - TEBEERESTT
BRABEZRZREIKROEL - H
E—DEF BN GG M RERM
7t 30 - MEZRH ROV AFE
EREBHNERGERRE
o IRBHHBEEERASE
EHRaMBERRARNERCSE
ABIAESZE R ESTHRABNN
Hb R E P -

EHFAIRATESZMEEER
REMEBRRNQIRAEESEH
R EREE 2 - LitFrRIE
WTESZMEETEREMEL
KRR EMBATESRIEMH
¥ 2 - LI FrRBIIIEH
TESZMEXTERRSE/MEL
RRTESFHEHRRE Z £ -

REBE_E_NFEF+-_HA=1—
HIEFE  #iEREEROETE
SEREZTHABSE T XHMEE
12 AR ESHMES TR
BHBRARTR (T _=F .

") -

REBEWREESY F M 12
e h B &S EE ST~
MRFIE - ERESIMARAE
YAREENMARNERNAER
MEBAIEE -

FR - BEEFARSTHRAR

7] X B SR B R I # By
ZH( B =F . 8]&) -
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e MIEERRME

—EME+_A=+-A
31 December 2024

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12. AREEFHMALT

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
include three directors (2023: two), details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 11 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: three)
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

FR - rEEAERRSHFMALERE=
BEE (B =F . Wm&)  H#FmM
FHBEEN XM 11 - FREBRTME
(ZB=F . =8 ) sHFMAL
(TR RBESARSTHRAR ) B
BT

2024 2023

1 - S = S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR ARBEFT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #& R REYFZR 2,067 1,347
Share-based payment expenses (Note) IR RERNNTFES (ME) - 5,982
Pension scheme contributions BARSE AR 288 521
2,355 7,850

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

FESRIFERSTHABNESHFMA LR
FEUIR LT EREIAZNT

Number of employees

[EEAH
2024 2023
—EMF =%
Nil to HK$2,000,000 Z % 2,000,000 &1 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 /&7 % 2,500,000 /& 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 j&75E 3,000,000 /& 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 /&75 £ 4,000,000 /& 7T - 1
2 3

Note:

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were granted to these
highest paid individuals of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share incentive plan of the Company, further details of
which are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
The fair values of these RSU units, which are used as the basis for
recognition of the share-based payment expense in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the vesting periods, were determined as
at the date of grant and the amount of share-based payment expense
recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the current year
is included in the above highest paid individuals’ remuneration
disclosures and in the directors’ remuneration disclosures in Note 11.
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13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
income tax expense of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 comprised current tax expense
related to the Group’s operations in Mainland China and
deferred tax expense or income.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in Mainland China was calculated at the tax rate of
25% on the estimated assessable profits for the periods, if
applicable, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practice in respect thereof, except for the following three PRC
subsidiaries (2023: four), which are entitled to preferential tax
treatment of 15% for three years upon grant of the certificates
as they are qualified as “high and new technology enterprise
(“HNTE")"

Huanju Times ("BIE A XEBE(IER)BRAE") has
obtained the certificate of HNTE effective from 2 December
2019, and was registered with the local tax authority to be
eligible for a concessionary tax rate of 15% for three years from
2019 to 2021. The certificate of HNTE was then renewed on 2
November 2022, and the eligibility of the concessionary tax rate
of 15% was extended to 2024.

Wanka Huanju (“ItME R EBEE(IER)BRAQE") has
obtained the certificate of HNTE effective from 30 November
2023, and was registered with the local tax authority to be
eligible for a concessionary tax rate of 15% for three years from
2023 to 2025.

Hui Times Information Technology Service (Jilin) Co., Ltd. (‘&
S BT AR5 (S 70) A R /2S)") has obtained the certificate
of HNTE effective from 29 December 2022, and was registered
with the local tax authority to be eligible for a concessionary tax
rate of 15% for three years from 2022 to 2024.

13.
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31 December 2024
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“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 13. FFifSHRA> (4B
2024 2023
ZBINE C"S°=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Fr AR#FTT
Current — Mainland China BIHR — cpERA B
Charge for the year FARY 8,406 14,535
Deferred tax expense/(credit) LR IESZ B/ %R) 414 (1,919)
Total tax charge for the year FANRIEMS A% 8,820 12,616

A reconciliation of the tax expense or income applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to
the tax expense at the effective tax rates are as follows:

BARTREREIMBASKEERE
SAERIAEM R ENRR AT S

RERMIAR S S WA REERINT

2024 2023
- ol 111 - —_EC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr AR#FT
Profit before tax BRAR AL A 16,412 34,612
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) RETERE (25%) 4,103 8,653
Effect of lower tax rates for ERZEEERWEBZMNER
subsidiaries entitled to preferential SVRERMENTE
tax treatment (5,716) (5,048)
Effect of different tax rates in different FEEEEBRARRENTE
jurisdictions 3,025 2,372
Expenses not deductible for tax AORAISIZNEH 4,414 603
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERNRIEEBEEZE 2,994 6,036
Tax charge at the Group’s BRAEEBRMETEN
effective tax rate RIERST 8,820 12,616
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14.

15.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for the
year is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 1,504,792,719 (2023: 1,491,991,021) in issue
excluding the treasury shares in respect of RSUs which had not
transferred to employees.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume the exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares in
respect of RSUs granted which had not fully vested.

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

14. B2

15.

APAFREBEBRNE+"H=+—
HIEFERBERNRNEREARE (Z
B=FE) -

FREEEEGEFEAEM
SiRER

B8 ﬁzsﬁ%U%iﬁﬂﬂﬁAxﬁﬁmﬂ
wE ANREWHLHEA? %uu&
1,504,792,719 & ( _i::

1,491,991,021 & ) BBTEBER ( K
BIEFAMATERBISRHEIRM,DE
IMEERD ) OIIEFEEMmMES -

BREESRN T BBRERTEINS
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31 December 2024

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 15. R EEBERIFSEAREMN
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE SIREBH (8)
COMPANY (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are EREAREBEERFWESEDERMT
based on: ElE
2024 2023
—EomE 3 -E
Profit for the year attributable to owners of HAEEREAREERNIBHA
the Company used in the basic and diluted earnings per WAREHEBAEEERS
share calculation (RMB'000) M(AREFT) 2,267 15,488
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during SAEERELRAERANER
the year used in the basic earmnings per share calculation ERTEBRRNMETHY 1,504,792,719 1,491,991,021
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of HEYE - TRRMMETY
ordinary shares: 8.
RSUs SRHRHENM 20,950,631 33,752,329

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during HAEEREERNERANER

the year used in the diluted earnings per share calculation ERTERRNMETIIY 1,525,743 350 1,525,743,350
2024 2023
= 112 BC=F
Basic earnings per share BREXRA
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (MEBRAREDSITR) 0.15 1.04
Diluted earnings per share BREERERN
(expressed in RMB cents per share) (MEBRAREDSITR) 0.15 1.02
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eI EHRRME
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥I5R. WA=

Electronic Transportation Leasehold
devices equipment improvements Total
7RI EnE HEmREKE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR&TRT
Cost %N
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=-%—H-H 2,697 1,275 1,301 5,273
Additions nE 318 - 112 430
Disposal HE @ - - @)
Exchange gain ML &R 3 - - 3
ATET=
At 31 December 2023 +_HA=1+—H 3,011 1,275 1,413 5,699
Additions nE 2,395 442 18 2,855
Disposal HE (268) - (29) (297)
Exchange realignment b 52 I 22 (4 - - (4)
R_E_IF
At 31 December 2024 +_H=1—H 5,134 1,717 1,402 8,253
Accumulated depreciation ZHEHRE
At 1 January 2023 R_EB_=—F—F—H 1,963 1,023 222 3,208
Depreciation nE 308 79 465 852
Disposal HE (6) - - (6)
Exchange realignment b 52 22 3 - - 3
R_E_=
At 31 December 2023 +_HA=1+—H 2,268 1,102 687 4,057
Depreciation nE 317 149 480 946
Disposal HE (250) - @) (257)
Exchange realignment B 52 A 22 (1) - - (1)
RIBZNE
At 31 December 2024 +_HA=1—H 2,334 1,251 1,160 4,745
Net book value IREEE
RZBZNEF
At 31 December 2024 +-RA=1—H 2,800 466 242 3,508
RZB_=
At 31 December 2023 +-A=+—H 743 173 726 1,642

“E2TNER BmWMSHERAE 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MIEERRME
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17. LEASES

The Group as alessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its
operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease
terms of between 1 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group. There is no lease contract that includes
extension and termination options and variable lease payments.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

17.

HE

FEEERFHEA
FEBEREZEXEZERPLZYEM
RIUEEGH - WAEYENHEER
FABE—E2LFENHEY - —RmE - A%
BEERAEELDSMNEEROHEEEEE
HEZRE - BEEESHOERITEHR
RIBEZERCSEENT -

(a) EREEEE
FA - AEENEREZEENIR
EERZEWMT

Office premises

/N ES

RMB’000

AR#Fr

At 1 January 2023 R_E_=%—HF—H 10,188
Additions NE 7,848
Depreciation charge TERZ (7,087)
Exchange realignment [E AR )
At 31 December 2023 BT =F+"HB=+—H 10,947
Additions ﬁ]ﬁ% 5,442
Derecognition of lease THELIETAIA (303)
Depreciation charge MERX (8,740)
Exchange adjustment (R 1
At 31 December 2024 RZE_MNFE+-"HA=1—H 7,347
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

17. & (&)
AEEWERFRHBEA (&)

Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the TR HESEWREERES
movements during the year are as follows: mr
Lease liabilities
HES(E
RMB’000
AR#Fr
At 1 January 2023 RIBE_=f¢—HF—H 12,319
New leases WHE 7,848
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ ERERIFBIEE 1,071
Payments B (8,962)
Exchange realignment PEST AR 1
At 31 December 2023 R_B_=—F+"H=1t—H 12,277
New leases WHE 5,442
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ~ ERERHFBIEE 751
Payments NE: (10,944)
Derecognition of lease MELITER (319)
Exchange realignment PEST A 14
At 31 December 2024 RI2ZNE+"H=+—H 7,221
2024 2023
k- ol 111 - B =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFT
Analysed into DR
Current portion BNHAEE 4,623 8,514
Non-current portion FERNEAEE 2,598 3,763
7,221 12,277
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note ERBEIBITRGEEHIFWE
37(c) to the consolidated financial statements. FisE 37(c)IHE -
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied BAREERENMEFIORE

to lease liabilities is 5.57% (2023: 7.24%).

BRAEE 557% ( _F_=
F:7.24%)
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17. LEASES (continued) 17. HHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEWESFRIBA (&)
(c) Theamounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) THEMEEIERERNESEENT
leases are as follows:
2024 2023
—BE B =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETR AR®Tw
Interest on lease liabilities HEEBANR 751 1,071
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEERERY 8,740 7,087
Expense relating to short-term leases and £gHiEREARTHE
other leases with remaining lease terms ~ HE S BRI 159 186
Expense relating to leases of HEBEEENE
low-value assets BAENRS 346 165
Total amount recognised in profit or loss ~ RBm AR EZE 9,996 8,509
The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was TENFHENIREREAEAEAR
RMB11,449,000 (2023: RMB9,313,000). # 11,449,000 TG (ZB-=F : AR
#£ 9,313,000 75 ) °
18. GOODWILL 18. @8
2024 2023
- 11 - S — S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#SFr ARETT
As at 1 January K—A—H 32,439 34,800
Impairment HE (26,017) (2,361)
As at 31 December R+ZH=1—H 6,422 32,439
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (the “CGU”), each of
which represented the whole of the respective reportable and
operating segment, for impairment testing:

. Online-video distribution CGU; and

. Software maintenance services CGU.

The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount
of goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations.
The use of this method requires the estimation of future cash
flows and the determination of a discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of the cash flows.

Online-video distribution CGU

During the year, online-video distribution CGU experienced
delay in collection of the receivables from the video platforms
and reduction in revenue from these customers. The
recoverable amount of the online-video distribution CGU has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period to 31 December 2029 approved by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 16% (2023: 18%) per annum. The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the online-video
distribution CGU beyond the five-year period is 2% (2023: 2%)
per annum. The directors of the Company believe that this
growth rate is reasonable taking into account the future
uncertainty of the global macro economy and market.

eI EHRRME
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Software maintenance services CGU

The recoverable amount of the software maintenance services
CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period to 31 December 2029 approved by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 13% (2023: 20%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the software maintenance services
CGU beyond the five-year period is 3% (2023: 2%). The
directors of the Company believe that this growth rate is
reasonable taking into account the future uncertainty of the

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MIEERRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

BmE (&)

EERERE (&)

R HEERIFIREEEEM
REEERFRSEEENNIWES
%Bﬁ#ﬁ%m=mgﬂfm&m%$
HELFERBZE_E_NFE+_A=7
—E%ﬁﬁ:%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%@
AEEETE dERRRESRSTEINR
AR ERA 13 (8- =% :
20% ) - ARHEERHEEREIREE
SEMNOFHRERRESRENFEER
B 3%(CEBE_=F:2%) ARTES
Ry ERIZIKREBLHERHISHAR

global macro economy and market. RATEEY  ZIERXEEHE -
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the CGUs NEESREEEEMNHEREEN
are as follows: T
2024 2023
- 111 - —_E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Online-video distribution PR REERDR - 26,017
Software maintenance services NG ERFIRSESEN 6,422 6,422
6,422 32,439
The recoverable amount of the goodwill belonging to each of the BRERIZIIRESELENZBHENTIRD

CGUs are as follows:

—  Online-video distribution: There is a shortfall between the
carrying amount of the CGU and its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
RMB26,017,000 (2023: RMB2,361,000) was recognised
in the consolidation statement of profit or loss as
impairment losses during the year ended 31 December
2024; and

- Software maintenance services: Recoverable amount of
the CGU was higher than its carrying amount, hence no
impairment loss was recognised during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
CGUs. The following describes each of the key assumptions on
which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rates — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
market assessments of the time value and the specific risks
relating to the industry.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine the
revenue growth rates in the five-year forecast period are the
historical data of the CGU, management’s expectation of the
future market and the average growth rate achieved by
comparable companies. Growth rates beyond the first five years
are based on economic data pertaining to the region concerned.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved
in the year immediately before the budget year, adjusted for
expected efficiency improvements, and expected market
development.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the above CGU and discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group appointed
CHFT Advisory and Appraisal Ltd., an independent professional
qualified valuers, to assist the management on carrying out
relevant assessment works on the impairment assessment of
goodwill related to the software maintenance services CGU.

Any change in the assumptions selected by management could
materially affect the value in use calculations used in the
impairment testing and therefore may result in an impairment
charge to profit or loss.

18.
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e MIEERRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19. EftiEREE

Commercial Software  Customer
resources copyright relationship Total
[ZES = RiRE  EFRR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Cost D%
At 1 January 2023 R_BE_=F—H—H 20,152 12,920 25,000 58,072
At 31 December 2023 and 2024 R_E_=FRK_ZF_Y
F+_HA=1+—H 20,152 12,920 25,000 58,072
Accumulated amortisation and ~ BFHEHRRE
impairment
At 1 January 2023 R _E_=%—F—H 20,152 6,873 24,041 51,066
Amortisation iy - 1,594 959 2,553
At 31 December 2023 RTET=F
+_A=+—H 20,152 8,467 25,000 53,619
Amortisation iy - 1,367 - 1,367
At 31 December 2024 _ENE
+_B=1+—H 20,152 9,834 25,000 54,986
Net book value IREFE
At 31 December 2024 = E
+_A=+—H - 3,086 - 3,086
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=
+_A=+—H - 4,453 - 4,453
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

20. RIEXTINNIRE

2024 2023
—EmE EC=HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AR#FTT

Interest in associates at beginning of FURBELTNER
the year - 1,115
Addition (Note 1) B0 (PEEL) 13,000 2,430
Share of loss in an associate (Note 2) AME—EBE A SR M 2) (1,000) (3,545)
12,000 -

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Name

=4

Wanxin Chelian
Technology (Shen
Zhen) Co., Limited
(“Wanxin Chelian”)

BEEHRE (&)
AIRRT

( "BiEER, )

Beijing Yijiangingxin

Technology Co., Ltd.

(Note 3) (“Beijing

Yijiangingxin”)
IEREREORIRAR

~E) (MIEE3)

( TIERBRED, )

Place of
incorporation
and business

Particulars of
registered
share capital

afitRkiz
AEMBRAEE  REREHES
RMB89,639,000 PRC/

Mainland China

N
89,639,000 7T

hE/h B AR

PRC/
Mainland China

RMB1,000,000

N
1,000,000 7t

hE/h B AR

BEASNEBROT

Percentage of
Ownership interest
attributable to the Group

FEEEN
RN
2024 2023
—BF =%
49% 49%
49% 49%
13%
13%

Principal
activity

EERHE

Internet of innovation of
vehicle business

AEBRI B AR

Science and
technology
promotion and
application service

R kR R RES

“ETNFH BMSHERAR
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e MIEERRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REtEATNNIRE (&)
Summarised financial information in respect of Beijing TNABIERBREONHBERSE
Yijiangingxin  below represents amounts prepared in RIREEEBUBRSEARHINTEE -

accordance with HKFRSs.

2024

o 112 3

RMB’000

AR¥Tr

Current assets MEEE 8,467

Current liabilities Py (6,536)

Net assets FEE 1,931

2024

—ENF

RMB’000

AR¥Fr

Revenue W s 5,844

Loss and total comprehensive loss for FABBREHBERE

the year (9,646)
The Company considers that its interest in Wanxi Chelian is ANERBERBEERNEREAE
immaterial to the Group. The carrying amount of the interest in B AEKX - 2R E’JEFE1§&$%I
Wanxi Chelian and the amount of the Group's share of the total EhHETHEERARBEDAIAARBE T
comprehensive loss are RMB nil (2023: RMB nil) and (ZEB=F: \REEx) RARE
RMB1,000,000 (2023: RMB3,545,000) respectively. 1,000,000 7T ( _E_=%F : AR#

3,545,000 75 ) -
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20. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

21.

@

@

(©)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
completed the acquisition of the equity interest in Beijing
Yijiangingxin. The investment costs of RMB12,000,000 was
recorded as interest in associates on the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, upon additional paid-
up capital contribution being made by each shareholder of
Wanxin Chelian, the Group has made an addition capital injection
of RMB1,000,000 (2023: RMB2,430,000) into Wanxin Chelian
and the Group’s equity interest in Wanxin Chelian remains
unchanged.

As the Group has completed the acquisition of the equity interest
in Beijing Yijiangingxin on 27 December 2024. The Company
considers that Beijing Yijiangingxin had only incurred insignificant
profit or loss from the date of acquisition to the year end date,
and hence, the Group did not share relevant profit or loss for
Beijing Yijianqingxin for the year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s share of
loss in Wanxin Chelian amounted to RMB1,000,000 (2023:
RMB3,545,000). As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, since the
share of loss exceeds its additional paid-up share in Wanxin
Chelian during the respective years, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of future loss.

The Group is able to exercise significant influence in Beijing
Yijiangingxin because it has the power to appoint one out of three
directors under its constitutional documents.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as
follows:

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

0. REEQRRNRE (&

PRYEE -

@

@

®

HE_Z_NF+_RB=*+—HLEFE
AEBEETHWBIERIEREONKE -
REMAANRE 12,000,000 ;TE_ZF "N
FE+_A=1T—HHNREMBRRERPIE
RBENTEBRAIR -

BHE_S_ME+-AS+—BIER

BiEHE ymﬁﬁﬁwmﬂé%;#ﬁw 5% - $
EEEODBEEERBENTEARE
1,000,000 7T ( fgiii AR
2,430,000 7T ) - MAEERBEHERK &
A -

HRAEEER _E_NE+"/F "+t

AEmWBIERIEREOKRE - XAT
B :lt?ah%ﬂﬁu@”ﬁlﬁ%ZEliiﬁi“
EIHHJJ:EFf%ﬁEHPFE KB &=
CAEBRASBELERBRBELEE
ZEE-?—fﬁ_-i— EIJJ:EJ*E’MHE‘;HE

m

BE_Z_NE+_A=1+—HLEEE "
ZK%IEAF%T“E TNBENESARE
1,000000 7T ( Z B2 =F: AR#
3,545,000 7T ) - #HE_Z_MER_ZF_
—Ft_A=1t—H HEBEBRNHEBAHE
REEEHEREENEIEHDE - &
EEABERRRERNE -

ARAEERBEREGRBEONERER
XHEEEE=RESFPN - BAEE
EREAHIERIGRBLOREEATESN -

21. Eﬁﬂﬁlﬁ

BEREEEREBNEFHMT

Deferred tax assets IREIRIBEE
2024
—ETmE
Provision
Right-of- Lease on accounts
use assets liabilities  receivables Total
EREESE HERE BWERSERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
AR®Tr ARETR AR¥TR ARET®
At 1 January 2024 A_E_NFE-A-H (2,423) 2,751 13,389 13,717
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor ~ ERIMRE/(GTA)E
loss during the year = ELERIE 826 (1,196) (382) (752)
Gross deferred tax assets at R_E_NMFE+_A=
31 December 2024 T-HNELEREE
ERE (1,597) 1,555 13,007 12,965
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AR AT ERERIMEE

“ENE+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21. JEIEIRIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities IEERRIEE(E

At 1 January 2024 RZE_NFE—HF—H 1,098
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFTABRELERIE

loss during the year (338)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZE_NE+_/F=+—H®

31 December 2024 EERIEEERE 760
Deferred tax assets IBERIEEE

At 1 January 2023 R_E_=%5—F—H (2,559) 3,091 11,603 12,135
Deferred tax credited /(charged) to profitor ~ EREtA/ (HKRA ) 8
loss during the year =HIEERIE 136 (340) 1,786 1,582
Gross deferred tax assets at RIE_=f+_A=
31 December 2023 T—-HNEZRIES
% (2423) 2,751 13389 13,717
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21. VEFEIRIA (4 )
Deferred tax liabilities IRERIBG(S
2023
3 =F
Intangible assets
RMB’000
ANEEFT
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—HF—H 1,435
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFTABRVIELERIE
loss during the year (337)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R_E_=F+_B=1+—H#W
31 December 2023 EERRIESE4RER 1,098
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MERNS  BTFEEREEENEE
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of ERESHBIRIEIRE - TIAKRE
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred BEIEERIBLEHRO T - MERFERIRE
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes: B
2024 2023
—SNEF —FT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETRT

Deferred tax assets recognised in the ,wéﬁﬁ“#ﬂ%ﬁ&% 50

consolidated statement of financial EERIBEE

position 12,965 13,717
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERS MBI RERH

consolidated statement of financial EERIBEEE

position (760) (1,098)
Net deferred tax assets ELERIEE &5 12,205 12,619
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21. JERERIE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The Group has tax losses of RMB51,901,000 (2023:
RMB44,132,000) that are available for offsetting against its
future taxable profits as at 31 December 2024. All of these
losses have arisen in Mainland China, and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period of
five years of the companies in which the losses arose.

Among which, tax losses of RMB51,901,000 (2023:
RMB44,132,000) have not been recognised as at 31 December
2024 as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008 if any.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB58,550,000 at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB48,038,000).
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RERIBEEE (8)
RIE_NME+"_A=+—H  &&£E
BB R R ERT SN NRIERE
AE#E 51,901,000 7t ( B _=%F:
ANE# 44,132,000 75 ) ° FIAZSEE
BIRBEPEARE - OIEHEESEEN
NERZ D FRENARIRERR SR -

Hop RZIZBZNE+_RA=+—H"
TWEERRIEEFEE AR 51,901,000
7T (ZF_=%F: AR® 44,132,000
7T) - ARZEBRNBEEERERS
BE-BREENMEASIMES - BEA
Ao gEBRRB S o BRI AR
B’

IRIBPEIEEFASTE - ROPEIRRER
UM IREEEOINEIREEE KR
RAFHW 10%EHR - BERES
EEN\F-F—HEBEERLBBHAR_ZF
@atfﬁﬂ— B=t—BHZ®BMEENW

EPBEAREREINE IR EEFRESDA
EEZF‘%TE&E‘W%’] R o] gEE AR
BRRNRE - RAEEMS - BHAKR
R 10% - AL - REBAMZERN
PEAERINMBEBATE _FT/N\F
—B—HEEENEN (108 ) 28
B2 BMIAINR -

R_E_NEF_B=+—H - #Em
ERMTAINI A AR E B R P EKRBER L
RIM A SRR E KB ENRITER
MERELERIEAE - £50% B
NEEDFERKKAKRAEE D IRKEZE
B -R_B_=F+_B=1+—H"
&) AR R ER AR SE AR TE & B 9 R o (2 A P B
BATRENEREESHARARE
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

22. FENERER

2024 2023

- . 3 —BC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBEFT

Accounts receivable FEUTER R 893,264 737,633
Loss allowance BIERE (55,341) (56,869)
Total 4ast 837,923 680,764

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are partially on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. For mobile advertising services, online video
distribution services, and software maintenance services, the
credit period is generally three months for major customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balance is
reviewed regularly by the management. The Group does not
hold any collateral and other credit enhancements over these
balances. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the revenue recognition date and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

AEBEDEERLARLIERETR
2 - BRERN - AR —MREBEKRETR
FEXARIR - HRBHESRE - @48
RIBE a7 R ARES R AR TS - £
BEPHNEEM—RE=FER - x&H
TR E KRB IE B UGRIB 4 15 B A5 12
fl - LEBERBEERR  EEEZH
BEAERETERES - AEELE
ZEGRBATORARIEMEER
B3 - BUBARFILAETR -

FEUWRRR ( HIBRES IR ) RIS HR
ERWAER BIRRRE I

2024 2023

- 3 —BC=HF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBFT AREFT

Within 3 months 3IEAA 485,447 387,617
3 to 12 months 3Z12f@8 347,573 285,938
1to 2 years 122 4,903 7,209
837,923 680,764

“E2TNER BmWSHERaE 173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MIEERRME

—EME+_A=+-A
31 December 2024

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22. FEWSBRER (&)

The ageing of accounts receivable that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

318 Bl 35 [B) 45 48 75 el (B Y FE UL R SR
RURRERHOT -

2024 2023

—ECmE S =F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR AR#FTT

Not past due e 485,447 387,617

Not more than 3 months past due wHABRE=EA 120,589 105,155
More than 3 months past due AEEE—EAEIN+_EA

but less than 12 months past due 226,984 180,783

More than 1 year past due but less than ~ EHiBE—F B VRWE
2 years past due 4,903 7,209
837,923 680,764

Accounts receivable that was neither past due nor impaired

relate to customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

Accounts receivable that was past due but not impaired relate
to customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience and forward-looking information, the
management is of the opinion that no provision for impairment
is necessary for these receivables as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the credit risk is minimal.

Information about the impairment of accounts receivable and the
Group exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 37(b).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

ARIEHA TN AR i 1B A 1 WA R ok B 20 B I
BORKENERER -

SEMRERBENBUARREREE R
BREFACENEFER - RBBE
KERRAIRMER - EEERSBEAMN
ZERWAIRRT IR BERE - AREER
BERUEEAEEHHEERMRBH -

BRERBUGERRER A EERGRNES
FE BRI B RIS RHTEE 37(b) °

FEWRRFUR BRI R IR ERE ST -

2024 2023
—ECME 2 —FT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#TRT ARBTR

At beginning of year F1) 56,869 49,723
Receivable written off during the year as £ /AR T U [ 4 55 & UL S0 IE

uncollectible - (11,827)
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment loss ~ (B{E#E] ) / BEFE (1,528) 18,973
At end of year FR 55,341 56,869
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31 December 2024

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FAIRRIA., w2 EMEI
RECEIVABLES I8
2024 2023
—ECmE S =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR AEEFT
Non-current portion FERENE D
Prepayments for acquisition of WERERETANRIE
equity investments (Note a) (Mt a) - 36,981
Prepayments for acquisition of equipment W& ETE(I FIB 6,129 -
Deposits paid (Note b) Bi%E (MEb) 48,300 75,700
Rental deposits Heke 2,432 2,302
56,861 114,983
Current portion MENER
Prepayments (Note c) FRATFIE (PfisEc) 667,916 511,827
Deposits paid (Note d) BiEE (MEd) 12,797 12,304
Receivables for termination of LIPS EUNERIE (R e)
acquisitions (Note e) 21,368 -
Other receivables (Note f) HitEUWFIE (MEET) 83,032 55,755
785,113 579,886
841,974 694,869
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had
made certain prepayments for the acquisition of certain equity
investments from independent third parties, as detailed below:

0] On 15 November 2023, the Company entered into the
memorandum of understanding with an independent third
party for the proposed acquisition of certain equity interests
of a company, namely Whale Awakening CO., Limited
(“Whale Awakening”). According to the memorandum of
understanding, the Company paid HK$14,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB13,131,000) as a deposit
for the proposed acquisition, which will be refundable if the
proposed acquisition is not completed within one year from
the date of the memorandum of understanding. The
acquisition prepayment is secured by corresponding
shares of the target company. The target company is
principally engaged in overseas mobile game development
and game distribution.

On 6 December 2024, the Company entered into
termination agreement to terminate the proposed
acquisition in the interests in Whale Awakening. As a result,
the  corresponding  acquisition  prepayment  of
HK$14,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB12,930,000) was reclassified to receivables for
termination of acquisitions as at 31 December 2024. The
amount of HK$14,000,000 was subsequently settled in
February 2025.

(i)  On 15 November 2023, the Company entered into the
memorandum of understanding with an independent third
party for the proposed acquisition of certain equity interests
of a company, namely Orient Marine Limited, (“Orient
Marine”). According to the memorandum of understanding,
the Company paid USD 1,660,936 (equivalent to
approximately RMB11,850,000) as a deposit for the
proposed acquisition, which will be refundable if the
proposed acquisition is not completed within one year from
the date of the memorandum of understanding. The
acquisition deposit is secured by corresponding shares of
the target company. The target company is principally
engaged in overseas advertising, marketing and related
services to the domestic game’s developer.
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23. FAITMIA. RERHEEI
e (78)
PHEE

(@ BE_E_=F+_RA=1—HLHF
B AREEBUF=FRWEER
AEREEMBEILF I 7 & LEH
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)y MRIB_=F+—B+HAHB"
KATEE I E =] AR AE
HEodk BB —XRER
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Awakening 5 ) WA E 7
feHE - IRIBERBESRE  AO
FEXZIEIT 14,000,000 ( 18
ERHARE 13,131,300 7T )
EREREWENZS  HER
UZHE SR BE S AR MR 5 = £ B BARE
—FRTH - ZREFERE -
WETERN RIB B E A S E
HREERER - BEATE
ENEBINBEN PR R R
B -
A=t S = AN = BN
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(b)

©

On 6 December 2024, the Company entered into termination
agreement to terminate the proposed acquisition in the interests
in Orient Marine. As a result, the corresponding acquisition
deposit of USD1,660,936 (equivalent to approximately
RMB11,938,000) was reclassified to receivables for termination of
acquisitions as at 31 December 2024. Part of the deposit of
RMB3,500,000 has been received during 2024. The remaining
amount of RMB8,438,000 was subsequently settled in February
2025.

On 15 December 2023, the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement with an independent third party for the proposed
acquisition of certain equity interests in Beijing Yijiangingxin.
According to the acquisition agreement, the Company paid
RMB12,000,000 as a deposit for the proposed acquisition, which
will be refundable if the proposed acquisition is not completed
within one year from the date of the acquisition agreement. Beijing
Yijiangingxin is principally engaged in science and technology
promotion and application service industry.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
proceeded the acquisition in the 13% equity interests in Beijing
Yijiangingxin. As at 31 December 2024, the investment cost of
RMB12,000,000 was recognised as interest in an associate in the
consolidated statement of financial position. For details, please
refer to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the deposits paid are for the long-term
cooperation with the distribution channel suppliers of
approximately RMB48,300,000 (2023: RMB67,200,000), no
deposit (2023: RMB8,500,000) is paid for video content suppliers.

As at 31 December 2024, prepayments mainly comprised of
payment advances to the distribution channel suppliers for volume
of the Group’s advertisement distribution of mobile advertising
services amounting to approximately RMB654,118,000 (2023:
RMB483,266,000), prepayments to game developers
approximately RMB13,798,000 (2023: RMB28,561,000).

rre TS ERARMIRE

“BOME+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

23. TE(I#X IE IREREE

HFRIE (

P&E

(iii)

(b)

— &&=
=

n\E )
(%)
R_EME+"AKRH - AT
B EIEHE - £ IE¥ Orient

Marine #RAIEIZEUWEE - ELIL -
AEERIULEELIZETT 1,660,936 ( 18
ERHMIAE 11,938,000 7T ) R
B NFE+_A=+—HHE&RE
MERRBRPEF D ERELUE
EBURHRIE - BoEEARE
3,500,000 TTER _E_MNEEW
2| - FerFIEBARKES 8,438,000 7T
HER _SE_hF_A#FE-
R_E_=Z%#+_8B+1h
H AASHABIE= AFTIR
BinE BHWEILRERELS
N - RBUWERGS 235
KRRBREIZINHNT AR
12,000,000 TTHRES - HEARW
BRECWBRRESI 2HE—
FRNEMK  ZESBRE - AR
BEENEIEUSRREERRE
RIS -

T_ME+-A=+—AL
EE . FADHLTE R
1390 R HEHE 1T T IR -
“mE+-A=+-H %4
AAARE 12,000,000 TERER
EEBRREPERARBEAT

/\_EE

—||

2 - FEFSREREMBHRE
MizE 20 -
RIZBZNE+"R=+—H "

EffREHARE 48,300,000 7T
(2 = AR B
67,200,000 7T ) ARE S ERE

HEINERAGE LR (T
_:E : AE# 8,500,000 7T ) [a)

BEANBHBRASTIZE -
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FENREXTZEQENEAEERE
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(d)

(e)

®

(9)

(h)

The balances of deposits paid as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
mainly represent rental deposits and deposits to suppliers of
approximately RMB12,030,000 (2023: RMB11,092,000) as
security for the due performance and observation of the Group’s
obligation under the contracts entered into between the Group
and its suppliers.

The balance represents the receivables for termination of
acquisitions. For details, please refer to note (a) above.

As at 31 December 2024, other receivables mainly represent
value-added-tax recoverable of approximately RMB46,480,000
(2023: RMB44,829,000).

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting period date by applying the general approach to provide
for expected credit losses of deposits and other receivables
prescribed by HKFRS 9. None of the above assets is either past
due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances related to other receivables, for which there was no
recent history of default.

Impairment of deposits and other receivables is assessed based
on 12-month expected credit losses, which are the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that result from the default events
that are possible within the twelve months after the reporting date.
When there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit losses. For measuring the expected credit losses, deposits
and other receivable have been classified based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate
is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The expected credit loss
rate for deposits and other receivables is minimal.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND TIME
DEPOSITS

eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

24. RERINEFEY. SR
IRTTIFFA B EHRTFFR

2024 2023

—BONE —B=fF

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®BTT

Cash and bank balances RERRITHER 602,813 534,899
Less: Restricted bank deposits: B ZIRHIRITEM :
Pledged for bank loans (Note 28) TIRITE IR ( FIEE 28) (10,000) (10,374)
Bank deposits for performance
guarantee BARKIRITER (1,326) -
Time deposits with original maturity [FRIHHEBBE=EAN
over three months EHTEM - (2,651)
(11,326) (13,025)
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 591,487 521,874
Denominated in: PUFAEEEEHE -
- RMB - AE# 582,273 514,808
- USsD - E7T 5,380 1,753
— HK$ - BT 3,834 5,313
591,487 521,874

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s prevailing rules and regulations over
foreign exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between seven days and one year depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

ARBFRIEHERSEMEE - 24M - R
BB A HIMNERNIRTRARER - K
SEUBBEEERRIMNEEZRTHA
RBCZHRAEMEE -

IRITERBRERSHRTERNERAFEF
KRR - RPEHERRTAEBR ZERFR
EHE  HPRNMFLRE-—FHEASE
REMBZRPEMERARETE - RTE
BRI ERRNBESZE BT RENTERN
RTA -
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e MIEERRME

—EME+_A=+-A
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25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

25. [E(IRRER

FEENBNRANBEPRERER
HEELAVBRER AT 0T -

2024 2023

—E-ME B =F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥F ABEFT

Within 1 year 1ER 30,692 20,384
1to 2 years 1E2%F 2,808 4,706
More than 2 years 2FPIE 8,830 9,291
42,330 34,381

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of 60 to 90 days.

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BATIRRAGT R

90 HRGEE -

W—ARRASEE 60

26. EtifE(IFRIER ESTFRIA

2024 2023

—S_MmEF “EC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR AREEFTT

Payroll payable N EE 8,162 6,827
Other payables and accruals (Note a) Efl BB K Bt TRIE

QEXY 91,358 75,772

Amount due to a shareholder (Note b) EfIRERER (st b) 49,500 -

149,020 82,599

Notes:

() VAT tax credit of RMB73,842,000 (2023: RMB70,967,000) is
included in other payables as at 31 December 2024. Current
portion of other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing
and have an average term of three months.

(b)  The amount due to a shareholder represents a loan from Mr. Gao
Dinan (“Mr. Gao”) of RMB49,500,000 which is interest-free,
unsecured, and repayable within one year. Meanwhile, the
Company provides a guarantee of RMB49,500,000 to Mr. Gao in
connection with bank facilities of the same amount obtained by
Mr. Gao.
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eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

27. SEE
ANBEEEOT

2024 2023
—BImME C"F°=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFfRT ARETT
Contract liabilities arises from BREEBEELE
Mobile advertising services BEESRE 32,935 19,309
Online-video distribution services PRB IR E D BIRFE 21 21
Game co-publishing services PR RE RS 3,652 2,660
Total contract liabilities, within one year BHEERE (—FR) 36,608 21,990
The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance BHEaBFrERYE FNENFENICE
consideration received from the customers. They have been A - ARWARDEENES 58
recognised as revenue from performance obligations satisfied BEEEIEBASENW AL EER
due to the changes in the timing of revenue recognition, and is EEERESRETEE -
typically billed when the advertisement is displayed.
Movements in contract liabilities SaEE
2024 2023
—BomE S =F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Balance as at 1 January R—B—Hi4EER 21,990 27,833

Decrease in contract liabilities as a FARDWAERELN

result of recognising revenue during BERD (GFAFYN

the year that was included in the BRIAE) (MEE7)

contract liabilities at the beginning of

the year (Note 7) (21,990) (27,833)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EEFRAFHEMEMNEHESE

billing in advance from customers 36,608 21,990
Balance as at 31 December R+_B=+—Hi4%8 36,608 21,990
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AR AT ERERIMEE

“ENE+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 27. gRBE (&)
Movements in contract liabilities (continued) SHaEEE (&)
The following table shows the expected time for recognition as TERETIREEARRBTHNENEE
revenue of the unsatisfied performance obligations at year end BRABUARTEERRE
date:
At end of year RELEH
Expected to be recognised FEETR — AR
within one year 36,608 21,990

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. stERITEFR

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings as at 31 AEER_E_NFER_E_=F+_
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: A=1T—HMWst BIRTERWFEN
IR

Current BN EA
Bank loans — secured RTEH - AIEE 1.13 2025 10,000
_EBEhRE
— unsecured — IR 2.30-4.10 2025 557,670
_E_hE

567,670
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eI EHRRME

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS  28. 5tRER{TERR (& )
(continued)

As at 31 December 2023
REE"=F1+"H=1+—H

Effective
contractual
interest rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB’000
BERETARIZE (%) EHH AR%FT
Current BIHR
Bank loans — secured RITER - BB 1.50-3.05 2024 30,000
BT NE
- unsecured - IR 2.81-4.15 2024 273,500
_ENF
303,500
2024 2023
~BOmE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTR AR¥TT
Analysed into: IME
Bank loans repayable: FEEIEIRITEMN :
Within one year or on demand —EAFIREK 567,670 303,500
Notes: MEE
(@ As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of (@ RIBE_NF+"_A=+—H #&x&
BRIRITERD
() RMB10,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits of (i) AR® 10,000,000 JTTHAAT
RMB10,000,000 provided by a subsidiary of the Company, R — R MY A S BB B IR £
Huanju Times: AR 10,000,000 JHIIEIE
' GFRIER;
(i)  RMB312,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, who is an (i)  AEK® 312,000,000 ;LS
executive director of the Company and a subsidiary of the £ RARFYNTESRELT
Company, Wanka Huanju; WEASITIMERER
(i)  RMB18,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao; @iy  AE# 18,000,000 TTHE LA

BR,;
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EMIEHRRMET

—EME+_A=+-A
31 December 2024

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(iv)

%

(vi)

(vii)

RMB30,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company;

RMB45,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times;

RMB95,990,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the
Company, Huanju Times; and

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and two
subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Huanju Times and
Suzhou Longying Software Development Co., Ltd.
(“Suzhou Longying”).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank borrowings of

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

RMB10,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits of
RMB10,374,000 provided by a subsidiary of the Company,
Wanka Holdings Limited (“Wanka Holdings”);

RMB104,500,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, who is an
executive director of the Company and a subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju;

RMB18,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao;

RMB90,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company;

RMB23,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times;

RMB40,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the
Company, Huanju Times;. and

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and two
subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Huanju Times and
Suzhou Longying.
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28. stBIRITEFK (&)

MieE : (#4&)

(b)

(v)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

AR#& 30,000,000 ToHS 5E4E
RAENEER ;

AR#& 45,000,000 ToHS 554
RAEAPBN—RHMBATEE
BRER,

AR 95,990,000 JTTHAAE]
MEASEBRNER, &

AR 10,000,000 JtHE f£4
BRAERTNMRIE LSRR
RCREMNERREREAR
AT ( TEMNER. ) BR -

R_E=F+"A=t+—H %&

ERRITERTD
() AR 10,000,000 TTEHAAT]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

B — KM A S I Iz AR B IR
ANE( TmER ) EHEB
AR 10,374,000 THIEIRE
IR ;

AR 104,500,000 TTHEE
E(ERTINTES ) RERQ
S E AT IMETIER ;

AR 18,000,000 7oEAS 54
R

AR 90,000,000 TLEIR 4
RARTER ;

A 23,000,000 TtHS %64
RANTMBASTEREFRIE
=;

AR#8 40,000,000 JTTHAAE]
MEATHRREAER,; &

AR#8 10,000,000 JtHEEE
RARTHMR B LSRR
R RERMNERER -
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eI EHRRME

BN+ _A=+—H
31 December 2024

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. IEERITIETR (&)

(continued)

Notes: (continued) BEE: (#&)

()  The Group uses certain bank borrowings as its supplier finance (c) AEENRETRITERREMEDR
arrangement. The banks settle the Group’s accounts payable to MEZH - RITEEOHREDEER
its suppliers directly and the Group will repay the bank EERBMIRR - MAEERREERE
borrowings on a date later than the invoice payment due date. NHREAEHBRERRITER - ZER
The terms of these bank borrowings are within 12 months from TEFNPRABRIERTEREE
date of drawing of the bank borrowings. These bank borrowings 1R EAR - ZERTEERFIEN -
are unsecured.

Included in the bank borrowings balances above are the following I SRITEFRERER B4 T O L FERS R
supplier finance arrangement liabilities: ELHRE
As at As at

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
RS MF R-E-=#F
+=RA=+-H +—A=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR#FT
Carrying amount of liabilities BERAEE 68,000 -
of which suppliers have received payment Hb#HEFSESRENR 68,000 N/A
Range of payment due dates after invoice dates SEHRENNRESREEE
— Supplier finance arrangement liabilities - HEERMELHARE 14 - 15 months N/A
14—15 {88
— Comparable trade payable not part of the — OtEREGRMNFIBABN G 60 - 90 days
supplier finance arrangement MR E 225 60 - 90 X N/A
The major non-cash increase in supplier finance arrangement HETHELHAENTEIFIRSIE
liabilites of RMB68,000,000 arose from trade payable mnaE AR 68,000,000 7T - BEEZR
settlements during the year ended 31 December 2024. _ETNF+_A=+—HILFEW

ESRNMIREES -

2R BmWMSEERAE 185



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIRRIEE

“BEOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. B&E

As at 31 December 2023 R_B_=%

+_B=+—H 250,000,000 1,489,510 1,029 36,233 74
As at 31 December 2024 ~ R_Z_MF

+—_A=1+—H 250,000,000 1,506,801 1,029 18,942 39
A summary of the movements in the Company'’s share capital KNSR AP E BRI T ¢

is as follows:

At 1 January 2023 R_E_=£-F-H 1,453,121,075 1 1,828,109 1,828,110
Vested restricted share units ERTRENCHESR
transferred to employees (Note (a)) RS (M) 36,389,040 - 18,070 18,070
At31 December 2023 and KRB =%
1 January 2024 +_B=1-HER
_E_UE-B-H 1,489,510,115 1 1,846,179 1,846,180
Vested restricted share units B2 T RENCHESR
ransferred to employees (Note (a)) RER (M) 17,291,000 - 5,559 5,559
At 31 December 2024 RIB_ME
+_B=+-R¢ 1,506,801,115 1 1,851,738 1,851,739
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability under the laws of Cayman Islands on 7
November 2014. The Company has an authorised share capital
of US$50,000 divided into 250,000,000,000 shares with a par
value of US$0.0000002 each.

Note:

(@) Certain employees of the Group exercised vested restricted
share units during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
17,291,000 (2023: 36,389,040) issued shares underlying the
restricted share units were transferred to such employees which
the Company had allotted and issued to the trustee in prior years
as fully paid-up shares (Note 30).

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.

& Excluding 5,805,235 and 13,137,000 shares held by Wanka
Alliance Limited and Wanka Legend Limited, respectively, as at
31 December 2024.

29.

e RMBHRRMEE

B ME+_A=+—H
31 December 2024

BRE (&)

ARERZE-NF+—BLtHRER
SRS APEMRLBERRERERE
AT - AREAERAES 50,000 =
7T+ 7%% 250,000,000,000 A7 -
F% & 0.0000002 =TT °

MI&E

(@ BEEB_NFR-B_=F1+"RH
=t—HLEFE FEEETRET
FERBZZRERMNEM - ZIRF
RN EBADS K AY 17,291,000 B ( —=
=% :36,389,040 &) BETRN
(FRIRBEFEOZTALER
BTUIFHENRD ) EHEBETZ
£EE (M35E30) -

* EEAEARE 1,000 7T °

& A B¥E Wanka Alliance Limited &
Wanka Legend Limited /8 2 U5
+_ A=+ —HB2AEFEBMN
5,805,235 A% % 13,137,000 BERE 17 -
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EMIEHRRMET

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. PABR{n BERERYIFARIZ

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 31 March 2016
(2016 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which employees
render service as consideration for equity instruments (RSUs)
of the Company.

The Company operates the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. Eligible participants of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme include the Company’s directors and certain
employees of the Group. The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
became effective on 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. On 24 May 2018, the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme was
replaced by restricted share plan (“RSU Plan”) which became
effective from the date when the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
was adopted, that is 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, the vesting condition has been
revised as i) upon the completion of the Company’s IPO, and ii)
fulfilment of a certain service period. Other than that, there is no
significant change as compared with that of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme.

RSUs do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings unless the RSU awards have become
vested.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

2016 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all RSUs to be granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 31 March
2016. The maximum number of shares issuable under RSUs in
aggregate is 125,000. On 15 November 2017, each of the
issued and unissued shares was subdivided into 50 shares of
the Company and accordingly, the number of shares issuable
under the 2016 RSU Plan is enlarged to 6,250,000 and exercise
price was decreased to US$0.0000002. Following another
share subdivision approved on 3 November 2018, as of 31
December 2018, the Company has reserved 62,500,000
ordinary shares underlying all the grants under the RSU Plan.

As at 31 December 2024, 5,805,235 (2023: 8,096,235) RSUs

were vested and exercisable, but not yet transferred to the
employees, under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme.

BMTSERRIE

TEME+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

30. AR REHRATTEFE

(#8)
—F—ERDHEETE (&)
REBARAAS _E—NERDBEIETEE
FERENEZEERIRDEMETER
O FETHRHBHERATBERB_S
—ANE=ZB=1+—HEBTRMOEHN
10% - RIBEXRHIRMHEM I FEITH
= RHEBEGHA 125,000 f& - iR
E—+F+—HB+AH SRERTH
RETERMOIRAS 50 BRAASIKS -
FEt - B RNEXIEHIRMODEMNETE
i ROBITHROBEEREKRE
6,250,000 A2 - MITEE R FA R =
0.0000002 %77 - HE_B—\E+_
BA=+—H #nR_8—-)N\E&E+—HF=
BitES—EROIFMAE  AASTRE
62,500,000 kR 1B PRSI EMET 2!
IR THRENSER -

R_EME+"_A=1+—H"
Aﬁ&ﬁﬂm?%ETES&BBS
(ZE_=%:8,096,235) A=A
AP EMN SR O] H1T6E - IR
ETES -
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EMIEHRRMET

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. PARRR BEEAIFREL

(continued)

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 29 August 2019
(2019 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which employees
render service as consideration for equity instruments (RSUs)
of the Company.

The Company operates the 2019 RSU Plan for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to directors, senior
management and employees of the Group for their contribution
to the Group, and to attract, motivate and retain skilled and
experienced personnel to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group by providing them with the opportunity
to own equity interests of the Company. Eligible participants of
the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme include the Company’s
directors and certain employees of the Group. The 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme became effective on 29 August 2019 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from that date. The board of the Company can
determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the schedule when
the RSUs will vest.

As at 31 December 2024, 13,137,000 (2023: 28,137,000) RSUs
were vested and exercisable, but not yet transferred to the
employees, under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme.
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BMTSERRIE

TEME+"RA=+—H
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES
(continued)

30. LARRRBERAIIIFF
(#&)
—E—hERDEEIETE (
AREZREHKRHD mfﬂﬁ'ﬁfwaﬁﬁ%ﬁ’l’\

FERGEGERRNERRFEX - B
B REZARER -

2019 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant
of the RSUs is recognised as an expense on the consolidated
statement of profit or loss with an increase in equity.

MR MEE_E_NER_F_=

+_ﬁ_—|— HIEFE_E—RFKRH
HEEEIR_F —nﬁxﬁﬁ'%mﬂ Y EE i1
Iﬁ?fc‘ﬂ%T?1§xﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁx1ﬁ$1ﬂ&ﬁ7]ﬂ’fé
FIOTEE ( TIETEIETEE, ) -

The following table shows the RSUs outstanding under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme and the 2019 RSUs during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, and their weighted
average exercise prices (“WAEP”):

2023 2024
2023 WAEP 2024 WAEP
Number of RSU ~ US$ per RSU Number of RSU  US$ per RSU
_E=F —SME
IHESFS InREELs
“EC=F f7fEE - S 11} 3 7@
SIRHIRR D B{ESZIRE SIREIRRD BEZRE
BHE RHEfEET E#E RRpEREET
Outstanding at 1 January R—A—HERTE 72,622,275 0.0000002 36,233,235 0.0000002
Vested restricted share units  EZEFRENCEE
transferred to employees PRI AR 3 BB AL (36,389,040) 0.0000002 (17,291,000) 0.0000002
Outstanding at 31 December R+_B=+—H
8 AR AT 36,233,235 0.0000002 18,942,235 0.0000002
Exercisable at 31 December WR+_A=+—H
o F1{TfE 36,233,235 0.0000002 18,942,235 0.0000002

No other feature of the RSUs granted was incorporated into the

measurement of fair value.

AEATERIAEECREZRAKRNE
IAYE AR -
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

2019 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

Note: (continued)

The Company has reserved 62,500,000 shares under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme and had 5,805,235 RSUs outstanding as at 31
December 2024 under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in a transfer of 62,500,000 ordinary shares of the
Company from Wanka Alliance Limited to the employees of the Group.

The Company has reserved 91,738,000 shares under the 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme and had 13,137,000 RSUs outstanding as at 31
December 2024 under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in a transfer of 91,738,000 ordinary shares of the
Company from Wanka Legend Limited to the employees of the Group.

On 3 November 2018, the Company adopted the post-IPO share option
scheme to attract, retain and motivate employees, directors and other
participants, and to provide a means of compensating them through the
grant of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of the
Group, and to allow such employees, directors and other persons to
participate in the growth and profitability of the Group (the “Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme”).

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 3 November 2018 and the options granted have a 10-year
exercise period. The options may be vested over such period(s) as
determined by the board of the Company in its absolute discretion
subject to compliance with the requirements under any applicable laws,
regulations or rules.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).
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EMIEHRRMET

EME+_B=+—8
31 December 2024

30. LARIRREREAIIFEFE

(#)
ZB-NERRMBREETE (&)
WEE (#)

EA E_NE+_B=1t—H &®xQFE_

—RNERHDHUEIFEIT##E 62,500,000
H&H% C BRRCE—RERDBEEITE
A 5,805,235 1@ &4 7RI ZPRHIAR 15 B
fil - BEOESRTENZRFRHOEN
(MARIMIRBEAREBNS ) BREAX
‘AT] 62,500,000 A& E &% EH Wanka Alliance
Limited BE T AEEES -

“ECMFE+"A=1+—H xRER_
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KO ER _E—NERO MBI EI T HES
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e RMBHRRMEE

TEME+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

31. RESERVES 31. (s
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements REBRAFERBEFEZRESH
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the BMRBABAEE NGRS MIEMNERE 1038
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 103 to EF 104 BZHREEREEERET -
104 of the consolidated financial statements.
Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the RIBPEIMEBERRER - AAER
Company’s subsidiaries which are registered in the PRC shall PRI E AT EERRE LS B
appropriate a certain percentage of profit for the year (after R PEEENE T RREFTENEER
offsetting any prior years' losses) calculated under the B (IEEEEFERAEERE ) E’]%?
accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC BOLERES  MZREESNAR
enterprises to reserve funds which are restricted as to use. FPRAI -

32. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 32. E=RRiERS

Suzhou Jinglan Cloud Technology Co., Ltd., a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling interest
(“NCI).

Summarised financial information in relation to Suzhou Jinglan
Cloud Technology Co., Ltd., before intra-group eliminations, is
presented below together with amounts attributable to NCI:

FNEEREENRARAS (AATHA
51%& SHMTB AT ) HEEARIFER
= ( TIFERREEL ) -

REBATHIE ZAT - BEFMNEHER
KARATHEEANMZER R EERR
BRIFERESNERN AR

For the year ended 31 December H#E=1+—"BA=1—HILEFE 2024 2023
“BOmE —F=fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR ABSTT

NCI percentage IFERER B DL 49% 49%
Non-current assets FEREEE 1,482 -
Current assets MBEE 264,632 224,925
Non-current liabilities ERENAEE (119) -
Current liabilities mERE (87,878) (49,787)
Net assets BEEFE 178,117 175,138
Carrying amount to the NCI IFERERAIREE 85,975 85,746
Revenue g 1,084,855 737,869
Profit for the year FREMN 10,866 13,282
Total comprehensive income EEHQ/\?% 10,866 13,282
Profit allocated to the NCI PEEIFERERA AR 5,325 6,508
Dividend paid to the NCI BT IR ST ] 5,096 141
Cash flows used in operating activities KEREPTRRTRE (59,978) (78,465)

EERIRERE - 1

Cash flows from investing activities "E

Cash flows from financing activities MEEHNIRER= 12,842 40,000
Net cash outflows REREFEE (47,136) (38,464)
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EMIEHRRMET

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@)

(b)

33. GRRERERM:

Major non-cash transactions (a) BAIHRERSR
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had HE_E_NF+_A=1+—H
non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease LEFE - SUMIEE 17 FrikE - &
liabilites of RMB5,442,000 in respect of lease EEMEELHREGEREEE
arrangements as disclosed in Note 17 (2023: KHEBBIFRERERARE
RMB7,848,000). 5,442,00070 (_E_=fF: AR
#% 7,848,000 75 ) -
During the year 31 December 2024, the Group had R_B_N+_RA=1+—H%#
completed the acquisition in the equity interests in Beijing B rEEEEMREILRERIE
Yijiangingxin. The cost of the investment in Beijing O RRFERIULEE - dNBYEE 20 K 23
Yijiangingxin was reclassified from prepayments, deposits PhigsE - HIERBRBELNRE
and other receivables to interests in associates as BATETAN B ~ I REME
disclosed in Note 20 and 23. WHEMm S EABE A TR -
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REEEEFSIGERIES)
activities
The reconciliation between the opening and closing eI RAME TR S
balances in the consolidated statement of financial BEEWHHY RARGE SRR
position for liabilities arising from financing activities, (RHESREREERMEIN
which provides the information included in the BR) W
consolidated statement of cash flows, is as follows:
Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable on bank  Liabilities bank borrowings
RMB’000 ARETFR borrowings Note 17 (b) Note 28
RITEMY  HEEE FHEERITER
L S () FfizE 28
At 1 January 2024 RIBZME— ﬁ =] 259 12,277 303,500
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREREL
Drawdown of bank loans RITERIR - - 796,668
Repayment of bank loans BERTER - - (532,498)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRWEZ RS - (10,193) -
Interest expenses paid ENFERX (12,765) (751) -
Other changes: At 8 :
Interest expense on bank borrowing RTERFER 13,810 - -
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFR - 751 -
New leases MigHE - 5,442 -
Derecognition of leases # I RRAL - (319) -
Exchange realignment [ER R - 14 -
At 31 December 2024 RZBZNE+-HB=+—8 1,304 7,221 567,670
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e RBHRMNGE

_EME+"R=1+—H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

33. FRIREMEBRMEE (&)

31 December 2024

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) FEERENFASIHEEHIEE
activities (continued) (%)
Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable on bank Liabilities bank borrowings
borrowings  Note 17 (b) Note 28
RITEFRAY HEaE FTERITEM
BERE MR 17(b) Bt 28
At 1 January 2023 RIE_=%—F—H 364 12,319 260,000
Changes from financing cash flows: FER&HFELE .
Drawdown of bank loans RITERIRE - - 443520
Repayment of bank loans EBERTER - - (400,020)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNASES - (7,891) -
Interest expenses paid BN ERAX (9,043) (1,071) -
Other changes: Hithg& g .
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITEMFIERHET 8,938 - -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFS - 1,071 -
New leases migHE - 7,848 -
Exchange realignment FER R - 1 -
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=%+_HB=+—H 259 12,277 303,500

“ETNFH BMSHERAR
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. B35

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group KREBETEEEAESNEN
2024 2023
=S 11 3 TEC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Fr ARSFT
Short-term employee benefits REEERT 6,008 7,261
Equity-settled share option expenses DIz EERERERS - 153
Pension scheme contributions BREE M 558 972

Total compensation paid to key MEESEASZMNHW

management personnel AR ER 6,566 8,386

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’'s
emoluments are included in Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, there were no other significant related
party transactions and balances.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

e RBHRMNGE

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

35. BEERIEISRIERI TR
SESMTERREHRMERED

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: I
Financial assets SRIEE
2024 2023
- 3 —BC=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AEEFIT
Financial assets at amortised cost REBEAATTENENEE
Accounts receivable FEUTER R 837,923 680,764
Financial assets included in AR E REMBUWIRT
deposits and other receivables HEmEE 121,149 88,004
Restricted bank deposit ZIRFIRTER 11,326 10,374
Time deposits with original maturity  JRE|HH BB ={EBHN
over three months EHER - 2,651
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 591,487 521,874
1,561,885 1,303,667
Financial liabilities THaE
2024 2023
= o 1 [ = 5 —FT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBEFT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEM AT ENSREE
Accounts payable FERTERFR 42,330 34,381
Financial liabilities included in FAEMENFIE KR
other payables and accruals ERNeRas 67,016 11,633
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTRIBITER 567,670 303,500
Lease liabilities HERE 7,221 12,277
684,237 361,791
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

36.

37.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of restricted
bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, accounts receivable, accounts payable, financial
assets included in deposits paid and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities
of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

There were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, restricted bank deposits and
interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on minimising
potential adverse effects of these risks, with material impact, on
the Group’s financial performance. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below.
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REERARR -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(@)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most
of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Renminbi and
United States dollars. The Group has not used any
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period with all other
variables held constant:

31 December 2024

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARBRETEE
the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against #ARBRETHE
the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARBRETEE
the Hong Kong dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against #ARBRBITAE
the Hong Kong dollar

e RMIRRMEE

TEME+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

37. ENRAREEBERBER
(#8)

(@) 4MERRE
K%IIxqulj(B*SﬂE%?““
- BEXEHEREE BEN
Q%i’JEquEM&}\EEﬂE
AREEWEFERTASTETEE D
HAEEAIINE R -

MRIREMBHEME SR AL
WIER N AERRBERAREARE
AR BRRISNELE RS IR O REL IR
WEEN B4R AE BRI AN KA
SEERRHRIBAEE

—ENE+"RA=+—H

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
Changein in profit  (decrease)
exchange before tax in equity

BRIRATIEFY fEEiEnn

EREE B GES) L (ED)
% RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETR ARETR

(5) (269) (225)
5 269 225
(5) (192) (160)
5 192 160
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. ERRAREEBRERIBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(@) Foreign currency risk (continued) (a) YMERE (&)
31 December 2023 —E_=+"RB=1+—H
Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
Change in in profit (decrease)
exchange before tax in equity

PRIATER)  REEEEAN

g EmS R S (D)
% RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFRT  ARETT

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARBRETEE

the United States dollar (5) (88) (73)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against HARKRETHE

the United States dollar 5 (88) 73

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARBREBTLE

the Hong Kong dollar (5) (266) (222)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against HARKRETHE

the Hong Kong dollar 5 266 222

(b) Creditrisk (b) EEEE

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to accounts AEEWEERMREZREEW
receivable, deposits and other receivables, cash and cash IR e REMBEWFIE - IR
equivalent, time deposits, bank balances with the ERIREEEY THEM - M
restricted bank deposits. The Group’s maximum exposure BXRHRITERIRITAELR -
to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group REEHBHEAREERRE (/)
due to failure to discharge the obligations by HEFHREBTETMIGER
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the REBZRZHMFEEER ) REWS
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the HAIRAR S MR R 3= PRt 9 75 8
consolidated statements of financial position at the end of OERVBEENREE -

each reporting period.
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SaMIERERNEE
BN+ _A=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. ErEGEEBERESR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) (EERRE (&)
Accounts receivable FEULBR TR

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from accounts
receivable in connection with mobile advertising services,
game co-publishing services, online-video distribution
services, and software maintenance services. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for the determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality, assign an internal credit rating
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed on a periodic basis.
Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment.

In respect of accounts receivable relating to the provision
of individual credit, evaluations are performed on the
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay and take
into account information specific to the customer.
Typically, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers, except for the deposits received in advance.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
mainly comprise of deposits and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits and time
deposits arises from potential default of the counterparties,
with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts
of these instruments. Credit risk in cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank deposits and time deposits
are mitigated as cash is deposited in the banks with high
credit ratings.

FEEHGEBEESRE - 158
BB ARTS - MERIBEmD BT
R € RIBZ B BB BUGRRE
EMERRER - SEEREEER
% AEEEEECEKERRR
EEEERBAEESE - REN
A EFR - AEESTHEE
EFNEREER  NEANEMEER
REFREEPNERRE - EFH
PREEKRT D B MRS - BRIEH
fERER - ERRIRETEIW
ClEHAETS - Mo - REEETR
(EEEEE

AR IR HHERIE B BUCRF T
=S AHEREEBRETEEN
BERETHM - ZEFTEEPRE
B B9 R HA 1 SR AC 8% & 3R R A RRBE
N WERBEFHFBEER - —&
M - BRIASCUWERIZ S - K&
B0 f 0) & P EVS IR F am -

rEEHEMEMEE (EB2ER/E
T REMBUHRIE - RERIRESE
BY - RIRHBRTERRERZF
M) NEERRREHFHE
EBY  meRERESERZEIEN
REE - RERFTSEY 2R
FERTERRERFROEEAR
FHIREFAEEFRSNIRTMS
LUBEE -
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

37. &fEKREEBERBER

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

The Group’s customers are reputable corporations and
thus credit risk is considered to be low. Credit risk on
deposits and other receivables is minimal as the Group
performs ongoing credit evaluation on the financial
condition of its debtors and tightly monitors the ageing of
the receivable balances. Follow up action is taken in case
of overdue balances. In addition, management reviews the
recoverable amount of the receivables individually and
collectively at each reporting date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The credit policies have been followed by the Group during
the reporting period and are considered to have been
effective in limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a
desirable level. None of the Group’s financial assets is
secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer

(#&

(b)

)

[EERR (%)
FEULRRTR (#45 )

rEBZERREBENAT -
MRREERRAS - ARAE
EFEHEBEHEAZMBRRE
TEEMNL  TEY)EREBUA
BRZBRER - BUZE R E th B UK
BZEERBEMY - FEEZY
BHRIE SRR ETE - UL -
EEBERZRESBHPHBUKIA
ZoWElEBRETER R EESR
R BERAIWEERELE
HEMERBE - RESHA - K
EE-EBUARBEEER
BB BERB A S N E B P
BEHZEERRRE ZGEK
o REBZERMEERRIUE
HmaEMERERABRIERE
e

REBEFERWIRREER
B BRHESREPRAEES
B (ERBEERE) - AR
AEENELEEBELRITE
BrRARERENNBEEREAS

segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is BEER  WREBARERFD
not further distinguished between the Group’s different MEERBELRE-—TEIAE

customer bases.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

e RBHRMNGE

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

37. EMRAGREEBERBER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) (EERME (&)
Accounts receivable (continued) FEULRRSR (748 )
The following table provides information about the TREINEBEAEEHENEER
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts IR EWERTBEBREERHENE
receivable: il
For mobile advertising services and game co- IBENE S RS R s R B B AR FS T
publishing services 5
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHREIE =R {BERmE(E EEREE
2024 —SME (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AREFRT) (ARETR)
Current (not past due) BIHER (REH ) 1.17% 490,540 5,723
Within 3 months pastdue  #H 3E8A 1.75% 121,854 2,133
3 to 12 months past due w3 E 12188 2.36% 209,413 4,937
1 to 2 years past due BEA1E 2% 27.29% 6,144 1,677
Over two years past due wEA 2 EDI E 100% 34,146 34,146
862,097 48,616
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARSIEER fRERmE(E e
2023 —E-=& (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
AE®BFT) (ARETRT)
Current (not past duge) BIHER (REH ) 2.07% 375,893 7,795
Within 3 months pastdue  #H 3 B8 A 2.07% 92,057 1,909
3 to 12 months past due w3 E 12188 2.07% 154,571 3,205
1 to 2 years past due BEA1E 24 49.80% 14,360 7,151
Over two years past due BEA 2 D E 100% 27,990 27,990
664,871 48,050

“ETNFH BMSHERAR
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e MBRRMET

“EBOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EMEGEEBERBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (48)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREE (&)
Accounts receivable (continued) EULRRFR (78 )
The following table provides information about the Group’s MR AEAEEHERNEER
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivable: Al KR EWRMRTAHREEEBEEN
Bz
For online-video distribution services BB REERD BREMS
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

FRHRE ISR fBIRE(E EIERE
(%)  (RMB'000)  (RMB’000)

2024 —BMNE (AE®¥Fr) (ARETFR
3 to 12 months past due B3 E 12 @A 2.36% 21,817 514
Over two years past due EH 2 FLIE 100% 5,996 5,996
27,813 6,510

Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHpESEER HERREE st
2023 - %)  (RMB0O00)  (RMB000)

(ANR#Fm) (AR&FT)
Current (not past due) BIER ( ARIEH ) 3.330% 14,982 499
Within 3 months past due wH 3 EAA 3.330% 15,220 507
3 to 12 months past due BE3IE121ER 3.330% 29,776 992
Over two years past due BH 2 FLI L 100% 6,821 6,821
66,799 8,819
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Accounts receivable (continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts
receivable:

For software maintenance services

e RIS RRMIEE
_ENFE+_"_B=+—H
31 December 2024
37. EREIEEBERBER
(%)
(b) (EERERE (/&)
FEULRRSR ( 48 )
TREIEEAEEEENEER
I REWRRFEHEEEENE
wl

MR EEREMS

Current (not past due) BOHA ( REHEA ) 1.17% 637 7
Within 3 months past due i 3 EAR 1.75% 883 15
3 to 12 months past due i 3 £ 12 @8 2.36% 1,234 29
1 to 2 years past due HEH1ZE2F 27.29% 600 164

3,354 215

Current (not past due) BOHA ( REHEA ) - 5,035 -
Within 3 months past due i 3 EAR - 295 -
3 to 12 months past due B3 ZE 12 @R - 633 -

5,963 -
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e RIBHRME

“EME+_A=+—8
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating

REMEETR

Low risk

15 /LR

Doubtful

oJ&E

Loss

B8

Written-off

(k!

Description

g

The counter party has a low
risk of default and does not

have any past-due amounts.

BFHENRRERLRED
AL -

There have been significant
increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through
information developed
internally or external
resources

BB IMNIERIVSHE
ﬂ@T EE R B Y)iaTE
FoLAZRAIEIZ N

There is evidence indicating
the asset is credit-impaired.

BEBEAEELRERERE -

There is evidence indicating
that debtor is severe
financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

BREBNEBABREVTE

EE - MAEERBAKTEE

WO BREFIA -
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(%)

(b) EEER (&
THEE
REENAEEERRSERTME
BREUTER

Trade receivables

B RRIR

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)

EHRHMERER
(WREERE)

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)

HRMERER
(WHREERE)

Lifetime ECL (credit-

impaired)
EHBEREEEE
(EERE)

Amount is written off

EHEEE

Other financial
assets

HittsmEE

12m ECL

REREHERERE

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)

THRBERERRE
(LREERE)

Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)

EHFEREEEE
(EERIE)

Amount is written off

e
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e RBHRMNGE

“2BIME+"/A=+—H
31 December 2024

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

2024
Financial assets
at amortised cost
Financial assets included
in deposits paid and other
receivables
Restricted bank deposit

Cash and cash equivalents

B hE
REENAGENEREE

SACHEEREMERFE  NA

HEWEE
RIRHIRITER

RERRESEN

External
credit rating

SAEBIREERAR

&R

Aa3 or above
Aa3 M E
Aa3 or above

Aa3FINE

37. BEREIEEERBER
(#8)

(b)

Internal credit
rating

RENEETR

Low risk

BB

Low risk
RS
Low risk

BB

[EEEMR (&)
SMEE (&)

12m Gross carrying
or lifetLime ECL amount
12 {AR= 2%
HiEEEE SIRE(E
RMB’000
ARETR
12m ECL 121,449
2 BRBHEER
12m ECL 11,326
2 BRBHEER
12m ECL 591,487
2 BRBHEER

“ETNFH BMSHERAR
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

37. EREIREEEIERBER
(#&)
(b) (EERE (&)
SREE (4)

External Internal credit 12m Gross carrying
credit rating rating or lifetLime ECL amount
12 [A Rk £HE
SMEREERER WRREETE  HIEEEE HERE(E
RMB’000
AR#TR
2023 B CF
Financial assets REERATENEMEE
at amortised cos
Financial assets included SIADNERS REMELGIE  NA Low risk 12m ECL 88,004
in deposits paid and other NEMEE REA 9ENA R ERRBEE
receivables E518
Restricted bank deposit ZIRFIRITER Aa3 or above Low risk 12m ECL 10,374
Aa3 FH L E B 12 EREHREE
E518
Time deposits with original ~ [REIHEBE=EFH Aa3 or above Low risk 12m ECL 2,651
maturity over three months ~ EHITFR Aa3 sl b 9ENA R ERRBEE
&8
Cash and cash equivalents  IR&ERIRESEY Aa3 or above Low risk 12m ECL 521,874
Aa3 bl 1B 12 ERRHREE
&8
Internal credit rating ANEMESETR

Description — Other financial assets

The management of the Group has assessed that no
debtors have a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Thus, no loss allowance was recognised
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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B RIBHRMIEE

TEME+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EFREIGEEBEREER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (%)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) imENEEREMR
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AEERBERAEEERSERET
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the BITEERESRRNER - 21T
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial EZEsHMTERESHEE (AW
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash FEWARRN ) WEIEAE REEEIRER
flows from operations. £ -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at AEEERMBERERSHARNEH
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual HARR ( EREITARMIREN) W
undiscounted payments, is as follows: e
31 December 2024 —“EmE+—B=+—H
Total
contractual Within 1
Carrying undiscounted  year or on
amount cash flow demand 1to2years 2to5years

BRRRSR 1EFR
fREE REREE  SEEK 1E2F 2E5F
RMB’000 RMB’'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AREFR AR®TR AR®TR ARWTR AR%TR

Accounts payable FERTBRA 42,330 42,330 42,330 - -
Financial liabilities AT AR MM FIR

included in other REETERN

payables and accruals THAE (F8F

(excluding VAT payable)  FEfJIEER ) 67,016 67,016 67,016 - -
Interest-bearing bank

borrowings FTRIRITER 567,670 576,492 576,492 - -
Lease liabilities HERE 7,221 7,660 4,939 2,225 496
Total #a5 684,237 693,498 690,777 2,225 496
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(c)

(d)

37. &EKRESERERBER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REVELREME (&)
31 December 2023 —E-=F+—-B=+—H
Total
contractual Within
undiscounted 1 year or
Carrying amount cash flow ondemandlto2years 2to5 years
BRIARRGER 1R
IREE ReTERE SUEEK 1225 2FEGEE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT ARBFrT ARSTT ARETT ARETR
Accounts payable FERTBRAR 34,381 34,381 34,381 - -
Financial liabilities FTAHMENFIE
included in other K IEETE AR
payables and accruals EHEE (FEE
(excluding VAT payable) FEFHIBETR ) 11,633 11,633 11,633 - -
Interest-bearing bank
borrowings FTRIRITER 303,500 307,686 307,686 - -
Lease liabilities HERE 12,277 13,331 9,200 2,643 1,488
Total a5t 361,791 367,031 362,900 2,643 1,488
Capital management (d) BAZE

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debts. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the Group’s capital risk is low. No change
was made to the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Capital management (continued)
The Group monitors capital using current ratio, which is
total current assets divided by total current liabilities, and
gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total
assets. The current ratios and gearing ratios at the end of
each of the reporting periods are as follows:

e MBHRNTE

BN+ _A=+—H
31 December 2024

37. EREIREEBERIEE
(%)

(d)

BXEHE (H)
REEBBERREER (LU
BEERERMURBAERE ) K&
AEEER (UABAREBERUABE
E) BERER - REWEPRM
R RERRELERTT ¢

2024 2023

- o 11 3 —BC=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARSI ARBEFT

Total current assets MEEERE 2,225,849 1,795,549
Total non-current assets EREEERE 102,189 178,181
Total current liabilities RENBERRE 912,885 563,893
Total non-current liabilities ERENEERER 3,358 4,861
Current ratio TRENLEER 2.44 3.18
Gearing ratio EAREBLEE 39% 29%
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e MBRRMET

“EBOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  38. AEIEHEIkRSE
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the KAB RIS AR AR R FZRE RN
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: I

2024 2023
—ECIE “BT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFR AR#FT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBASNRE 721,149 721,149
Total non-current asset JERENE ERER 721,149 721,149
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE
Cash and bank equivalents RERRTERBY 929 455
Due from subsidiaries [EWR B AT IR 345,174 347,732
Prepayments, other receivables FENRIE - HEWIA
and other assets NEMEE 190 190
Total current assets MEEERL 346,293 348,377
CURRENT LIABILITY mERE
Other payables and accruals HitENRIB R ESTE 7,610 8,042
Total current liability e EERER 7,610 8,042
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFR 338,683 340,335
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #@BEERABEE 1,059,832 1,061,484
Net assets BEFRR 1,059,832 1,061,484
EQUITY [
Issued capital ERITRA 1 1
Treasury shares EERD —* -
Other reserves (Note) HitnfE s (FIEE) 1,059,831 1,061,483
Total equity R 1,059,832 1,061,484
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * EEAZEZARE 1,000 7T °
The statement of financial position of the Company are signed RATFAERTEZRBFIALTKES
on its behalf by: =
Mr. Gao Dinan Mr. Yu Dingyi
EhB%E FT—%%
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FEMIBIRRMEE

“EOME+"A=+—H
31 December 2024

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. FRTIIBRIRE (BE)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: T

A summary to the Company’s reserve is as follows: KABIZREEBHEHSIMT

At 1 January 2023 R_E_=%—F—H 1,828,109 - 66,353 (20,629) (811,563) 1,062,270
Loss for the year FREE - (14,666)  (14,666)
Other comprehensive income  FREMEEKE :

for the year: -
Exchange differences ERER - - - 5,730 - 5,730
Total comprehensive loss FATHEEBEER

for the year - 5,730 (14,666) (8,936)
Vested restricted share units BETRENCHBZIRE

transferred to employee R B 18,070 - (18,070) - - -
Equity-settled share option DESEE N EREL

arrangements - - 8,149 - - 8,149
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=%+_A=+—H 1,846,179 - 56,432 (14,899) (826,229) 1,061,483
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e RIBHRME

“E2NE+ZB=+—H
31 December 2024

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: (continued)

Share Capital
premium reserve

38. BRERFEIRRE (4 )
GESNE D

Employee

share-based Exchange
compensation  fluctuation ~ Accumulated

reserve reserve losses Total

WRIRERS  SMERE

B iEE BXGE  REFHRE ] 5] 5] ezt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARETRT AR®TRT ARETR ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(Pt 29) (P&t 30)
At 1 January 2024 RZE_MFE—-A-A 1,846,179 - 56,432 (14,899) (826,229) 1,061,483
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (6,689) (6,689)
Other comprehensive income  FAEMEEWE
for the year:
Exchange differences ERER - - - 5,037 - 5,037
Total comprehensive loss FRZEBBARE
for the year - - - 5,037 (6,688) (1,652)
Vested restricted share units ~ EEFEENEHEBZIRA
transferred to employee B EM 5,559 - (5,559) - - -
At 31 December 2024 RZB_NF+_A=+—H 1,851,738 - 50,873 (9,862) (832,917) 1,059,831

Employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of RSUs granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated loss should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

39. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform
with the current year’s presentation.
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40. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(@) On 26 January 2025, Huanju Times, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company and Hainan Kunchuang
Technology Co., Ltd. (the “JV Company”) entered into a
capital injection agreement with Lingshui Digital Culture
Industry Cloud Technology Development Co., Ltd. (the “JV
Partner”) in respect of the capital injection into the JV
Company. Pursuant to the capital injection agreement, the
JV Partner agrees to subscribe for 49% equity interest in the
JV Company by way of capital injection of RMB49,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$52,920,000) in cash. The
Capital Injection was completed on 12 February 2025. For
details of the Capital Injection, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 26 January 2025.

(b) On 7 February 2025, the general partners and the limited
partners entered into the limited partnership agreement in
respect of the establishment of an investment fund in the
form of Chongging Jiangbei Rongka Private Equity
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (the
“Limited Partnership”) in Jiangbei District, Chongqing city,
the PRC. Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement,
Huanju Times, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
as one of the limited partners, agreed to subscribe for limited
partnership interest in the Limited Partnership for a capital
commitment  of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent  to
approximately HK$54,000,000). The establishment of the
Limited Partnership is expected to be completed in April
2025. For details of the establishment of the Limited
Partnership, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 7 February 2025.

(c) On 24 February 2025, the Company, as the issuer, entered
into the placing agreement with Guoyuan Securities
Brokerage (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Placing Agent’),
pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed
to place a maximum of 300,000,000 placing shares at the
Placing Price of HK$0.177 on a best efforts basis and will
receive a placing commission of 0.5% of the aggregate
placing price of the placing shares being placed. The placing
was completed on 20 March 2025 and 244,600,000 placing
shares, representing approximately 13.82% of the issued
share capital (as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the
placing shares) of the Company, have been allotted and
issued by the Company to the placees at the placing price of
HK$0.177 per placing share. For the details of the placing,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 24
February 2025 and 20 March 2025.

e RMIRRMEE

EME+"RA=+—H
31 December 2024

40. HRfEERIR
(@ RZBZAE—BZ+AXA - AAF

2EMBRAIRBRANSHEAR
RBRRSE ( "TEERT, ) - ER
KEF X EEXENREREBRAT
(TEEBH, )MEEEQTEER
FIEEWE - RBIERE o8
EHRBEUREIEAREE
49,000,000 75 ( HER# 52,920,000
;&FU ) Aty %GE/A\T 49%]32*& }:z
ERZEZRAF"RA+THEM A
BIBNFIE  F2EAATEER
“ECAF-RAZHAHENAE -

by R“_BE_hFE_BtH EBS®A

BERGBARRPEEETLLE
BURERETEE TR S KE
REEEZSRBEX (BREH)
( "ERE®. )IJUBERGEH
& REBEERGBHSE  BEREA
(BALINEZEMBLATIERESD
—BREREBA) BEMUARRE
50,000,000 7t ( #HE KA 54,000,000
BT ) WNEREEREBRGERFE
MAREGR#EZ - BERSBHAMILTRE
SRR AFNRBRM - BRA
IREBHRUNFE  BFELRAATAH
PR_2_RF_HtHANASE -

R_EBE_NFE"_A_+MH - ARF
ERBETANEBRTESRL (FE)
BRAS ( "ERERE, )FTURE
i Bt BEREBEBREREN
ENEERREE017TETRERS
300,000,000 A& ECER A - i UTENED
ERHBESE 0.5%NEERS - i
EER_BE_AFE=-A_+H=M

KRB CEBRECER 0.177 ETH
o EEm &R ARSBNBT
244,600,000 RECER D - A ATE
BORA (RERRBTRERDE
K ) £ 13.82% - B EMFES
FEERANTIHBE_E_hE_RH
_+tHUHER_E_AF=B_+HH

==
N -

41. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 41, G S HTEHRR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and RCE_AF=R_+/\H  EFEC
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025. N R T B AR S M TSR
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Definitions

53

“AGMH

TRERBFEAE .
“Articles of Association”

TAEERAA
“associate(s)”

TBEAL

“Audit Committee”
TEREEE.

“Auditor”
" ¥ S

“Beijing JinChi”
MEREiM

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”
NEEg,

“CG Code”
Fe&%ERTH .
“ChiLe Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”

TS HBEERS

“China” or “PRC”

"o
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the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held by the Company for the
purpose of, inter alia, approving the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024, re-election of Directors, and re-
appointment of auditors

ARERBTNEERRBEAS - £ (E4EE ) EARXATEE_E "N
F+_A=1T—HIFEZHREMBERE ESEELRZHMER

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted by way of special
resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 2 June
2022

KRR ZB__FAAAETHRFEBEAE LEBHRAAZENTER
PRER MR RT S E 2 AR Al

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BA EHRAR T ZANES

the audit committee of the Company
KPTEREEE

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company
KA P ELES S HEAARAT

Beijing Jinchi Guangxin Technology Co., Ltd. (ItR&MEERFERHERAT), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 13 May
2009, which holds 49% of the equity interests in Shanghai ChilLe
EREMEERERNERAT  —XRBENEFLRT=—ARBEPEIEREE
MARUINBRAT - FHH LEMEE 49%KE

the board of directors of our Company

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

LERRIMTER C1 PREIMERE AR
Shanghai ChiLe and its subsidiaries
Lt R ENEAT

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires and only
for the purpose of this annual report, references in this annual report to the PRC
or China do not include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau

pEARHNE  RXESBERERERAERNS - AERAPTIEAPEIT A
aEaE  EEREM



“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”

TARE

“connected person(s)”

TREAL.

“connected transaction(s)”
THERS .
“Consolidated

Affiliated Entities”
TEHBEER.

“Contractual Arrangements”

TEREHE,

“Controlling Shareholders”

TERRARER
“Director(s)”
&%,

“Group”, “our Group”
“the Group”, “w
“us”’ or “our”

TAREE . 3 "H#M,

*  For identification purposes only

Definitions

=R

Wanka Online Inc. (BEMZ#BRAS*), an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 7 November 2014
and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code:1762)

Wanka Online Inc. (BMEHARAT) - — R _E—NF+—BtHREHRS
HEZEIAMAUNEREARAS - HRONRB R ER Em(BRHR5R
1762)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BA FhAR A T E

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB FHRAIMR FZaniEE

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely Shanghai
ChiLe and Huanju Times, and their respective subsidiaries
HMBRENZHEHNER - A DS ERBBRL - REZBEWEAT

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others. Shanghai
ChiLe and Huanju Times, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities and its shareholders,
details of which are described in the section headed “Report of the Directors —
Connected Transactions — Contractual Arrangements”
HREDERE) DSt RBRRCEHMANGHBBEEIERR) T UN -2 5
WL BEFHBEHIR "ESERE - BERS - BHRH ) —

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BA EHRAR FZaaRE

the director(s) of our Company

EN/NSIESES

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the financial
results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as a subsidiary of our
Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements) from time to time

£xpE EARZMB AT RGHEBEREVBEECRENLHES AIRY
ERATMBAT)

* EHER
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Definitions
“HKFRS”
T EBIISIRE A ,

“Hong Kong”
&,

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”
TETT .

“Huanju Times”
TERISH .

“Listing Date”
TEHBA,

“Listing Rules”
T EmRA

“Main Board”

TEM

“MHA”
T REARH R L

“Model Code”
MREFA

“Mr. Gao”
=p
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Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BEVBRSER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEFBERITTHER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BBEERE

Huanju Times Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BB UEBEJLR)ERA
g]), a company established in the PRC on 7 March 2014, owned by Mr. Gao and
Mr. Zheng as to 72% and 28% of its share capital, respectively
BEFAXEERAER)ABRAT - —RRZIE-NF =B tHEPERINA
g BEERBEEDRIEEE 72%K 28%K A

21 December 2018, being the date on which the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange
"B \F+"A"+—H  EIRORERAT_ EmrHEE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)
HEEMORZMARAT (F5 LHRAD) (EAKIER)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with GEM of the
Stock Exchange

B PPEENR SRS (A BEPEDS) - BURBRM GEM B HE W ITEF

Mobile Hardcore Alliance, a network of eight Android smartphone manufacturers
in China, namely Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Coolpad, Lenovo, Meizu, nubia and
HONOR

BEEE RPBEN\XZSEEFHRRSHHE - BIZER - OPPO - vivo ~ B
K BI8 - BEIR - SSLEE R IR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
LiRRIRTER C3 FREl ( LMBITAEFETRSRSNZESTR)

Mr. GAO Dinan (53 5), our chairman of the Board and an executive Director

BERBELLE  HMANEFSTEIERATES



“Nomination Committee”

"RBEEE,
“Prospectus”
THERERE
“Quick App(s)”
THRIER L
“Remuneration Committee”
THMESE .

“Reporting Period”

TSR
“RMB”
TARE .,
“RSU(S)”
" 2 PRI AR 3 I
“SFO”
RABEEH

“Shanghai ChiLe”

T Lt

“Share(s)”

" B3

Definitions

EE

the nomination committee of the Company

AR RBEEE

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018 relating to its initial
public offering
AASIHBA "2 \E+ B+ —HEREER ARBENTERER

mobile apps that allow instant usage without having to visit any app store or
download anything, and are easier to develop than traditional mobile apps
RS ERNBEERARR  EFTBEURAEES M EETEAAE - BELE
RBENERREFESNRR

the remuneration committee of the Company
rpREHMEES

the year ended 31 December 2024
HEE _NE+_A=1+—HItFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
ARE - fhEEEE

restricted share units granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
RIE T —NEROVABNET 2R A0SR AR 17 BB

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BBEAESTLE (E5RBMERA) EAKER] - BRIUEMSER)

Shanghai Chile Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L84 EBRIFARAE), a
company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited liability on 18 June
2014, the share capital of which is owned by Mr. Gao and Beijing JinChi as to
51.0% and 49.0% respectively

PEHESEEREARRAET - —KRZB—NFEARB+/\BRBEPEDEZEMA
UMBRAS - BESERIEREMDAIHESH 51.0%K 49.0%K 7

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0000002 each
RATIRAPEREE 0.0000002 ETHEER

“E2TNFR BmMSEERaE 219



Definitions
“Shareholder(s)”
MR%ER .

“Stock Exchange”
"B 3ZFR 4

“subsidiary(ies)”

MRS,

“substantial shareholder”

FEZERR

“United States,” “U.S.” or “US”
M,

“US$”
M&7T,

“Wanka Hong Kong”
TITIM&EE .

“Wanka Huanju” or “WFOE”
TIUMERR S INERERE
“%”

"% 4

%2016 Share Incentive Scheme”

T 2—RERDBEEE .

f&
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holder(s) of Share(s)
anEST=PN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMORSMBRAT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BA R T ZEr0HE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB R AR T 2R E

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction
ENEERE - HEL - B RZEHSAEENFAETE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
=70 EREEE

Wanka Holdings Limited (InlliZRRAEBR/AE]), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 6 June 2014, and our directly wholly—owned
subsidiary

MERBRAS - —RR_E—NFAAANBEEEZMHUNBRAT -
AEMBNEEZENBAS

Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (FxIMEE LB R ALR)E
FR‘AE]), a company established in the PRC on 10 October 2014, and our
wholly-owned subsidiary

IMERBSEBEEAGER)ARAE  —ZR_E—NFE+A+THEPBERINL
g BRMANEENBAE

per centum

B

the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 6 January 2016
which was amended, restated and replaced in its entirety by a restricted share
unit scheme on 24 May 2018, the principal terms of which are set out in the
section headed “Report of the Directors — 2016 Share Incentive Scheme”

AREBR_B-—AFE—ANBRANKRODABE RZEB-)\FAR_+
MEMNZREKR O EUAEETEIER] - BARER  BEF2HEREN "=

FEHE - 2 AEROABEE, —6



Definitions

=R

“2019 Share Incentive Scheme” the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019, the
principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of the Directors

- 2019 Share Incentive Scheme”

TZE-NFiiHEEE B ARIARIE-NENRITABERMNRDEABE S HXBRRER TES
SHE - _E-NERDBBEEE L —&

* for identification purposes only

The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, and
the PRC governmental authorities referred to in this annual report are
translations from their Chinese names and are for identification
purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall
prevail.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual
report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them and figures rounded to the
nearest thousand, million or billion may not be identical to figures that
have been rounded differently to them.

o EHER

KEHPTEFEEZLE  FEAEL AR
PEE TR FE S FEE P XS
LURGEFY - WEUEEE - B P EEARE -

KEHTEETEZEREDICEHFEHZ -

VTl = e = ok S VA YN =Mt
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